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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, DC 20549
 

FORM 10-Q
 

(Mark One)

☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, March 31, 2023 2024

OR

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from _________________ to _________________

Commission File Number: 001-41767

 

Allurion Technologies, Inc.
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

 

 

Delaware 92-2182207

(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer


Identification No.)

11 Huron Drive

Natick, MA 01760

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (508) 647-4000

 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

 

Title of each class  

Trading

Symbol(s)   Name of each exchange on which registered
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Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share   ALUR   The New York Stock Exchange

Warrants each exercisable for to purchase


1.420455 shares of Common Stock for $8.10 per share

  ALUR WS   The New York Stock Exchange

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been 

subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ☒ No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to 

Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to 

submit such files). Yes ☒ No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting 

company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and 

“emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

 

Large accelerated filer ☐ Accelerated filer ☐

Non-accelerated filer ☒ Smaller reporting company ☒

        Emerging growth company   ☒

 

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying 

with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☐ No ☒

As of November 14, 2023 May 10, 2024, the registrant had 47,507,691 47,947,952 shares of common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 

outstanding.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

 

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities 

Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and these statements involve 

substantial risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of historical fact contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 

10-Q are forward-looking statements. amended. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements 

regarding the plans, strategies and prospects, both business and financial, of Allurion Technologies, Inc. (“Allurion”, the "Company", 

"we", "our", or "us"). These statements are based on the beliefs and assumptions of the management of Allurion. Although Allurion 

believes that its plans, intentions and expectations reflected in or suggested by these forward-looking statements are reasonable, 

Allurion cannot assure you that it will achieve or realize these plans, intentions or expectations. Forward-looking statements are 

inherently subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Generally, statements that are not historical facts, including statements 

concerning possible or assumed future actions, business strategies, events, or results of operations, are forward-looking statements. 

These statements may be preceded by, followed by or include the words “believes”, “estimates”, “expects”, “projects”, “target”, “goal”, 
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“forecasts”, “may”, “will”, “potential”, “should”, “would”, “could”, “future”, “seeks”, “plans”, “predicts”, “propose”, “scheduled”, 

“anticipates”, “intends”, or similar expressions.

Forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include, but are not limited to, statements about the 

ability of Allurion to:

• realize the benefits expected from the business combination (the “Business Combination”) between Allurion and Compute 
Health Acquisition Corp. (“Compute Health”) pursuant to that certain Business Combination Agreement, dated as of Februa
9, 2023 (as amended, the “Business Combination Agreement”), by and among Allurion, Allurion Technologies, LLC, which w
previously known as Allurion Technologies Opco, Inc. (formerly Allurion Technologies, Inc.) prior to the consummation of th
Business Combination (“Legacy Allurion”), Compute Health, Compute Health Corp., (“Merger Sub I”) and Compute Health 
(“Merger Sub II” and, together with Merger Sub I, the “Merger Subs”),;

• successfully defend litigation that may be instituted against Compute Health, Legacy Allurion or Allurion in connection with 
Business Combination; Allurion;

• manage various conflicts of interest that could arise among us or our affiliates, investors, directors, and officers;

• successfully deploy the anticipated our cash and cash equivalents and proceeds from the Business Combination, the Reve
Interest Financing (as defined here) and the Chardan Equity Facility (as defined herein);

• maintain the listing of Allurion securities on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), and the potential liquidity and trading o
such securities;

• achieve the benefits of the collaboration with Medtronic plc;

• acquire sufficient sources of funding if and when needed;

• attract and retain key employees, officers, and directors;

• implement and achieve business plans, forecasts, and other expectations, including any financial projections provided to P
Investors (as defined herein) in connection with the Business Combination, and identify and realize additional opportunities

• manage risks associated with the management of Allurion having limited experience operating as a public company;

• commercialize current and future products and services and create sufficient demand among health care providers and 
patients for such products;

• successfully complete current and future preclinical studies and clinical trials of the swallowable, procedure-less intragastric
balloon for weight loss developed by Allurion ( the “Allurion Balloon”) and any other future product candidates;

• obtain market acceptance of the Allurion Balloon as safe and effective;

• cost-effectively sell existing and future products through existing distribution arrangements with distributors and/or successf
adopt a direct sales force as part of a hybrid sales model that includes both distributors and a direct sales effort;

• timely collect accounts receivable from our customers;

• obtain regulatory approval or clearance in the U.S. and certain non-U.S. jurisdictions for current and future products and 
maintain previously obtained approvals and/or clearances in those jurisdictions where products and services are currently 
offered;

ii
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• accurately forecast customer demand and manufacture sufficient quantities of products that patients and health care provid
request;

• successfully compete in the highly competitive and rapidly changing regulated industries in which Allurion operates, and 
effectively address changes in such industries, including changes in competitors’ products and services and changes in the
laws and regulations that affect Allurion;

• successfully manage any future international expansion of Allurion’s business and navigate business, regulatory, political, 
operational, financial, and economic risks associated with doing business internationally;

• successfully manage any future growth in Allurion’s business;

• contract with third-party suppliers and providers and monitor their ability to perform adequately under those arrangements;

• comply with applicable legal and regulatory obligations;

• obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for Allurion’s products and technologies and acquire or license (on 
commercially reasonable terms) intellectual property from third parties;

• sell products, and use proprietary technologies, without infringing, misappropriating, or otherwise violating the proprietary ri
or intellectual property of third parties;

• manage the impact of any significant acquisitions, dispositions, and other similar or material transactions;

• implement and maintain effective internal controls;

• manage the effects of natural disasters, terrorist attacks, the spread and/or abatement of infectious diseases such as COV
19, and the occurrence of other events beyond our reasonable control, including with respect to potential operational 
disruptions, labor disruptions, increased costs, and impacts to demand related thereto, on the ability to implement business
plans, forecasts, and other expectations after the completion of the Business Combination and the transactions contemplat
thereby; expectations; and

• other factors detailed under the section entitled “Risk Factors.”

We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q primarily on our current 

expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect Allurion’s business, financial condition, 

results of operations, prospects, business strategy, and financial needs. The outcome of the events described in these forward-

looking statements is subject to risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors described in the section entitled “Risk Factors” 

beginning on page 50 and elsewhere in this Quarterly within our Annual Report on Form 10-Q. 10-K filed with the SEC on March 26, 

2024, as amended. These risks are not exhaustive. Other sections of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include additional factors 

that could adversely impact our business and financial performance. Moreover, Allurion operates in very competitive and rapidly 

changing environments. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and 

uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We 

cannot assure you that the results, events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur, 

and actual results, events or circumstances could differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements.

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These 

statements are based upon information available to us as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and while we believe 

such information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and such statements 

should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant 

information. These statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements. We 

undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or 

otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws.
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iii

PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

ALLURION TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(dollars in thousands)

 

  

Septe

mber 

30,


2023    

Dece

mber 

31,


2022    

March 31,


2024    

December 31,


2023  

Assets                        

Current assets:                        

Cash and cash equivalents

  $

79,

86

6     $

7,6

85     $ 29,682     $ 38,037  

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of doubtful accounts of $5,694 and


   $741, respectively

   

27,

64

4      

29,

34

6  

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of doubtful accounts of $12,671 and


   $12,671, respectively     16,159       18,194  

Inventory, net

   

4,0

19      

3,8

65       5,631       6,171  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

   

2,2

88      

2,4

87       2,167       2,414  

Total current assets

   

11

3,8

17      

43,

38

3       53,639       64,816  

Property and equipment, net

   

3,3

00      

2,3

82       3,180       3,381  

Right-of-use asset

   

3,2

17      

2,8

99       2,659       3,010  
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Other long-term assets

   

35

4      

2,7

06       510       505  

Total assets

  $

12

0,6

88     $

51,

37

0     $ 59,988     $ 71,712  

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Deficit                        

Current liabilities:                        

Accounts payable

  $

9,3

62     $

5,8

09     $ 11,944     $ 10,379  

Current portion of term loan

   

57,

67

7      

53,

36

0       38,957       38,643  

Current portion of lease liabilities

   

87

3      

90

5       814       908  

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

   

19,

31

6      

15,

79

3       14,506       15,495  

Total current liabilities

   

87,

22

8      

75,

86

7       66,221       65,425  

Convertible notes payable, net of discounts

    —      

3,1

03  

Public warrant liabilities

   

12,

01

8       —       3,329       5,943  

Revenue Interest Financing liability

   

36,

60

0       —       35,000       36,200  

Earn-out liabilities

   

28,

71

0       —       9,800       23,990  

Lease liabilities, net of current portion

   

2,5

14      

2,1

63       2,011       2,306  

Other liabilities

   

6,3

74      

2,5

51       9,789       8,335  

Total liabilities

   

17

3,4

44      

83,

68

4       126,150       142,199  

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 16)                        
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Legacy convertible preferred stock (Note 12)     —       —  

Stockholders’ deficit:                        

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value — 100,000,000 shares authorized as of 

September 30, 2023; and no shares issued and outstanding as of 

September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022     —       —  

Common stock, $0.0001 par value — 1,000,000,000 shares authorized as of 

September 30, 2023; and 47,460,941 and 27,079,856 shares issued and 

outstanding as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively     5       3  

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value — 100,000,000 shares authorized as of 

March 31, 2024; and no shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 

2024 and December 31, 2023     —       —  

Common stock, $0.0001 par value — 1,000,000,000 shares authorized as of 

March 31, 2024; and 47,898,737 and 47,688,096 shares issued and 

outstanding as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively     5       5  

Additional paid-in capital

   

14

0,8

58      

99,

87

5       143,946       143,007  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss     (2,900 )     (700 )

Accumulated deficit

   

(19

3,6

19 )    

(1

32,

19

2 )     (207,213 )     (212,799 )

Total stockholders’ deficit

   

(52

,75

6 )    

(3

2,3

14 )     (66,162 )     (70,487 )

Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit

  $

12

0,6

88     $

51,

37

0     $ 59,988     $ 71,712  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

1

ALLURION TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

  Three Months Ended March 31,  
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  2024     2023  

Revenue   $ 9,386     $ 14,071  

Cost of revenue     2,520       2,940  

Gross profit     6,866       11,131  

Operating expenses:            

Sales and marketing     6,145       11,864  

Research and development     5,725       7,852  

General and administrative     6,386       5,306  

Total operating expenses:     18,256       25,022  

Loss from operations     (11,390 )     (13,891 )

Other (expense) income:            

Interest expense     (1,931 )     (2,237 )

Changes in fair value of warrants     3,131       (1,475 )

Changes in fair value of Revenue Interest Financing and PIPE Conversion Option     1,490       —  

Changes in fair value of earn-out liabilities     14,190       —  

Other income (expense), net     172       (164 )

Total other income (expense):     17,052       (3,876 )

Income (loss) before income taxes     5,662       (17,767 )

Provision for income taxes     (76 )     (34 )

Net income (loss)     5,586       (17,801 )

Cumulative undeclared preferred dividends     —       (717 )

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders   $ 5,586     $ (18,518 )

Net income (loss) per share            

Basic   $ 0.12     $ (0.68 )

Diluted   $ 0.11     $ (0.68 )

Weighted-average shares outstanding            

Basic     47,779,350       27,087,174  

Diluted     49,190,474       27,087,174  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

1

2

ALLURION TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
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UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS INCOME (LOSS)

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

 

 

Three Months Ended September 

30,    

Nine Months Ended September 

30,  

  2023     2022     2023     2022  

Revenue   $ 18,200     $ 16,064     $ 45,232     $ 45,027  

Cost of revenue     4,232       3,474       10,165       9,545  

Gross profit     13,968       12,590       35,067       35,482  

Operating expenses:                        

Sales and marketing     13,989       15,686       36,127       35,464  

Research and development     7,191       5,069       21,623       11,234  

General and administrative     18,942       3,820       30,657       10,646  

Total operating expenses:     40,122       24,575       88,407       57,344  

Loss from operations     (26,154 )     (11,985 )     (53,340 )     (21,862 )

Other (expense) income:                        

Interest expense, net     (2,586 )     (1,139 )     (7,331 )     (2,666 )

Changes in fair value of warrants     3,868       67       2,189       101  

Changes in fair value of debt     (6,008 )     —       (3,751 )     —  

Changes in fair value of Revenue Interest Financing and PIPE 

Conversion Option     (2,040 )     —       (2,040 )     —  

Changes in fair value of earn-out liabilities     24,330       —       24,330       —  

Termination of convertible note side letters     (9,466 )     —       (17,598 )     —  

Loss on extinguishment of debt     (3,929 )     —       (3,929 )     —  

Other (expense) income, net     389       (420 )     133       (874 )

Total other (expense) income:     4,558       (1,492 )     (7,997 )     (3,439 )

Loss before income taxes     (21,596 )     (13,477 )     (61,337 )     (25,301 )

Provision for income taxes     (34 )     (95 )     (90 )     (95 )

Net loss and comprehensive loss     (21,630 )     (13,572 )     (61,427 )     (25,396 )

Cumulative undeclared preferred dividends     (255 )     (733 )     (1,697 )     (2,175 )

Net loss attributable to common shareholders   $ (21,885 )   $ (14,305 )   $ (63,124 )   $ (27,571 )

Net loss per share                        

Basic and diluted   $ (0.54 )   $ (0.53 )   $ (2.00 )   $ (1.03 )

Weighted-average shares outstanding     40,335,457       26,930,318       31,558,538       26,888,896  

Basic and diluted                        

  Three Months Ended March 31,  

  2024     2023  
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Net Income (loss)   $ 5,586     $ (17,801 )

Other comprehensive loss:            

Change in fair value of Revenue Interest Financing due to change in credit risk     (2,200 )     —  

Comprehensive Income (loss)   $ 3,386     $ (17,801 )

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2 3

ALLURION TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND 

STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

(dollars in thousands)

3

     

                Stockholders’ Deficit  

 

Redeemable Convertible


Preferred Stock      

Convertible


Preferred Stock     Common Sock    

Additional


Paid-     Accumulated     Stockholders’  

  Shares     Amount       Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     in Capital     Deficit     Deficit  

Balance as of


   January 1, 2022     7,927,446     $ 39,122         11,977,580     $ 57,973       7,383,096     $ 51     $ 2,139     $ (94,448 )   $ (34,285 )

Retroactive application of 

recapitalization (Note 1)     (7,927,446 )     (39,122 )       (11,977,580 )     (57,973 )     19,424,269       (48 )     97,143       —       39,122  

Adjusted balance, 

beginning of period     —       —         —       —       26,807,365       3       99,282       (94,448 )     4,837  

Exercise of stock


   options                               65,062             63             63  

Stock-based


   compensation


   expense                                           73             73  

Net loss                                                 (6,419 )     (6,419 )

Balance as of


   March 31, 2022     —       —         —       —       26,872,427       3       99,418       (100,867 )     (1,446 )
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Exercise of stock


   options

                              53,524             56             56  

Stock-based


   compensation


   expense                                           89             89  

Net loss                                                 (5,405 )     (5,405 )

Balance as of


   June 30, 2022     —       —         —       —       26,925,951       3       99,563       (106,272 )     (6,706 )

Exercise of stock


   options                               9,981           9             9  

Issuance of Legacy 

Allurion convertible 

preferred stock for the 

exercise of warrants                               1,519             3           3  

Stock-based


   compensation


   expense                                           93           93  

Net loss                                                 (13,572 )     (13,572 )

Balance as of


    September 30, 2022     —       —         —       —       26,937,451       3       99,668       (119,844 )     (20,173 )

                                                         

Balance as of


   January 1, 2023     —       —         —       —       27,079,856       3       99,875       (132,192 )     (32,314 )

Exercise of stock


   options                               15,376           20             20  

Issuance of Legacy 

Allurion convertible 

preferred stock for the 

exercise of warrants                               3,554             29             29  

Stock-based


   compensation


   expense                                         409             409  

Net loss                                                 (17,801 )     (17,801 )

Balance as of


   March 31, 2023     —       —         —       —       27,098,786       3       100,333       (149,993 )     (49,657 )

Exercise of stock


   options                               27,626           28             28  
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Issuance of Legacy 

Allurion convertible 

preferred stock for the 

exercise of warrants

                            492           6             6  

Stock-based


   compensation


   expense                                         401             401  

Net loss                                                 (21,996 )     (21,996 )

Balance as of


   June 30, 2023     —       —         —       —       27,126,904       3       100,768       (171,989 )     (71,218 )

Exercise of stock options                               77,214       —       83             83  

Issuance of Legacy 

Allurion convertible 

preferred stock for the 

exercise of warrants                               4,976       —       60             60  

Reverse recapitalization, 

net of transaction costs 

(Note 3)                               13,735,872       1       58,572             58,573  

Recognition of warrant 

liabilities in connection 

with the Merger (Note 3)                                           (13,762 )           (13,762 )

Issuance of common 

stock in connection with 

vesting of RSU awards                               906,551       —                   —  

Issuance of common 

stock for the conversion 

of convertible notes                               3,301,222       1       25,569             25,570  

4

     

                Stockholders’ Deficit  

 

Redeemable Convertible


Preferred Stock      

Convertible


Preferred Stock     Common Sock    

Additional


Paid-     Accumulated     Stockholders’  

  Shares     Amount       Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     in Capital     Deficit     Deficit  

Recognition of earn-out 

liabilities (Note 3)                                           (53,040 )           (53,040 )
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Reclassification of 

Legacy Allurion liability 

classified warrants to 

equity classification

                                          929             929  

Derecognition of liabilities 

associated with the 

Backstop Shares, Hunter 

shares, and the 

additional RTW and 

Fortress shares and 

issuance of related 

shares                               2,287,696       —       16,098             16,098  

Issuance of common 

stock for the exercise of 

warrants                               20,506       —       42             42  

Stock-based 

compensation expense                                           5,539             5,539  

Net loss                                                 (21,630 )     (21,630 )

Balance as of


   September 30, 2023     —     $ —         —     $ —       47,460,941     $ 5     $ 140,858     $ (193,619 )   $ (52,756 )

                                   

                                   

  Common Stock    

Additional 

Paid-    

Accumulate

d Other     Accumulated     Stockholders’  

  Shares     Amount     in Capital    

Comprehens

ive Loss     Deficit     Deficit  

Balance as of January 1, 2023     27,079,856       3       99,875       —       (132,192 )     (32,314 )

Exercise of stock options     15,376       —     20       —       —       20  

Issuance of Legacy Allurion convertible 

preferred stock for the exercise of warrants     3,554       —       29       —       —       29  

Stock-based compensation expense     —       —     409       —       —       409  

Net loss     —       —       —       —       (17,801 )     (17,801 )

Balance as of March 31, 2023     27,098,786       3       100,333       —       (149,993 )     (49,657 )

                                     

Balance as of January 1, 2024     47,688,096       5       143,007       (700 )     (212,799 )     (70,487 )

Exercise of stock options     4,646       —     9       —       —       9  

Issuance of common stock for the exercise 

of Public Warrants     142       —       —       —       —       —  
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Issuance of common stock from equity line 

financing (Note 12)

    143,234       —       378       —       —       378  

Issuance of common stock in connection 

with vesting of RSU awards     62,619       —       —       —       —       —  

Stock-based compensation expense     —       —       552       —       —       552  

Other comprehensive loss     —       —       —       (2,200 )     —       (2,200 )

Net income     —       —       —       —       5,586       5,586  

Balance as of March 31, 2024     47,898,737       5       143,946       (2,900 )     (207,213 )     (66,162 )

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

5 4

ALLURION TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(dollars in thousands)

 

 

Nine Months Ended 

September 30,     Three Months Ended March 31,  

  2023     2022     2024     2023  

Operating Activities:                    

Net loss   $ (61,427 )   $ (25,396 )

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating 

activities:          

Net income (loss)   $ 5,586     $ (17,801 )

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in 

operating activities:          

Non-cash lease expense     618     487       199     209  

Depreciation and amortization     558     652       367     245  

Stock-based compensation     6,349     255       552     409  

Provision for uncollectible accounts     4,953       —       —       999  

Unrealized exchange loss     253     389  

Unrealized exchange (gain) or loss     314       (88 )

Provision for inventory     743       —       209       —  
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Change in fair value of warrant liabilities     (2,189 )     (101 )     (3,131 )     1,475  

Change in fair value of derivative liability     (165 )   14  

Change in fair value of debt     3,751       —  

Change in fair value of derivative liabilities     62     29  

Change in fair value of Revenue Interest Financing and PIPE 

Conversion Option     2,040       —       (1,490 )     —  

Change in fair value of earn-out liabilities     (24,330 )     —       (14,190 )     —  

Non-cash interest expense     1,117     589       315     317  

Non-cash termination of convertible note side letters     16,098       —  

Loss on extinguishment of debt     3,929       —  

Debt issuance costs associated with debt recorded at fair value     1,210       —  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                    

Accounts receivable     (3,883 )     (13,822 )     1,673       (427 )

Inventory     (899 )     (1,596 )     330       (449 )

Prepaid expenses, other current and long-term assets     409       (774 )     244       36  

Operating lease liabilities     (617 )     (691 )

Lease liabilities     (238 )     (175 )

Accounts payable     3,492       3,055       1,551       5,354  

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     4,879       5,684       (989 )     (451 )

Net cash used in operating activities   $ (43,111 )   $ (31,255 )   $ (8,636 )   $ (10,318 )

Investing Activities:                    

Purchases of property and equipment     (1,208 )     (1,091 )     (104 )     (277 )

Net cash used in investing activities   $ (1,208 )   $ (1,091 )   $ (104 )   $ (277 )

Financing Activities:                    

Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes - net     28,700       1,103       —       13,600  

Proceeds from Fortress Term Loan - net     59,780       14,925  

Payment of debt issuance costs     (3,450 )     (263 )

Proceeds from Business Combination, net of transaction costs     62,078       —  

Proceeds from Revenue Interest Financing     40,000       —  

Repayment of 2021 Term Loan     (57,659 )     —  

Repayment of promissory note assumed in Business 

Combination     (2,500 )     —  

Proceeds from option and warrant exercises     195       132       9       32  

Repayment of convertible notes     (10,750 )     —  

Proceeds from equity line financing     378       —  

Payment of deferred financing costs     —       (766 )

Net cash provided by financing activities

  $

116,39

4     $ 15,897     $ 387     $ 12,866  
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Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and 

restricted cash   $ 72,075     $ (16,449 )   $ (8,353 )   $ 2,271  

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of 

period     8,023       26,018       38,421       8,023  

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period   $ 80,098     $ 9,569     $ 30,068     $ 10,294  

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information                    

Cash paid for interest   $ 5,022     $ 2,077     $ 1,831     $ 1,920  

Supplemental cash flow information on non-cash investing 

and financing activities                    

Purchase of property and equipment included in accounts 

payable   $ 270     $ 43     $ 73     $ 174  

Deferred financing costs in accounts payable and accrued 

expenses     1,006       —       —       2,634  

Recognition of assumed warrant liability     13,762       —  

Recognition of earn-out liabilities     53,040       —  

Issuance of common stock upon conversion of convertible notes     25,569       —  

Issuance of warrants in connection with financing     —       438  

Change in fair value of Revenue Interest Financing through OCI     (2,200 )     —  

 

6

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

7 5

ALLURION TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

A reconciliation of the amounts of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash in the consolidated balance sheets to the 

amount in the consolidated statements of cash flows is as follows (in thousands):

 

 

September 

30,


2023    

December 

31,


2022    

March 31,


2024    

December 31,


2023  

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 79,866     $ 7,685     $ 29,682     $ 38,037  

Restricted cash included in other long-term assets     232       338       386       384  
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Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the 

statement of cash flows   $ 80,098     $ 8,023     $ 30,068     $ 38,421  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

8 6

1. Organization and Description Basis of Business Presentation

Organization

Allurion Technologies, Inc. (“Allurion” or the “Company”) is a vertically integrated medical device company that is developing, 

manufacturing, and commercializing innovative weight loss experiences centered around its Allurion™ Gastric Balloon. The Allurion 

Gastric Balloon is the world’s first and only swallowable, procedure-less intragastric balloon for weight loss that does not require 

surgery, endoscopy, or anesthesia for placement or removal. placement. Allurion sells the Allurion Gastric Balloon and related 

hardware accessories connected scale through distributors or directly to health care providers.

The Company currently also provides, free of charge, offers tiered access to artificial intelligence (AI) ("AI")-powered remote 

patient monitoring tools, a mobile app for patients and a clinic dashboard for providers, referred to as the Allurion Virtual Care Suite 

or “VCS” (“VCS”) and, collectively with the Allurion Gastric Balloon, referred to as the “Allurion Program”.  The base tier of the VCS is 

free of charge to those purchasing the Allurion Balloon, as well as customers looking for a weight-loss management platform for 

patients utilizing other weight loss treatments, including anti-obesity medications and bariatric surgery. More full-scale versions of the 

VCS are available to health care providers on an upgrade basis. Allurion currently markets the Allurion Program in over 50 countries, 

and the Company operates subsidiaries in the United States, France, the United Arab Emirates, Hong Kong, the United Kingdom, 

Italy, Spain, Australia and Mexico.

Business Combination Agreement

On February 9, 2023, Allurion Technologies Opco, Inc. (formerly Allurion Technologies, Inc., “Legacy Allurion”) and Allurion 

Technologies, Inc. (formerly Allurion Technologies Holdings, Inc.), entered into the Business Combination Agreement (as 

subsequently amended on May 2, 2023, the “Business Combination Agreement”) with Compute Health Acquisition Corp. (“CPUH” or 

"Compute Health"), Compute Health Corp. (“Merger Sub I”) and Compute Health LLC (“Merger Sub II” and, together with Merger Sub 

I, the “Merger Subs”). Pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, on August 1, 2023 (the “Closing Date”), the Mergers (as 

defined below) were consummated in three steps: (a) Compute Health merged with and into Allurion (the “CPUH Merger”), with 

Allurion surviving the CPUH Merger as a publicly listed entity (the time at which the CPUH Merger became effective, the “CPUH 

Merger Effective Time”) and becoming the sole owner of the Merger Subs; (b) three hours following the consummation of the CPUH 

Merger, Merger Sub I merged with and into Legacy Allurion (the “Intermediate Merger” and the time at which the Intermediate Merger 

became effective, the “Intermediate Merger Effective Time”), with Legacy Allurion surviving the Intermediate Merger and becoming a 

direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Allurion; and (c) thereafter, Legacy Allurion merged with and into Merger Sub II (the “Final Merger” 

and, collectively with the CPUH Merger and the Intermediate Merger, the “Mergers”, and together with all other transactions 

contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement, the “Business Combination”), with Merger Sub II surviving the Final Merger 
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and remaining a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Allurion (the time at which the Final Merger became effective, the “Final Merger 

Effective Time”). Allurion shares began trading on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the ticker symbol “ALUR” on 

August 2, 2023. Upon completion of the Business Combination, Legacy Allurion's business operations continued as our business 

operations.

The Business Combination was accounted for as a reverse capitalization in accordance with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). Under this method of accounting, Compute Health was treated as the 

“acquired” company for financial reporting purposes and Legacy Allurion was the accounting “acquirer”. Accordingly, the Business 

Combination was treated as the equivalent of Legacy Allurion issuing stock for the net assets of Compute Health, accompanied by a 

recapitalization. As a result of the reverse recapitalization, the assets and liabilities of the Company are presented at their historical 

carrying values, and the assets and liabilities of Compute Health are recognized on the acquisition date and measured on the basis 

of the net proceeds from the capital transaction, with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded. This determination is primarily 

based on the fact that, immediately following the Business Combination, Legacy Allurion stockholders had a majority of the voting 

power of Allurion, Legacy Allurion controlled the majority of the board seats of Allurion, and Legacy Allurion senior management 

comprised all of the senior management of Allurion. The equity structure has been restated in all comparative periods up to the 

Closing Date to reflect the number of shares of the Company's common stock, $0.0001 par value per share (“Allurion Common 

Stock” or the “Company’s Common Stock”), issued to Legacy Allurion stockholders in connection with the Business Combination. As 

such, the shares and corresponding capital amounts and earnings per share related to Legacy Allurion's convertible preferred stock 

and Legacy Allurion common stock prior to the Business Combination have been retroactively restated as shares reflecting the 

exchange ratio of approximately 0.9780 (the "Exchange Ratio") established in the Business Combination. As a result of this 

retrospective application, certain prior period balances within the condensed consolidated financial statements have changed. Refer 

to Note 3, Business Combination for further discussion regarding the closing of the Business Combination with Compute Health.

Unless otherwise indicated, references in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to the "Company", "our", and "Allurion" refer to 

the condensed consolidated operations of Allurion Technologies, Inc. and its subsidiaries. References to CPUH and Compute Health 

refer to Compute Health Acquisition Corp. and its subsidiaries prior to the consummation of the Business Combination and 

references to "Legacy Allurion" refer to Allurion Technologies, Inc. prior to the consummation of the Business Combination.

7

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 

U.S. GAAP and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Any reference in these notes to the 

applicable accounting guidance is meant to refer to the authoritative U.S. GAAP as found in the Accounting Standards Codification 

("ASC"), and Accounting Standards Update ("ASU"), of the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB"). They should be read in

9
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conjunction with the Legacy Allurion’s our audited financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 

31, 2023 included in the Company's Proxy Statement/Prospectus Annual Report on Form S-4/A filed with the SEC 10-K, as amended 

("Annual Report on July 7, 2023 (the "Proxy Statement/Prospectus" Form 10-K"). The financial statements as of September 30, 

2023 March 31, 2024 and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 presented in this 

report are unaudited; however, in the opinion of management such financial statements reflect all adjustments, consisting solely of 

normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of the results for the interim periods presented. The results of 

operations for the periods presented are not necessarily indicative of the results that might be expected for future interim periods or 

for the full year.

In connection with the Business Combination, the Company's equity structure has been restated as of and for the year ended 

December 31, 2022 to reflect the number of shares of the Allurion Common Stock, $0.0001 par value per share, issued to Legacy 

Allurion stockholders. As such, the shares and corresponding capital amounts presented in the condensed consolidated balance 

sheet and condensed consolidated statement of redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders deficit have been 

retroactively restated as shares reflecting the Exchange Ratio established in the Business Combination. All existing Legacy Allurion 

redeemable convertible preferred stock and Legacy Allurion convertible preferred stock were converted into shares of Allurion 

Common Stock.

The consolidated financial statements include Allurion and its consolidated subsidiaries: Allurion France SAS and Allurion 

Middle East Medical Instrument Trading, LLC, which were both incorporated in 2017; Allurion Hong Kong Ltd., which was 

incorporated in 2019; Allurion UK Ltd., which was incorporated in 2021; Allurion Italy, Srl, Allurion Spain, Srl, Allurion Australia Pty 

Ltd., and Allurion Mexico S. de R.L de C.V, which were incorporated in 2022; and Allurion Technologies, LLC, which was 

incorporated in 2023. The Company’s operations are located in Europe, the Middle East, Africa, Latin America, Canada and the 

Asia-Pacific region, and it operates in one business segment.

Our foreign operations are subject to exchange rate fluctuations and foreign currency transaction costs. The functional 

currency for all of our foreign subsidiaries is the United States dollar except Allurion Australia Pty Ltd., which uses the Australian 

dollar. When remeasuring from a local currency to the functional currency, assets and liabilities are remeasured into U.S. dollars at 

exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet dates and results of operations transacted in local currency are remeasured into U.S. 

dollars using average exchange rates for the period presented. Losses A loss from remeasurement of $0.3 million and gain from 

remeasurement of $0.4 0.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, respectively, and 

losses from remeasurement of $0.3 million and $0.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, 2023, 

respectively, are recorded in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss within Other (expense) income, net. The 

Company translates the foreign functional currency financial statements to U.S. dollars for Allurion Australia Pty Ltd. using the 

exchange rates at the balance sheet date for assets and liabilities, the period average exchange rates for revenues and expenses, 

and the historical exchange rates for equity transactions. The effects of foreign currency translation adjustments were immaterial for 

the three ended March 31, 2024 and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. 2023.

Going Concern

The Company has evaluated whether there are certain conditions and events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 

substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the condensed 

consolidated financial statements are issued.

The Company has incurred recurring losses since inception, and anticipates net losses and negative operating cash flows for 

the near future, and may be unable to remain in compliance with certain financial covenants required under its credit facilities. 
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Through September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, the Company has funded its operations primarily with proceeds from the sale of its 

convertible preferred stock, issuance of convertible notes, issuance of term loans, and funds received upon consummation of the 

Business Combination. The Company has incurred recurring losses and cash outflows from operating activities since its inception, 

including net losses  from operations of $61.4 11.4 million and $25.4 13.9 million and cash outflows from operating activities of 

$43.1 8.6 million and $31.3 10.3 million for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, 

respectively. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $193.6 207.2 million. The 

Company expects to continue to generate significant operating losses for the foreseeable future.

Based on the Company's recurring losses from operations incurred since inception, its expectation of continuing operating 

losses for the foreseeable future, and the potential need to raise additional capital to finance its future operations and debt service 

payments,  and the potential of being unable to remain in compliance with certain financial covenants under its credit facilities, the 

Company has concluded that there is substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern for a period of one year from 

the date that these condensed consolidated financial statements are issued. The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated 

financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates the 

realization of assets and the settlement of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Besides the following, there There have been no significant changes, from except as described below, to the significant 

accounting policies disclosed in Note 2 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” to the consolidated audited financial 

statements and notes as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 included in the Proxy 

Statement/Prospectus. our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

10

2023 Convertible Notes

The Company accounts for the convertible notes issued between February 2023 and August 2023 (the "2023 Convertible 

Notes") under the fair value option (“FVO”) election of ASC Topic 825, Financial Instruments (“ASC 825”). The convertible notes 

accounted for under the FVO election are each debt host financial instruments containing embedded features wherein the entire 

financial instrument is initially measured at its issue-date estimated fair value and then subsequently remeasured at estimated fair 

value on a recurring basis at each reporting period date. Changes in the estimated fair value of the convertible notes are recorded as 

a component of Other (expense) income in the consolidated statements of operations. As a result of electing the FVO, direct costs 

and fees related to the 2023 Convertible Notes are expensed as incurred. The convertible notes issued in 2020, 2021 and 2022 are 

accounted for as disclosed in Note 8, Debt. In connection with the closing of the Business Combination on August 1, 2023, a portion 

of the 2023 convertible notes was repaid, with the remaining balance converted to shares of our Common Stock.

Earn-Out Liabilities

In connection with the Business Combination, certain holders of Legacy Allurion common stock and Legacy Allurion preferred 

stock and holders of vested options, warrants and restricted stock units exercisable or convertible into Legacy Allurion capital stock 

received the contingent right to receive up to 9,000,000 additional shares of Allurion Common Stock (the “Earn-Out Shares”) upon 

the achievement of certain earn-out targets. The contingent earn-out consideration contains a settlement provision that in the event 

of a change in control the number of Earn-Out Shares issued may vary. This settlement provision precludes the earn-out liability from 

being indexed to the Company's Common Stock as a change in control event is not an input into the pricing of a fixed-for-fixed 
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forward or option on equity shares. As such, it is classified as a liability under ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity ("ASC 

480").

The fair value of the earn-out consideration is remeasured on a quarterly basis over the earn-out period with changes in the 

estimated fair value of the contingent earn-out consideration recorded in Other (expense) income in the condensed consolidated 

statements of operations and comprehensive loss and are reflected in the period in which they are identified. Changes in the 

estimated fair value of the contingent earn-out consideration may materially impact or cause volatility in our operating results.

Revenue Interest Financing and PIPE Conversion Option

In connection with the Business Combination, the Company entered into a revenue interest financing agreement, dated as of 

February 9, 2023 (the "Revenue Interest Financing Agreement") with certain entities that have engaged RTW Investments, LP as 

investment manager (collectively, “RTW”), under which the Company received $40.0 million upfront (the "Revenue Interest 

Financing"). In exchange, the Company is obligated to remit to RTW certain revenue interest payments on all current and future 

products, digital solutions and services developed, imported, manufactured, marketed, offered for sale, promoted, sold, tested or 

otherwise distributed by Allurion and its subsidiaries at a rate up to 6.0% of annual net sales prior to December 31, 2026. On or after 

January 1, 2027, the Company will remit revenue interest payments at a rate up to 10.0% of annual net sales, and it will continue to 

make revenue interest payments to RTW until December 31, 2030. The Company accounts for the Revenue Interest Financing 

Agreement under the fair value option election of ASC 825. The Revenue Interest Financing Agreement accounted for under the 

FVO election is a debt host financial instrument that contains embedded features. The embedded features include requirements to 

settle the Revenue Interest Financing prior to maturity upon the occurrence of certain contingent events, a change in royalty rates 

upon the occurrence of certain contingent events, and the Company's ability to prepay the Revenue Interest Financing. As the 

Company has elected the FVO, these embedded features would not meet the criteria for bifurcation and separate accounting as the 

entire financial instrument is initially measured at its issue-date estimated fair value and then subsequently remeasured at estimated 

fair value on a recurring basis at each reporting period date. Changes in the estimated fair value of the Revenue Interest Financing 

Agreement are recorded as a component of Other (expense) income in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and 

comprehensive loss. As a result of electing the FVO, direct costs and fees related to the Revenue Interest Financing are expensed 

as incurred.

In connection with the Company entering in the Revenue Interest Financing, the Company and RTW entered into the RTW 

side letter under which RTW may elect to convert up to $7.5 million of its initial PIPE (as defined in Note 3, Business Combination 

below) subscription into an additional revenue interest financing by forfeiting a number of shares of Allurion Common Stock acquired 

by the PIPE subscription (the "PIPE Conversion Option"). The Company accounts for the PIPE Conversion Option as a freestanding 

financial instrument that qualifies for derivative liability accounting in accordance with ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging ("ASC 

815"). The PIPE Conversion Option is initially measured at its fair value within Other liabilities on the condensed consolidated 

balance sheets with corresponding recognition of expense at inception as there is no right received by the Company that meets the 

definition of an asset and the transaction did not involve a distribution or a dividend. Subsequent changes in fair value of the 

derivative liability are recognized as a gain or loss as a component of Other (expense) income in the condensed consolidated 

statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 

date
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of the condensed consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 

period. Management considers many factors in selecting appropriate financial accounting policies and controls in developing the 

estimates and assumptions that are used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. Management must apply 

significant judgment in this process. In addition, other factors may affect estimates, including expected business and operational 

changes, sensitivity and volatility associated with the assumptions used in developing estimates, and whether historical trends are 

expected to be representative of future trends. The estimation process often may yield a range of reasonable estimates of the 

ultimate future

8

outcomes, and management must select an amount that falls within that range of reasonable estimates. Actual results could differ 

from those estimates.

Reclassification of Prior Year Presentation

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current year presentation. These reclassifications 

had no effect on the reported results of operations. Adjustment has been made to the condensed consolidated statement of 

operations and comprehensive loss for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023, to present the change 

in fair value of derivative liabilities as part of Other (expense) income, net. This amount was a separate line item in prior years.

Risk of Concentration of Credit, Significant Customers and Significant Suppliers

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents 

and accounts receivable, net. The Company maintains deposits in accredited financial institutions in excess of federally insured 

limits. The Company maintains its cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash with financial institutions that management believes to 

be of high credit quality. The Company has not experienced any losses on such accounts and does not believe it is exposed to any 

unusual credit risk beyond the normal credit risk associated with commercial banking relationships.

Significant customers are those which represent more than 10% of the Company’s total revenue for the three and nine months 

ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 or accounts receivable, net balance as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 

2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. The following table presents customers that represent 10% or more of the 

Company’s total revenue and accounts receivable, net: 

 
Revenue     Revenue     Accounts Receivable  

Three Months Ended 

September 30,    

Nine Months Ended September 

30,    

September 

30,     December 31,  

2023     2022     2023     2022     2023     2022  

Customer A   19 %   N/A       12 %   N/A       12 %   N/A  

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

25/168

Customer B N/A       11 %   N/A       11 %   N/A     N/A  

Customer C   11 %   N/A     N/A     N/A       12 %     13 %

Customer D N/A     N/A     N/A     N/A     N/A       12 %

  Revenue   Accounts Receivable  

  Three Months Ended March 31,   March 31,     December 31,  

  2024   2023   2024     2023  

Customer A   N/A   N/A     11 %     16 %

 
The Company relies on third parties for the supply of parts and components for its products as well as third-party logistics 

providers. In instances where these parties fail to perform their obligations, the Company may be unable to find alternative suppliers 

of parts and components to satisfactorily deliver its products to its customers on time, if at all, which could have a material adverse 

effect on the Company’s operating results, financial condition and cash flows and damage its customer relationships.

 

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on 

Financial Instruments (Topic 326). The standard, including subsequently issued amendments, requires a financial asset measured at 

amortized cost basis, such as accounts receivable and certain other financial assets such as available for sale debt securities, to be 

presented at the net amount expected to be collected based on relevant information about past events, including historical 

experience, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the reported amount. The 

Company adopted ASU 2016-13 effective January 1, 2023 under the prospective transition approach. The adoption of ASU 2016-13 

did not have a material impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference 

Rate Reform on Financial Reporting ("ASU 2020-04"), which provides optional guidance if certain criteria are met for entities that 

have contracts, hedging relationships and other transactions that reference LIBOR or other reference rates expected to be 

discontinued as a result of reference rate reform. Subsequent to issuance, the FASB issued ASU 2021-01 in January 2021 to refine 

and clarify some of its guidance on ASU 2020-04, and ASU 2022-06 in December 2022 to extend the period of time preparers can 

utilize this guidance. This ASU is effective upon issuance and can be applied through December 31, 2024. Upon the transition of the 

Company’s contracts and transactions to new reference rates in connection with reference rate reform, the Company will 

prospectively apply the standard and disclose the effect on its consolidated financial statements.

12

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt with Conversion and Other Options and Derivatives and Hedging—

Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity, which simplifies the accounting for convertible instruments. The guidance removes certain 

accounting models which separate the embedded conversion features from the host contract for convertible instruments. Either 

a The Company adopted ASU 2020-06 effective January 1, 2024 under the modified retrospective method of transition or a fully 
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retrospective method of transition is permissible for the approach. The adoption of this standard. Update No. ASU 2020-06did not 

have an impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment 

Disclosures, which requires disclosure of incremental segment information on an interim and annual basis. This ASU is effective for 

fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, including and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted no 

earlier than the fiscal year periods beginning after December 15, 2020. December 15, 2024, and requires retrospective application to 

all prior periods presented in the financial statements. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of the adoption of 

this standard and does is not expect the adoption of ASU 2020-04 expected to have a material impact on its the Company's 

consolidated financial statements. statements and related disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, 

which requires public entities, on an annual basis, to provide disclosure of specific categories in the rate reconciliation, as well as 

disclosure of income taxes paid disaggregated by jurisdiction. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 

2024, with early adoption permitted. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's 

consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

3. Business Combination

As discussed in Note 1, Organization and Description Basis of Business Presentation, on August 1, 2023 the Company 

consummated the Business Combination with Compute Health pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement. The Business 

Combination was accounted for as a reverse capitalization in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Under this method of accounting, 

Compute Health, which was the legal acquirer, was treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting purposes. Accordingly, 

the Business Combination was treated as the equivalent of Allurion issuing stock for the net assets of Compute Health, accompanied 

by a recapitalization.

Upon the closing of the Business Combination, (a) holders of Legacy Allurion common stock received shares of Allurion 

Common Stock in an amount determined by application of the Exchange Ratio of approximately 0.9780, (b) each then-outstanding

9

share of Legacy Allurion preferred stock was converted into the right to receive shares of Allurion Common Stock equal to the 

number of shares of Allurion Common Stock that would be issued upon conversion of such outstanding share of Legacy Allurion 

preferred stock based on the applicable conversion ratio multiplied by the Exchange Ratio, (c) each then-outstanding and 

unexercised Legacy Allurion option was converted into a new Allurion option on the same terms and conditions as were applicable to 

such Legacy Allurion option based on the Exchange Ratio ("Rollover Option"), (d) each then-outstanding Legacy Allurion warrant 

was converted into a new Allurion warrant based on the Exchange Ratio ("Rollover Warrant"), (e) each then-outstanding Legacy 

Allurion restricted stock unit was converted into a rollover restricted stock unit based on the Exchange Ratio, and (f) certain amounts 

of loans made by Compute Health Sponsor LLC (the "Sponsor") to CPUH, which balance was $3.7 million at the time of the 
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Business Combination (the "Sponsor Loan Excess"), was converted into 525,568 shares of Allurion Common Stock (the "Sponsor 

Loan Equity Issuance"). For periods prior to the Business Combination, the reported share and per share amounts have been 

retroactively converted by applying the Exchange Ratio. The consolidated assets, liabilities, and results of operations prior to the 

Business Combination are those of Legacy Allurion.

Further, upon the closing of the Business Combination, each then-outstanding share of Compute Health Class A common 

stock was canceled and extinguished and was converted into the right to receive 1.420455 shares of Allurion Common Stock. 

Additionally, the Company assumed 13,206,922 outstanding public warrants to purchase an aggregate 18,759,838 shares of Allurion 

Common Stock at $8.10 per share.

In connection with the Business Combination, the Company incurred approximately $22.7 million of transaction costs, 

consisting of legal and other professional fees, of which $15.2 million of which were was recorded to additional paid-in capital as a 

reduction of proceeds, $2.5 million of which were was recorded as debt issuance costs in connection with the Fortress Term Loan (as 

defined below), and $5.0 million of which were was recorded as an expense in general and administrative expenses on the 

condensed consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. Of the $5.0 million recorded as expense, general and 

administrative expenses, $3.6 million relates to a one-time insurance payment related to any potential matters that might arise from 

the period prior to the Business Combination, and as such is not capitalized as an asset. An additional $1.2 million relates to direct 

costs and fees incurred as part of the Revenue Interest Financing with RTW.

The following table reconciles the elements of the Business Combination to the condensed consolidated statement of cash 

flows and the condensed consolidated statement of changes in equity:

 

 

September 30,


2023     December 31, 2023  

Cash – CPUH trust (net of redemptions)   $ 38,395     $ 38,395  

Cash – PIPE Investors     37,922       37,922  

Gross Proceeds     76,317       76,317  

Less: transaction costs paid     (14,239 )     (14,665 )

Net proceeds from the Business Combination (2)     62,078  

Less: warrant liabilities assumed (1)     (13,762 )

Less: repayment of note assumed in the Business Combination (2)     (2,500 )

Less: accrued transaction costs at September 30, 2023 (2)     (1,006 )

Net proceeds from the Business Combination     61,652  

Less: warrant liabilities assumed     (13,762 )

Less: repayment of note assumed in the Business Combination     (2,500 )

Less: accrued transaction costs at December 31, 2023     (580 )

Business Combination, net of transaction costs   $ 44,810     $ 44,810  

 

13
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(1) The warrant liabilities assumed are presented separately from the "Reverse recapitalization, net of transaction costs (Note 3)" line within the 

condensed consolidated statements of redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders deficit.

(2) The Net proceeds from the Business Combination, less the repayment of note assumed in the Business Combination, less the accrued 

transaction costs at September 30, 2023 are presented net in the condensed consolidated statements of redeemable convertible preferred stock 

and stockholders deficit within line "Reverse recapitalization, net of transaction costs (Note 3)".

The number of shares of Allurion Common Stock outstanding immediately following the consummation of the Business 

Combination was as follows:

 

 

Common 

Stock  

Legacy Allurion Equityholders (1)     27,897,387  

CPUH Stockholders (2)     5,165,698  

Shares Issued to PIPE Investors (2)     5,386,695  

Shares issued to RTW and Fortress (3)     1,900,000  

Shares issued to convertible note holders     3,301,222  

CPUH Sponsor Shares (2)     3,262,711  

Side Letter Termination Shares (3)     387,696  

Total shares of Common Stock immediately after


   Business Combination     47,301,409  

 

(1) Consists of Legacy Allurion common stock and Legacy Allurion preferred stock, holders, plus the issuance of common stock in connection with 

the vesting of RSUs at closing, less the Gaur Contributed Shares (as defined below).

(2) The CPUH Stockholders shares, PIPE shares, and CPUH Sponsor shares are presented combined within the condensed consolidated 

statements of redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders deficit on the "Reverse recapitalization, net of transaction costs" line, which 

is less the Gaur Contributed Shares (as defined below).

10

(3) The shares issued to RTW and Fortress and the Side Letter Termination shares are presented combined within the condensed consolidated 

statements of redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders deficit on the "Derecognition of liabilities associated with the Backstop 

Shares, Hunter shares, and additional RTW and Fortress shares and issuance of related shares" line.

 

PIPE Investment

In connection with the execution of the Business Combination Agreement, Allurion and Compute Health entered into 

subscription agreements, each dated February 9, 2023 (the “PIPE Subscription Agreements”), with certain accredited investors and 

qualified institutional buyers (the “PIPE Investors”), pursuant to which, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein, 
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the PIPE Investors, among other things, purchased an aggregate of 5,386,695 shares of Allurion Common Stock at a purchase price 

of $7.04 per share (other than as set forth in the Amended and Restated RTW Side Letter, as defined below), for an aggregate 

purchase price of $37.9 million, following the CPUH Merger Effective Time (the "PIPE Investment").

Revenue Interest Financing Agreement, Side Letter and PIPE Conversion Option

On February 9, 2023, concurrently with the execution of the Business Combination Agreement, the Company entered into the 

Revenue Interest Financing Agreement (the "Revenue Interest Financing Agreement") with RTW. certain entities that engaged RTW 

Investment, LP ("RTW") as investment manager. Pursuant to the Revenue Interest Financing Agreement, at the closing of the 

Business Combination, RTW paid Allurion an aggregate of $40.0 million (the “Investment Amount”). In exchange for the Investment 

Amount, Allurion will remit revenue interest payments on all current and future products, digital solutions and services developed, 

imported, manufactured, marketed, offered for sale, promoted, sold, tested or otherwise distributed by Allurion and its subsidiaries at 

a rate up to 6.0% of annual net sales prior to December 31, 2026. On or after January 1, 2027, the Company will remit revenue 

interest payments at a rate up to 10.0% of annual net sales, and it will continue to make revenue interest payments to RTW until 

December 31, 2030.

Additionally, in connection with the Company entering in the Revenue Interest Financing, the Company, Compute Health, 

Legacy Allurion, Merger Sub II and RTW entered into a side letter (the "RTW Side Letter") on February 9, 2023 under which RTW 

may elect to convert up to $7.5 million of its initial PIPE subscription into an additional revenue interest financing by forfeiting a 

number of shares of our Allurion common stock acquired by the its PIPE subscription. investment. Refer to Note 9, Revenue Interest 

Financing, Side Letter, and PIPE Conversion Option below for further discussion on the Revenue Interest Financing.

On May 2, 2023, the parties amended and restated the RTW Side Letter (as amended, the "Amended and Restated RTW Side 

Letter"), in connection with the Backstop Agreement (defined below), pursuant to which, among other things, Allurion issued 250,000 

shares of Allurion Common Stock to RTW immediately prior to the Intermediate Merger Effective Time.

Fortress Credit Agreement

14

In connection with the closing of the Business Combination, the Company entered into a term loan facility (the “Fortress Term 

Loan”) pursuant to a credit agreement Credit Agreement and guaranty, Guaranty, dated as of August 1, 2023 (the “Fortress Credit 

Agreement”), with Fortress Credit Corp. (“Fortress”), as administrative agent for the lenders party thereto from time to time (the 

“Lenders”). Under the terms of the Fortress Term Loan, we borrowed $60.0 million which was used to repay the outstanding 

principal, accrued and unpaid interest, and other obligations with respect to the 2021 Term Loan (as defined below). Additionally, per 

the terms of the Fortress Term Loan and Backstop Agreement, Allurion issued an aggregate of 950,000 shares of our Allurion 

Common Stock to an affiliate of Fortress pursuant to a subscription agreement between Allurion and such affiliate. Refer to Note 8, 

Debt for further discussion on the Fortress Term Loan.

Backstop Agreement

On May 2, 2023, CFIP2 ALLE LLC, an affiliate of Fortress Credit Corp., and RTW (collectively, the “Backstop Purchasers”), 

Legacy Allurion, Allurion and Hunter Ventures Limited (“HVL”) entered into the backstop agreement (the “Backstop Agreement”). 

Pursuant to the Backstop Agreement, immediately prior to the Intermediate Merger Closing (a) each Backstop Purchaser purchased 

$2 million of the aggregate principal amount outstanding of HVL's Legacy Allurion convertible note issued in February 2023, (b) 

Allurion canceled the existing HVL Legacy Allurion Convertible Note and issued a new Allurion Convertible Note to HVL for the 
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remaining balance together with all unpaid interest accrued since the date of issuance thereof, (c) Allurion issued new Allurion 

Convertible Notes to each Backstop Purchaser with an issuance date of August 1, 2023 and an original principal amount of $2 million 

each and (d) Allurion issued 700,000 shares of our Allurion Common Stock to each Backstop Purchaser. Refer to Note 8, Debt for 

further discussion around the Backstop Agreement.

HVL Termination Agreement

On May 2, 2023, HVL and Legacy Allurion entered into a letter agreement (the “HVL Termination Agreement”), terminating the 

side letter agreement entered into between Legacy Allurion and HVL in connection with the issuance of HVL’s Legacy Allurion 

convertible note on February 15, 2023. Pursuant to the HVL Termination Agreement, among other things, at the closing of the

11

Business Combination, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein, Allurion issued to HVL 387,696 shares of 

our Allurion Common Stock. Refer to Note 8, Debt for further discussion regarding the HVL Termination Agreement.

Gaur Contribution Agreement

On May 2, 2023, Shantanu K. Gaur and Neha Gaur, trustees of The Shantanu K. Gaur Revocable Trust of 2021 (the “Gaur 

Trust”) and Allurion entered into a contribution agreement (the “Gaur Contribution Agreement”), pursuant to which, among other 

things, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein, the Gaur Trust contributed to Allurion, as a contribution of 

capital, 79,232 shares of Allurion Common Stock (the “Gaur Trust Contributed Shares”). The Gaur Trust’s contribution of the Gaur 

Trust Contributed Shares was effective immediately following the consummation of the Business Combination and the issuance of 

shares of Allurion Common Stock to the Gaur Trust pursuant to the terms of the Business Combination Agreement.

RSU Forfeiture Agreement

On May 2, 2023, Krishna Gupta, a member of our Board of Directors, entered into a letter agreement with Legacy Allurion (the 

“RSU Forfeiture Agreement”), pursuant to which, among other things, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein, 

Mr. Gupta agreed to forfeit 79,232 restricted stock units of Allurion (the “Forfeited RSUs”). The Forfeited RSUs were terminated and 

cancelled without consideration therefor immediately following the closing of the Business Combination Agreement.

Sponsor Contribution Agreement

On May 2, 2023, the Sponsor and Compute Health entered into a letter agreement (the "Sponsor Contribution Agreement") 

pursuant to which, among other things, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein, the Sponsor agreed to 

contribute to Compute Health, as a contribution of capital, 161,379 shares of Compute Health Class A Common Stock (“Sponsor 

Contributed Shares”). The Sponsor’s contribution of the Sponsor Contributed Shares was made immediately following the CPUH 

Recapitalization (defined below) and immediately prior to the CPUH Merger Effective Time.

Sponsor Support Agreement

On February 9, 2023, Allurion entered into the Sponsor a support agreement (the "Sponsor Support Agreement, Agreement"), 

pursuant to which immediately prior to the CPUH Merger Effective time, (a) the Sponsor recapitalized each of the Sponsor’s 
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21,442,500 shares of Compute Health Class B Common Stock, and all 12,833,333 of the Sponsor’s warrants to purchase shares of 

Class A Common Stock, into 2,088,327 shares of Compute Health Class A Common Stock and (b) the additional Class B Holders 

set forth on Schedule I of the Sponsor Support Agreement (the "Additional Class B Holders") recapitalized his or her 30,000 shares 

of Compute Health Class B Common Stock into 21,120 shares of Compute Health Class A Common Stock (the "CPUH 

Recapitalization"). Subsequently, at the CPUH Merger Effective Time, each such share of Compute Health Class A Common Stock 

was converted into shares of Allurion Common Stock at an exchange ratio of 1.420455 (the "CPUH Exchange Ratio").

Conversion of Convertible Notes

15

In connection with the closing of the Business Combination, outstanding Legacy Allurion Convertible Notes with an aggregate 

principal amount together with accrued but unpaid interest of approximately $21.8 million were converted into 3,301,222 shares of 

our Allurion Common Stock with a corresponding recognition of additional paid-in capital ("APIC") of $25.6 million provided for under 

the terms of such Legacy Allurion Convertible Notes, and are no longer outstanding. Refer to Note 8, Debt for further information on 

the Company's convertible notes.

Public Warrants and Warrant Amendment

In connection with the closing of the Business Combination, the Company assumed 13,206,922 outstanding Public 

Warrants public warrants (the "Public Warrants") to purchase an aggregate 18,759,838 shares of Allurion Common Stock at $8.10 

per share following the Warrant Amendment (defined below). The total value of the liability associated with the Public Warrants was 

$13.8 million measured at fair value based on the public warrant quoted price. The Company concluded the warrants met the 

definition of a liability based on the settlement provision that allows the warrant holders to net-share settle their warrants in the event 

of a failed registration statement within 60 days of the Business Combination or any time a registration is not effective. As such, they 

have been classified as a liability on the balance sheet. See Note 12, Capital Stock and Stockholder's Stockholders Deficit and Note 

10, Fair Value Measurements for further information on the Public Warrants and Warrant Amendment.

Earn-Out Liabilities

In connection with the closing of the Business Combination, Legacy Allurion equity holders are entitled to receive additional 

shares of our Allurion Common Stock if the shares share price achieves certain targets. targets (the "Earn-Out Shares"). The 

Company accounts for the potential issuance of the Earn-Out Shares as a contingent consideration arrangement, which was initially 

valued and recorded at $53.0 million. See Note 10, Fair Value Measurements for further information on the earn-out liabilities.

12

4. Revenue

Revenue by geographic region is based on the country in which our customer is domiciled and is summarized by geographic 

area as follows (in thousands):
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Three Months Ended


September 30,    

Three Months Ended


March 31,  

  2023     2022     2024     2023  

Turkey   $ 3,517     $ 1,038  

Chile     1,956       822  

France   $ 1,671     $ 1,855  

United Kingdom     1,256       1,193  

Spain     1,195       2,537       1,112       1,624  

All Other Countries     11,532       11,667       5,347       9,399  

Total Revenues   $ 18,200     $ 16,064     $ 9,386     $ 14,071  

 
For the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, $5.7 2.7 million of revenue was generated in five four 

countries included within All Other Countries in the table above, representing approximately 31% of Total Revenues, with each 

country responsible for approximately 5% to 7% of the total. Remaining revenue was generated by sales in 46 other countries 

included within All Other Countries. For the three months ended September 30, 2022, $5.7 million of revenue was generated in five 

countries included within All Other Countries, representing approximately 35 29% of Total Revenues, with each country responsible 

for approximately 5% to 9% of the total. Remaining revenue was generated by sales in 33 36 other countries included within All Other 

Countries.

 

Nine Months Ended


September 30,  

  2023     2022  

Turkey   $ 5,495     $ 2,410  

France     4,423       4,291  

Spain     3,715       5,867  

All Other Countries     31,599       32,459  

Total Revenues   $ 45,232     $ 45,027  

For the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2023, $12.8 3.5 million of revenue was generated in five four 

countries included within All Other Countries, in the table above, representing approximately 28 25% of Total Revenues, with each 

country responsible for approximately 4 5% to 8% of the total. Remaining revenue was generated by sales in 59 30 other countries 

included within All Other Countries. For the nine months ended September 30, 2022, $15.2 million of revenue was generated in five 

countries included within All Other Countries, representing approximately 34% of Total Revenues, with each country responsible for 

approximately 5% to 9% of the total. Remaining revenue was generated by sales in 43 other countries included within All Other 

Countries.

There is currently no revenue generated in the United States for the three or nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 

2022. States.

16
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5. Inventory

Inventory consists of the following (in thousands):

 

 

September 30,


2023    

December 31,


2022    

March 31,


2024    

December 31,


2023  

Finished goods   $ 2,225     $ 2,096     $ 2,928     $ 3,427  

Work in progress     366       213       599       967  

Raw materials     1,428       1,556       2,104       1,777  

Total Inventory   $ 4,019     $ 3,865     $ 5,631     $ 6,171  

 
Inventory is stated net of $0.7 0.3 million and less than $zero 0.1 million for the provision for excess and obsolete inventory as 

of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, respectively.

6. Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):

 

 

Estimated 

Useful Life


(in Years)  

Septem

ber 30,


2023    

Decemb

er 31,


2022    

Estimated Useful Life


(in Years)  

March 31,


2024    

December 31,


2023  

Computers and purchased 

software   3   $ 618     $ 575     3   $ 618     $ 618  

Leasehold improvements

 

Shorter of 

useful life


or lease 

term    

1,90

8      

1,82

2    

Shorter of useful life


or lease term     1,943       1,943  

Furniture and fixtures   5     291       251     5     291       291  

Machinery and equipment

  3-5    

2,39

1      

2,00

2     3-5     3,053       2,893  

Property and equipment—at 

cost        

5,20

8      

4,65

0           5,905       5,745  

Less accumulated 

depreciation and 

amortization        

(3,37

1 )    

(2,85

1 )         (3,814 )     (3,559 )

Construction in progress

       

1,46

3       583           1,089       1,195  

Property and equipment—

net       $

3,30

0     $

2,38

2         $ 3,180     $ 3,381  
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13

Depreciation expense was $0.2 million for each of the three month periods ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 and $0.6 0.4 

million and $0.7 0.2 million for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, respectively, 

recorded as follows (in thousands):

 

 

Three Months Ended 

September 30,    

Nine Months Ended 

September 30,     Three Months Ended March 31,  

  2023     2022     2023     2022     2024     2023  

Cost of revenue   $ 63     $ 161     $ 280     $ 433     $ 201     $ 159  

Research and 

development     48       20       131       57       49       37  

General and 

administrative     34       36       104       119       64       35  

Sales and marketing     15       12       43       43       53       14  

Total depreciation and 

amortization expense   $ 160     $ 229     $ 558     $ 652     $ 367     $ 245  

 

17

7. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

 

 

September 30,


2023    

December 31,


2022    

March 31,


2024    

December 31,


2023  

Distributor fees and marketing reimbursements   $ 3,878     $ 6,348  

Marketing reimbursement   $ 2,031     $ 2,834  

Accrued compensation     3,720       3,453       2,752       1,687  

Accrued clinical trials and R&D     3,518       228       4,549       3,694  

Accrued selling and marketing     2,220       481       845       1,110  

Accrued professional fees     1,277       2,105       1,152       1,505  

Accrued interest     1,519       489  

Accrued warranty     33       48       21       44  

Accrued restructuring     8       655  

Other accrued expenses     3,151       2,641       3,148       3,966  
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Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities   $ 19,316     $ 15,793     $ 14,506     $ 15,495  

In connection with strategic initiatives implemented during the period ended December 31, 2023, the Company's management 

approved and initiated plans to reduce its cost structure. During the three months ended March 31, 2024, the Company recorded 

less than $0.1 million in restructuring charges and paid $0.7 million in restructuring charges.

 

8. Debt

The components of the Company’s third-party debt consists of the following (in thousands):

 

 

September 

30,


2023    

December 

31,


2022    

March 31,


2024    

December 31,


2023  

2021 Term Loan   $ —     $ 55,000  

Fortress Term Loan     60,000       —     $ 43,100     $ 43,100  

Convertible notes     —       3,103  

Total principal amount of debt     60,000       58,103       43,100       43,100  

Plus: Accretion     58       213       213       148  

Less: current portion of long-term debt, net of discounts     (57,677 )     (53,360 )     (38,957 )     (38,643 )

Less: unamortized deferred financing costs and debt 

discounts     (2,381 )     (1,853 )     (4,356 )     (4,605 )

Long-term debt, net of current portion and discounts   $ —     $ 3,103     $ —     $ —  

 
As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the fair value for the Company’s 

Fortress Term Loan and 2021 Term Loan approximated the respective carrying amounts.

 

Term Loans

2021 Term Loan

In March 2021, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement (as amended, the “2021 Term Loan” and the “2021 

Term Loan Agreement”) with Runway Growth Credit Fund, Inc. (“Runway”) that provided initial cash proceeds of $15.0 million, all of 

which was drawn down in March 2021 and provided for additional borrowings of up to $10.0 25.0 million, in $5.0 million increments, 

based upon the achievement of certain revenue thresholds within specified time periods, as defined in the 2021 Term Loan 

Agreement. million.

In December 2021, the 2021 Term Loan Agreement was amended (the “Amendment”) to extend the maturity date of the 2021 

Term Loan to December 30, 2025 and provide for an additional $20.0 million of borrowings, of which $15.0 million (the “Term C 

Loan”) was available based upon the achievement of certain revenue thresholds within specified time periods as defined in 2021 

Term Loan Agreement as amended. The agreement provided for equal monthly principal payments to commence on December 30, 

2024 such that the borrowed principal amounts would be repaid in full on December 30, 2025. However, if certain revenue thresholds 

were achieved prior to April 15, 2023, the borrowed principal amounts would be repaid in full on December 30, 2025. The revenue 
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thresholds were achieved in June 2022. In connection with the 2021 Term Loan, the Company paid issuance costs of $0.7 million 

which will be amortized over the remaining life of the loan.

borrowings. In December 2021, the Company issued warrants exercisable for 132,979 shares of series Legacy Allurion Series 

C preferred stock as consideration for the Amendment and the draw down related to the 2021 Term Loan Agreement. The fair value 

of these warrants was determined to be $0.3 million upon issuance and are classified as a warrant liability on the condensed 

consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 (see

14

Note 10, Fair Value Measurements). Upon the closing of the Business Combination, these warrants were converted into warrants 

exercisable for 130,053 shares of Allurion Common Stock.

In June 2022, the 2021 Term Loan Agreement was amended to revise definitional terms for certain milestone events, the final 

payment amount and certain financial covenants. In September 2022, the 2021 Term Loan Agreement was further amended to, 

among

18

other things: (1) change the interest rate to the higher of the prime rate or 3.25% plus the applicable margin of 6.44186%, (2) extend 

the maturity date of its outstanding term loans from December 30, 2025, to December 30, 2026, and (3) things, increase additional 

borrowing up to $15.0 million (the “Term D Loan”).

During June through September December of 2022, the Company drew an additional $15.0 30.0 million of the Term C Loan 

based upon the achievement of certain revenue thresholds under the amended and restated provisions of the 2021 Term Loan. In 

connection with the Term C Loan under the 2021 Term Loan, the Company paid issuance costs of $0.3 million, which were amortized 

over the remaining life of the loan. Upon the additional $15.0 million draw on the Term C Loan, warrants exercisable for 

44,220 88,440 shares of Series D-1 preferred stock were issued. The Company has recorded a warrant liability of $0.4 million in 

connection with the Term C Loan on the consolidated balance sheets. In September 2022, in connection with the amendment of the 

2021 Term Loan, the Company committed to issue warrants exercisable for an additional 44,220 shares of Series D-1 preferred 

stock if the Company drew on the entire Term D Loan. The fair value of these warrants was determined to be $0.4 0.8 million upon 

issuance and are classified as a warrant liability on the consolidated balance sheets as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 (see Note 10, Fair Value Measurements). Upon the closing of the Business Combination, 

the warrants exercisable for 88,440 shares of Series D-1 preferred stock were converted into warrants exercisable for 90,476 shares 

of Allurion Common Stock.

During October through December of 2022, the Company drew an additional $15.0 million of the Term D Loan based upon the 

achievement of certain revenue thresholds under the amended and restated provisions of the 2021 Term Loan.

On August 1, 2023, the 2021 Term Loan was paid off using the proceeds from the Fortress Term Loan (see below). The total 

payoff amount was $58.0 million, consisting of $55.0 million repayment of principal, a $1.1 million prepayment fee, and a $1.6 million 
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final payment fee. The prepayment fee was calculated as 2% of the outstanding principal balance as of August 1, 2023. The final 

payment fee was calculated as the 3% of the outstanding principal balance as of August 1, 2023 less the original final payment of 

$0.1 million. The Company recorded a $3.9 million loss on extinguishment of debt in connection with the 2021 Term Loan repayment.

Interest expense for the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2023 related to the 2021 Term Loan was $0.8 2.1 

million, consisting of $0.7 1.9 million of contractual interest, and $0.1 million amortization of debt discount, amortization of warrant, 

and term loan accretion. Interest expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 related to the 2021 Term Loan was $5.0 

million, consisting of $4.7 million of contractual interest, $0.1 million amortization of debt discount, $0.1 0.2 million amortization of 

warrant and $0.1 million term loan accretion. Interest expense for the three months ended September 30, 2022 was $1.2 million, 

consisting of $1.0 million of contractual interest, $0.1 million amortization of debt discount, less than $0.1 million amortization of 

warrant, and $0.1 million term loan accretion. Interest expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 was $2.6 million, 

consisting of $2.3 million of contractual interest, $0.1 million amortization of debt discount, $0.1 million amortization of warrant, and 

$0.1 million term loan accretion.

Fortress Term Loan

On August 1, 2023, the Company entered into the Fortress Term Loan pursuant to the Fortress Credit Agreement with Fortress 

that provided gross proceeds of $60 million. The Fortress Term Loan has a maturity date of June 30, 2027 and accrues interest per 

annum at a rate of 6.44% plus the greater of (i) the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate and (ii) 3.0%, which interest is payable in arrears 

on a monthly basis. An exit payment equal to 3.0% of the Fortress Term Loan (the "Exit Fee") is due upon prepayment or the 

maturity date of the Fortress Term Loan, in addition to any early prepayment fee. The Exit Fee is treated as additional interest 

expense and is accreted over the life of the loan using the effective interest method. Proceeds of the Fortress Term Loan were used, 

in part, to repay all amounts outstanding under the 2021 Term Loan. In connection with the issuance of the Fortress Term Loan, the 

Company paid issuance costs of $2.5 million, which were recorded as a debt discount and will be amortized over the remaining life of 

the loan.

On December 29, 2023, the Company entered into an amendment to the Fortress Credit Agreement (the "Fortress 

Amendment"). The Fortress Amendment waived the December 31, 2023 minimum revenue covenant under the Fortress Credit 

Agreement and modified the minimum liquidity covenant by increasing the minimum liquidity amount from $12.5 million to $33.5 

million until March 31, 2024, $23.5 million from April 1, 2024 to June 30, 2024, $16.9 million from July 1, 2024 to September 30, 2024 

and $12.5 million on October 1, 2024 and thereafter. The Fortress Amendment also provides that at any time after March 31, 2024, 

each lender will have the right to convert a portion of the outstanding principal amount, not to exceed the lender's proportionate 

share of a maximum of $20.0 million in aggregate outstanding principal amount, into shares of Common Stock of the Company at a 

conversion price based on the 30-day volume weighted average price ("VWAP") of Allurion Common Stock on the NYSE ending on 

the trading day immediately preceding the date of exercise of the lender's conversion right (the "Fortress Conversion Option"). As 

part of the Fortress Amendment, the Company prepaid $20.0 million of the principal outstanding under the Fortress Credit 

Agreement. Additionally, $3.1 million of fees were incurred and considered paid-in-kind and capitalized as an additional debt discount 

and added to the outstanding principal amount of the loans under the Fortress Amendment. The fees will be amortized through 

interest expense over the remaining life of the loan. The Fortress Amendment was accounted for as a modification under ASC 470. 

In connection with the modification and related prepayment, the Company wrote off $0.8 million of the unamortized debt issuance 

costs which was recorded within Interest expense on the condensed consolidated statement of operations for the year ended 

December 31, 2023.

The Fortress Credit Agreement contains certain financial reporting and other covenants, including the maintenance of a 

minimum liquidity amount of $12.5 million amounts and maintenance of minimum product revenues over trailing twelve-month 
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periods. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, the Lenders may declare all outstanding obligations immediately due and 

payable as well as increase the interest rate 3.0% above the rate that is otherwise applicable.

The Company has determined that there is substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern (see 

Note 1, Organization and Description of Business) and there is a risk that it may not meet its covenants under classified the Fortress 

Term Loan in the future. Therefore, the amounts due as of September 30, 2023 have been classified as a current liability in the 

March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 condensed consolidated financial statements. balance sheets. On April 16, 2024, the 

Company repaid all outstanding obligations under the Fortress Term Loan with proceeds from the Note Purchase Agreement (as 

defined below) with RTW (see Note 19, Subsequent Events).

The Company assessed the terms and features of the Fortress Credit Agreement in order to identify any potential embedded 

features that would require bifurcation or any beneficial conversion features. The terms and features assessed include, under certain 

circumstances, a default interest rate of 3% that will apply to all outstanding obligations during the occurrence and continuance of an 

event of default. In accordance with ASC 815, the Company concluded that this feature is in compliance with all covenants not clearly 

and closely related to the host instrument and represents an embedded derivative (the "Term Loan Derivative Liability") that is 

required to be re-measured at fair

15

value on a quarterly basis. At the inception of the Fortress Term Loan, the fair value of the embedded derivative was determined to 

be immaterial. The fair value of the Term Loan Derivative Liability was $2.0 million as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024. The 

Company classified the Term Loan Derivative Liability as a non-current liability within Other liabilities on the balance sheet as of 

March 31, 2024.

Interest expense from August 1, 2023 through September 30, 2023 for the three months ended March 31, 2024 related to the 

Fortress Term Loan was $1.7 1.9 million, consisting of $1.5 1.6 million of contractual interest, $0.1 0.2 million amortization of the debt 

discount, and term loan accretion of $0.1 million. The average interest rate during the three months ended September 30, 

2023 March 31, 2024 was 14.94%.

Scheduled future maturities of the Fortress Term Loan for years subsequent to September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 are as 

follows (in thousands):

19

December 31, 2023   $ —  

December 31, 2024     —     $ —  

December 31, 2025     —       —  

December 31, 2026     12,500       8,979  

December 31, 2027     47,500       34,121  

  $ 60,000     $ 43,100  
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Convertible Notes

2021 Convertible Notes

In December 2021, the Company entered into a convertible note purchase agreement with investors for gross proceeds of $2.0 

million with a stated interest rate of 5.0% per annum (the “2021 Convertible Notes”) and a maturity date 36 months from the date of 

issuance unless previously converted pursuant to their terms of the agreement. No issuance costs were incurred.

The 2021 Convertible Notes provide provided that, effective upon either a Special Purpose Acquisition Company (i.e. 

“deSPAC”) transaction, closing of a qualified financing, or closing of a non-qualified financing, all of the outstanding principal and 

interest would automatically convert into common shares or shares of the same class or series of capital stock issued in the qualified 

financing in an amount equal to the balance of the 2021 Convertible Notes on the date of conversion divided by the capped 

conversion price, which is calculated by dividing $600.0 million by the fully diluted capitalization of the Company immediately prior to 

the conversion of the 2021 Convertible Notes.

Interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2023 related to the 2021 Convertible 

Notes was less than $0.1 million, and $0.1 million, respectively, consisting entirely of contractual interest. Interest expense for the 

three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 was less than $0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively, consisting entirely of 

contractual interest. Interest expense related to the 2021 Convertible Notes is recorded within Interest expense net on the 

condensed consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. operations. On August 1, 2023, in connection with the 

closing of the Business Combination, the outstanding 2021 Convertible Notes were converted into an aggregate 133,617 shares of 

Allurion Common Stock with a corresponding recognition of APIC of $2.2 million, and are no longer outstanding.

2022 Convertible Notes

In January 2022, the Company entered into a convertible note purchase agreement with investors for gross proceeds of $1.1 

million with a stated interest rate of 5.0% per annum (the “2022 Convertible Notes”). The 2022 Convertible Notes were to mature 36 

months from the issuance date unless previously converted pursuant to the terms of the agreement. Issuance costs were de minimis. 

The 2022 Convertible Notes have had the same terms as the 2021 Convertible Notes.

Interest expense for each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 

related to the 2022 Convertible Notes was less than $0.1 million, consisting entirely of contractual interest. Interest expense related 

to the 2022 Convertible Notes is recorded within Interest expense net on the condensed consolidated statement of operations and 

comprehensive loss. operations. On August 1, 2023, in connection with the closing of the Business Combination, the outstanding 

2022 Convertible Notes were converted into an aggregate 83,216 shares of Allurion Common Stock with a corresponding recognition 

of APIC of $1.2 million, and are no longer outstanding.

2023 Convertible Notes

Between February and August 2023, the Company entered into a convertible note purchase agreement, and related side 

letters, for the sale of the 2023 convertible notes (the "2023 Convertible Notes Notes") to certain investors for gross proceeds of 

$28.7 million, with a stated interest rate of 7.0% per annum. The 2023 Convertible Notes provided that they would mature on 

December 31, 2026 unless previously converted pursuant to the terms of their the note purchase agreement. The 2023 Convertible 

Notes provide also provided that, effective upon a deSPAC transaction, all of the outstanding principal and interest would 

automatically convert into a number of shares of common stock equal to the balance of the 2023 Convertible Notes on the date of 
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conversion divided by the discounted capped conversion price, which is calculated by dividing $217.3 million by the fully diluted 

capitalization of the Company immediately prior to the conversion of the 2023 Convertible Notes.

Additionally, the 2023 Convertible Notes provide provided that, effective upon the closing of a qualified financing, holders of the 

2023 Convertible Notes could optionally accelerate repayment of the principal and interest of the 2023 Convertible Notes or convert 

all of the outstanding principal and interest into common shares or shares of the same class or series of capital stock issued in the 

qualified

16

financing equal to the balance of the 2023 Convertible Notes on the date of conversion divided by the greater of the capped price or 

the discounted price. The capped price is calculated by dividing $260.0 million by the fully diluted capitalization of the Company 

immediately prior to the conversion of the 2023 Convertible Notes, and the discounted price is calculated as 85% of the cash price of 

the same class or series of capital stock issued in the qualified financing. The 2023 Convertible Notes are accounted for under the 

FVO fair value option ("FVO") election of ASC 825 as the notes contain embedded derivatives, including the automatic conversion 

upon a deSPAC transaction prior to the deSPAC deadline,

20

voluntary conversion upon a qualified financing, automatic repayment upon a sale event, and conversion rate adjustment, that which 

would require bifurcation and separate accounting. These convertible notes are initially measured at their issue-date estimated fair 

value and subsequently remeasured at estimated fair value on a recurring basis at each reporting period date.

Interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2023 related to the 2023 Convertible 

Notes was $0.1 million, and $0.5 million, respectively, consisting entirely of contractual interest. Interest expense related to the 2023 

Convertible Notes is recorded within Interest expense net on the condensed consolidated statement of operations and 

comprehensive loss. operations.

On May 2, 2023 the Company entered into termination agreements (the “Termination Agreements”) with respect to side letters 

entered into with certain holders of Legacy Allurion convertible bridge notes. the 2023 Convertible Notes. With respect to the 

Termination Agreement with one of the side letter holders (the “Side Letter Holder”), the Company had the right to prepay, in one or 

more transactions, all or a portion of the outstanding principal amount, plus accrued interest, under the such holder's 2023 

Convertible Note (the “Side Letter Holder Bridge Note”), including by way of (a) a $2 million payment in cash by the Company to the 

Side Letter Holder on May 2, 2023, $1.5 million of which is deemed a prepayment penalty and recorded as other expense on the 

income statement, with the remaining $0.5 million recorded as a reduction of the principal amount, (b) immediately prior to the 

consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement, an additional payment of at least $6 

million, up to the then-outstanding principal amount, plus accrued interest, under the Side Letter Holder Bridge Note by way of (i) 

payment in cash by the Company and/or (ii) the sale and transfer of all or any portion of the Side Letter Holder Bridge Note, 

equivalent in value to the portion of the additional payment to be repaid pursuant to this clause (b)(ii), to any person or persons 

designated in writing by the Company. The Termination Agreements were accounted for as a modification of debt and the modified 
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convertible notes continued to be accounted for under the FVO with any change in fair value recognized in other expense on the 

income statement.

In addition, under the Termination Agreement executed with the Side Letter Holder, the Company agreed to issue to the Side 

Letter Holder a number of shares of Allurion Common Stock (“PubCo Additional Shares”) equal to (a) the outstanding principal and 

accrued interest under the Side Letter Holder Bridge Note immediately prior to the consummation of the transactions contemplated 

by the Business Combination Agreement (after giving effect to the payment of the repayments) divided by $5.00, plus (b) 300,000 

shares of Allurion Common Stock. The PubCo Additional Shares were accounted for as a freestanding financing liability. The liability 

for the PubCo Additional Shares is was initially measured at its issue-date estimated fair value and subsequently remeasured at fair 

value at each reporting period, with changes in fair value reflected in earnings until the PubCo Additional Shares are were issued. A 

$3.4 million liability was recorded at issuance for the PubCo Additional Shares as Other liabilities on the balance sheet at September 

30, 2023 and the related expense recorded through Other (expense) income on the condensed consolidated statement of operations 

and comprehensive loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2023. sheet. On August 1, 2023, upon closing of the Business 

Combination, the Side Letter Holder was issued 387,696 PubCo Additional Shares with a corresponding recognition of APIC of $2.7 

million, and the liability is no longer outstanding.

Further on May 2, 2023, RTW and Fortress (the “Backstop Purchasers”) entered into the Backstop Agreement with the 

Company, Legacy Allurion and the Side Letter Holder. Pursuant to the Backstop Agreement, each Backstop Purchaser agreed that to 

the extent any Side Letter Holder Bridge Notes remain remained outstanding prior to the consummation of the Business 

Combination, such Backstop Purchaser will, would, at the closing of the Business Combination, purchase up to $2.0 million of the 

Side Letter Holder Bridge Notes from the Side Letter Holder in exchange for shares of Allurion Common Stock (the “Base PubCo 

Shares”, “Backstop Shares” and “Conditional Additional PubCo Shares”). The Base PubCo Shares and Backstop Shares were 

accounted for as a freestanding financing liability. The Base PubCo Shares and Backstop Shares liability is was initially measured at 

its issue-date estimated fair value and subsequently remeasured at fair value at each reporting period with changes in fair value 

reflected in earnings until the Base PubCo Shares and Backstop Shares are were issued. A $3.3 million liability was recorded at 

issuance for the Base PubCo Shares and Backstop Shares liability as Other liabilities on the balance sheet at September 30, 

2023. sheet. On August 1, 2023, upon closing of the Business Combination, per the terms of the Fortress Term Loan, the Amended 

and Restated RTW Side Letter and Backstop Agreement, the Backstop Purchasers were each issued 950,000 shares of Allurion 

Common Stock with a corresponding recognition of APIC of $13.4 million, and the liability is no longer outstanding.

On August 1, 2023, immediately prior to the closing of the Business Combination, the Company repaid $6.3 million of the Side 

Letter Holder Bridge Note, leaving a principal balance of $6.3 million. Each Backstop Purchaser then (a) purchased $2.0 million 

principal amount of the outstanding portion of the Side Letter Holder Bridge Note, (b) Allurion canceled the existing Side Letter 

Holder Bridge Note and issued a new convertible note to the Side Letter Holder for the remaining balance together with all unpaid 

interest accrued since the date of issuance of $2.7 million, (c) Allurion issued convertible notes to each Backstop Purchaser with an 

issuance date of the Closing Date (August 1, 2023) and an original principal amount of $2.0 million each, and (d) Allurion issued 

700,000 shares of Allurion Common Stock to each Backstop Purchaser. Additionally, the outstanding 2023 Convertible Notes were 

converted into an aggregate

17
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3,084,389 shares of Allurion Common Stock with a corresponding recognition of APIC of $22.2 million, and are no longer 

outstanding.

21

 

9. Revenue Interest Financing, Side Letter, and PIPE Conversion Option

On February 9, 2023, Legacy Allurion entered into the Revenue Interest Financing Agreement. Pursuant to the Revenue 

Interest Financing, at the closing of the Business Combination, RTW paid Allurion an aggregate of $40.0 million Investment Amount. 

In exchange for the Investment Amount, Allurion will remit revenue interest payments on all current and future products, digital 

solutions and services developed, imported, manufactured, marketed, offered for sale, promoted, sold, tested or otherwise 

distributed by Allurion and its subsidiaries at a rate up to 6.0% of annual net sales prior to December 31, 2026. On or after January 1, 

2027, the Company will remit revenue interest payments at a rate up to 10.0% of annual net sales, and it will continue to make 

revenue interest payments to RTW until December 31, 2030.

If RTW has not received aggregate revenue interest payments equal to at least 100% of the Investment Amount by December 

31, 2027, the Company must make a cash payment in an amount sufficient to catch RTW up to 100% of the Investment Amount. If 

RTW has not received revenue interest payments equal to at least 240% of the Investment Amount by December 31, 2030, the 

Company must make a cash payment in an amount sufficient to catch RTW up to 240% of the Investment Amount. In any event, 

RTW shall not receive aggregated revenue interest payments in excess of 260% of the Investment Amount (the "Hard Cap"). In 

addition, prior to December 31, 2025, the Company may prepay a pre-specified payment amount (the "Prepayment Amount") and 

terminate the Revenue Interest Financing Agreement. The Prepayment Amount shall be an amount equal to 165% of the Investment 

Amount less the sum of all revenue interest payments made to RTW prior to such date of prepayment. On April 14, 2024, the 

Revenue Interest Financing Agreement was amended in connection with the Amended Note Purchase Agreement (as defined 

below) and the Fortress Term Loan refinancing. Refer to Note 19, Subsequent Events for additional information regarding the 

Amended Note Purchase Agreement and Fortress Term Loan refinancing.

The Revenue Interest Financing is accounted for under the FVO election of ASC 825 as the Revenue Interest Financing 

contains embedded derivatives, including the requirements to settle the Revenue Interest Financing prior to maturity upon the 

occurrence of certain contingent events and our ability to prepay the Revenue Interest Financing, that which would require bifurcation 

and separate accounting. The Revenue Interest Financing is initially measured at its issue-date estimated fair value and 

subsequently remeasured at estimated fair value on a recurring basis at each reporting period date. Changes in fair value are 

recorded as a component of Other (expense) income in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. A portion of the 

estimated change in fair value must be reported in other comprehensive loss to the extent that it is attributable to instrument-specific 

credit risk. For the three months ended March 31, 2024, the Company recorded a $3.4 million gain and a $2.2 million loss through 

the condensed consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive income (loss), respectively. In connection with the 

issuance of the Investment Amount, we paid $1.2 million in issuance costs, which were directly expensed through general and 

administrative expense due to the FVO election. As of March 31, 2024, the Company has made $1.1 million in royalty payments to 

RTW. Refer to Note 10, Fair Value Measurements, for additional information regarding the changes in fair value of the Revenue 

Interest Financing.
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Concurrently and in connection with the Revenue Interest Financing and PIPE Subscription Agreement (as discussed in Note 

3, Organization and Description of Business  Combination), on February 9, 2023, Legacy Allurion entered into the RTW Side Letter 

with RTW, subsequently amended on May 2, 2023. The Amended and Restated RTW Side Letter amended and restated the existing 

RTW Side Letter in its entirety, in order to reflect that any conditional additional shares issuable to RTW would be calculated net of 

any Backstop Shares issuable to RTW under the Backstop Agreement. Refer to Note 8, Debt for discussion around regarding the 

additional shares issued to RTW in connection with the Amended and Restated RTW Side Letter and Backstop Agreement.

In connection with the Company entering into the Revenue Interest Financing, if, at any time beginning 12 months and ending 

24 months following the closing of the Mergers, the volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) VWAP per share of Allurion Common 

Stock is less than $7.04 for the average of 20 trading days within any 30 trading day period (“Stock Price Drop”); and the absolute 

value of the percentage decrease of such Stock Price Drop measured from a reference price of $10.00 per share of Allurion 

Common Stock is greater than the absolute value of the percentage decrease in the VWAP of a comparable publicly traded peer 

index as defined in the Amended and Restated RTW Side Letter over the same time period, then RTW may elect to convert up to 

$7.5 million of its initial PIPE subscription into additional revenue interest financing to be added to the Investment Amount by 

forfeiting a number of shares of Allurion Common Stock acquired in the PIPE subscription. Such additions to the Investment Amount 

would result in proportional increases to the minimum aggregate revenue interest payments described above. The PIPE Conversion 

Option is accounted for as a derivative under ASC 815. The PIPE Conversion Option was initially measured at its issue-date 

estimated fair value of $3.3 million within Other liabilities on the condensed consolidated balance sheets with corresponding 

recognition of expense at inception as there is no right received by the Company that meets the definition of an asset and the 

transaction did not involve a distribution or a dividend. The PIPE Conversion Option liability is subsequently remeasured at its 

estimated fair value on a recurring basis at each reporting period date, with a gain or loss recognized within Other (expense) income.

The components of the Company’s Revenue Interest Financing consisted of the following (in thousands): 18

 

September 30,


2023  

Revenue Interest Financing liability   $ 40,000  

Total principal amounts of debt     40,000  

Less: Change in fair value of debt     (3,400 )

Long-term Revenue Interest Financing liability   $ 36,600  

22

10. Fair Value Measurements

The following tables present the fair value hierarchy for the Company's assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 

issuance date and on a recurring basis and indicate the level within the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques the Company 

utilized to determine such fair value (in thousands):
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Fair Value Measurement as of September 30, 2023  

Fair Value Measurement as of March 

31, 2024

Fair Value Measurement as of March 31, 2024  

 

Total 

Carrying


Value    

Level 

1    

Lev

el 2    

Level 

3    

Total Carrying


Value     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3  

Assets:                                                

Cash equivalents                                                

Money market funds

  $

70,84

3     $

70,

843     $ —     $ —     $ 23,049     $ 23,049     $ —     $ —  

Total assets

  $

70,84

3     $

70,

843     $ —     $ —     $ 23,049     $ 23,049     $ —     $ —  

Liabilities:                                                

Legacy Allurion Common 

Stock Warrant Liabilities   $ 922     $ —     $ —     $ 922     $ 304     $ —     $ —     $ 304  

Public Warrants

   

12,01

8      

12,

018       —       —       3,329       3,329       —       —  

Revenue Interest Financing

   

36,60

0       —       —      

36,

600       35,000       —       —       35,000  

PIPE Conversion Option

    5,440       —       —      

5,4

40       7,510       —       —       7,510  

Earn-out Liability

   

28,71

0       —       —      

28,

710       9,800       —       —       9,800  

Term Loan Derivative Liability     1,957       —       —       1,957  

Success Fee Derivative 

Liability     12       —       —       12       14       —       —       14  

Total Liabilities

  $

83,70

2     $

12,

018     $ —     $

71,

684     $ 57,914     $ 3,329     $ —     $ 54,585  

 
Fair Value Measurement as of December 31, 2022  

 

Total Carrying


Value     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3  

Assets:                        

Cash equivalents                        

Money market funds   $ 4,925     $ 4,925     $ —     $ —  

Total assets   $ 4,925     $ 4,925     $ —     $ —  

Liabilities:                        
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Series C Common Stock Warrant Liability   $ 340     $ —     $ —     $ 340  

Series B Preferred Stock Warrant Liability     303       —       —       303  

Series A-1 Preferred Stock Warrant Liability     82       —       —       82  

Other Common Stock Warrant Liabilities     255       —       —       255  

Series C Preferred Stock Warrant Liability     684       —       —       684  

Derivative Liability—Success Fee     180       —       —       180  

Series D-1 Preferred Stock Warrant Liability     707       —       —       707  

Total Liabilities   $ 2,551     $ —     $ —     $ 2,551  

Fair Value Measurement as of December 31, 2023  

 

Total Carrying


Value     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3  

Assets:                        

Cash equivalents                        

Money market funds   $ 30,582     $ 30,582     $ —     $ —  

Total assets   $ 30,582     $ 30,582     $ —     $ —  

Liabilities:                        

Legacy Allurion Common Stock Warrant Liabilities   $ 821     $ —     $ —     $ 821  

Public Warrants     5,943       5,943       —       —  

Revenue Interest Financing     36,200       —       —       36,200  

PIPE Conversion Option     5,600       —       —       5,600  

Earn-out Liability     23,990       —       —       23,990  

Term Loan Derivative Liability     1,895       —       —       1,895  

Success Fee Derivative Liability     14       —       —       14  

Total Liabilities   $ 74,463     $ 5,943     $ —     $ 68,520  

 

Public Warrants

As a result of the Business Combination on August 1, 2023, the Company recorded a liability for Public Warrants to purchase 

the Company's Common Stock. The Public Warrants are traded on the NYSE and are recorded at fair value using the closing price 

as September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 of $0.91 0.25, which is a Level 1 input.

23

Legacy Allurion Warrants

The Company has classified the warrants Legacy Allurion Common Stock Warrants within Level 3 of the hierarchy as the fair 

value is derived using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which uses a combination of observable (Level 2) and unobservable 
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(Level 3) inputs. See table below for the assumptions used in the pricing model of the Legacy Allurion common stock 

warrants: Common Stock Warrants:

 

  Measurement


Date

  Interest


Rate

    Exercise


Price

   

Estimated 

Fair Value of 

Underlying 

Share Price

    Expected


Volatility

   

Expected


Life


(Years)

 

Legacy Allurion Series C Preferred 

Stock


warrants (as converted to Common)   September 30, 2023     4.61 %   $ 6.73     $ 4.30       90 %     7.50  

Other Common Stock   September 30, 2023     4.71 %     1.05       4.30       90 %     3.94  

Legacy Allurion Series D-1 

Preferred Stock


warrants (as converted to Common)   September 30, 2023   4.60-4.61%       12.14       4.30       90 %   7.50-8.96  

19

 

Measurement


Date  

Interest


Rate    

Exercise


Price    

Estimated 

Fair Value of 

Underlying 

Share Price    

Expected


Volatility    

Expected


Life


(Years)  

Legacy Allurion Series C 

Preferred Stock


warrants (as converted to 

Common)   March 31, 2024     4.20 %   $ 6.73     $ 1.75       90 %     7.00  

Other Common Stock   March 31, 2024     4.36 %     1.05       1.75       90 %     3.44  

Legacy Allurion Series D-1 

Preferred Stock


warrants (as converted to 

Common)   March 31, 2024     4.20 %     12.14       1.75       90 %   7.00-8.46  

 

 

Measurement


Date  

Interest


Rate    

Exercise


Price    

Estimated 

Fair Value 

of 

Underlying 

Share Price    

Expected


Volatility    

Expected


Life


(Years)  
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Legacy Alluiron Series A-1 Preferred 

Stock


   warrants (as converted to Rollover 

warrants)

  December 31, 2022     4.42 %     1.90     $ 6.75       69 %     0.25  

Legacy Allurion Series B Preferred 

Stock


   warrants (as converted to Rollover 

warrants)   December 31, 2022     4.41 %     2.38       6.91       65 %     2.00  

Legacy Allurion Series C Common 

Stock


   warrants (as converted to Rollover 

Warrants)   December 31, 2022     4.11 %     0.01       4.54       63 %     4.00  

Legacy Allurion Series C Preferred 

Stock


   warrants (as converted to Rollover 

warrants)   December 31, 2022     3.92 %     6.58       7.24       63 %     8.20  

Other Common Stock Warrants

  December 31, 2022     3.99 %  

1.02 - 

1.10       4.54       63 %   4.6 - 4.7  

Legacy Allurion Series D-1 Preferred 

Stock


   warrants (as converted to Rollover 

warrants)   December 31, 2022   3.88 - 3.92%       11.87       11.31       63 %   8.2 - 9.7  

 

Measurement


Date  

Interest


Rate  

Exercise


Price    

Estimated 

Fair Value of 

Underlying 

Share Price    

Expected


Volatility    

Expected


Life


(Years)  

Legacy Allurion Series C 

Preferred Stock warrants (as 

converted to Common)   December 31, 2023   3.88%     6.73     $ 3.74       100 %     7.25  

Other Common Stock   December 31, 2023   3.95%     1.05       3.74       100 %     3.69  

Legacy Allurion Series D-1 

Preferred Stock warrants (as 

converted to Common)   December 31, 2023   3.88%     12.14       3.74       100 %   7.25-8.71  

 
Expected dividend yield for all calculations is 0.00%.

 

The following table reconciles the changes in fair value for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 

2024 and 2022 2023 of the warrant liabilities valued using Level 3 inputs:
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Preferred Stock Warrants (as 

converted to Common)     Common Stock Warrants     Total  

Balance – June 30, 2022   $ 656     $ 198     $ 854  

Fair value upon issuance     687       —       687  

Change in fair value     (64 )     (3 )     (67 )

Exercise of warrants     (3 )     —       (3 )

Balance – September 30, 2022   $ 1,276     $ 195     $ 1,471  

Balance – June 30, 2023   $ 2,679     $ 1,351     $ 4,030  

Change in fair value     (1,571 )     (555 )     (2,126 )

Exercise of warrants     (53 )     —       (53 )

Derecognition of liability to equity     (340 )     (589 )     (929 )

Balance – September 30, 2023   $ 715     $ 207     $ 922  

24

 

Preferred Stock 

Warrants (as 

converted to 

Common)    

Common 

Stock 

Warrants    

Tot

al     Preferred Stock Warrants (as converted to Common)     Common Stock Warrants     Total  

Balance – 

January 1, 

2022   $ 510     $ 231     $

7

4

1  

Fair value 

upon 

issuance     834       —      

8

3

4  

Change in 

fair value

    (65 )     (36 )    

(

1

0

1 )

Exercise of 

warrants     (3 )     —      

(

3 )

Balance – 

September 

30, 2022

  $ 1,276     $ 195     $

1,

4

7

1  
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Balance – 

January 1, 

2023

  $ 1,777     $ 596     $

2,

3

7

3     $ 1,777     $ 596     $ 2,373  

Change in 

fair value

    (647 )     200      

(

4

4

7 )     826       649       1,475  

Exercise of 

warrants

    (75 )     —      

(

7

5 )     (18 )     —       (18 )

Derecognitio

n of liability 

to equity

    (340 )     (589 )    

(

9

2

9 )

Balance – 

September 

30, 2023   $ 715     $ 207     $

9

2

2  

Balance – 

March 31, 

2023   $ 2,585     $ 1,245     $ 3,830  

Balance – 

January 1, 

2024   $ 642     $ 179     $ 821  

Change in 

fair value     (409 )     (108 )     (517 )

Balance – 

March 31, 

2024   $ 233     $ 71     $ 304  

2019 Term Loan Success Fee Derivative Liability

The derivative liability for the success fee associated with Legacy Allurion's November 2019 loan and security agreement with 

Western Alliance Bank (the "2019 Term Loan" and such fee, the "Success Fee") was recorded at fair value as of September 30, 

2023 March 31, 2024 using the following assumptions: weighted-average probability for the likelihood of a change in control or 

liquidity event within four years from the initial valuation date of the derivative liability and a market-based discount rate that will 

increase or decrease each period based on changes in the probability in the future cash flows.

2023 Convertible Notes
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The 2023 Convertible Notes were accounted for using the FVO election. Under the FVO election, the financial instrument is 

initially measured at its issue-date estimated fair value and subsequently re-measured at estimated fair value on a recurring basis at 

each reporting period date. The fair value was measured as of August 1, 2023, just prior to the conversion of the notes, using the 

share price at conversion ($7.04 per share). Upon the conversion of the notes, the convertible note liability was derecognized.

PubCo Additional Shares Liability

The PubCo Additional Shares liability was initially recorded at fair value as of May 2, 2023 and revalued as of August 1, 2023, 

just prior to the close of the Business Combination, using the number of shares issued at the close of the Business Combination of 

387,696 and estimated price of shares at settlement of $7.04. Upon the issuance of shares, the PubCo Additional Shares liability 

was derecognized.

Base PubCo Shares and Backstop Shares Liability

The Base PubCo Shares and Backstop Shares liability was initially recorded at fair value as of May 2, 2023 and revalued as of 

August 1, 2023, just prior to the close of the Business Combination, using the number of shares for each Backstop Purchaser at the 

close of the Business Combination of 950,000 and estimated price of shares at settlement of $7.04. Upon the issuance of shares, the 

Base PubCo Shares and Backstop Shares liability was derecognized.

Revenue Interest Financing and PIPE Conversion Option

The Revenue Interest Financing was is accounted for using the FVO election. Under the FVO election, the financial instrument 

is initially measured at its issue-date estimated fair value and subsequently remeasured at estimated fair value on a recurring basis 

at each reporting period date. The fair value of the Revenue Interest Financing was remeasured as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 

2024 using a discounted cash flow ("DCF") method under the income approach utilizing future revenue projections and a discount 

rate of 25.6 26.8%.

20

The fair value of the PIPE Conversion Option was accounted for as a derivative under ASC 815. The instrument is measured 

using a Monte Carlo Simulation Method using the number of shares convertible of 1,065,341 and the following assumptions:

 

 

September 

30, March 

31,


2023 2024  

Stock Price

   

4.30 1.7

5  

Risk-free interest rate     5.1 4.9 %

Expected term (in years)     1.8 1.3  
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Expected volatility     90.0 100

.0

%

Earn-Out Liability

Upon the closing of the Business Combination, the Earn-Out Shares were accounted for as a liability because the triggering 

events that determine the number of shares to be earned included events that were not indexed to Allurion Common Stock, with the 

change in fair value recognized in Change in the estimated fair value of earn-out liabilities in the consolidated statement of 

operations.

25

The estimated fair value of the earn-out shares Earn-Out Shares was determined using a Monte Carlo Simulation Method using the 

following assumptions at the valuation date:

 

 

Septembe

r 

30, March 

31,


2023 2024  

Stock Price

   

4.30 1.7

5  

Risk-free interest rate     4.6 4.3 %

Expected term (in years)     4.8 4.3  

Expected volatility

   

84.0 10

2.0 %

Term Loan Derivative Liability

The Term Loan derivative liability associated with the Fortress Term Loan was recorded at fair value as of March 31, 2024 

using a DCF model that includes default interest payments expected to be made based on future revenue projections and cash flow 

assumptions and a discount rate of 26.8%.

The changes in the fair values of the success fee Success Fee derivative liability, 2023 Convertible Notes, PubCo Additional 

Shares liability, Base PubCo Shares and Backstop Shares liability, Revenue Interest Financing, PIPE Conversion Option and Earn-

out liability categorized with Level 3 inputs for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 

were as follows:

 

Success 

Fee 

Derivative 

Liability    

2023


Convertible


Notes    

PubCo 

Share


Liability    

Base 

PubCo


& Backstop


Share


Liability    

Revenue 

Interest


 Financing    

PIPE 

Conversion 

Derivative    

Earn-Out


Liability     Total  

Balance – June 30, 2022   $ 159     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ 159  
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Change in fair value     14       —       —       —       —       —       —       14  

Balance – September 30, 2022   $ 173     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ 173  

Balance – June 30, 2023   $ 213     $ 16,793     $ 3,327     $ 3,305     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ 23,638  

Fair value upon issuance     —       9,150       —       —       40,000       3,340       53,040       105,530  

Change in fair value     (201 )     6,008       (599 )     10,065       (3,400 )     2,100       (24,330 )     (10,357 )

Repayments of debt     —       (10,250 )     —       —       —       —       —       (10,250 )

Derecognition of liability to 

equity     —       (21,701 )     (2,728 )     (13,370 )     —       —       —       (37,799 )

Balance – September 30, 2023   $ 12     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ 36,600     $ 5,440     $ 28,710       70,762  

 

Su

cce

ss 

Fee 

Der

ivat

ive 

Lia

bilit

y    

202

3


Co

nve

rtib

le


Not

es    

Pu

bC

o 

Sh

are


Lia

bilit

y    

Ba

se 

Pu

bC

o


& 

Ba

cks

top


Sh

are


Lia

bilit

y    

Re

ven

ue 

Inte

res

t


 Fin

anc

ing    

PIP

E 

Co

nve

rsi

on 

Der

ivat

ive    

Ear

n-

Out


Lia

bilit

y    

To

tal    

Success 

Fee 

Derivative 

Liability    

2023


Convertible


Notes    

Revenue 

Interest


 Financing    

PIPE 

Conversion 

Derivative    

Earn-Out


Liability    

Term 

Loan 

Derivative 

Liability     Total  

Balance – 

January 1, 

2022   $

1

5

9     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $

1

5

9  

Change in 

fair value    

1

4       —       —       —       —       —       —      

1

4  

Balance – 

September 

30, 2022   $

1

7

3     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $

1

7

3  

Balance – 

January 1, 

2023   $

1

7

8     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $

1

7

8     $ 178     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ 178  

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

53/168

Fair value 

upon 

issuance

    —     $

2

8,

7

0

0      

3,

3

7

0      

3,

2

6

4      

4

0,

0

0

0      

3,

3

4

0      

5

3,

0

4

0      

1

3

1

,

7

1

4       —       13,600     $ —       —       —       —       13,600  

Change in 

fair value

   

(1

6

6 )    

3,

7

5

1      

(6

4

2 )    

1

0,

1

0

6      

(3

,4

0

0 )    

2,

1

0

0      

(2

4,

3

3

0 )    

(

1

2

,

5

8

1 )     29       —       —       —       —       —       29  

Balance 

– March 

31, 2023   $ 207     $ 13,600     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ 13,807  

Balance 

– 

January 

1, 2024   $ 14     $ —     $ 36,200     $ 5,600     $ 23,990     $ 1,895     $ 67,699  

Fair 

value 

upon 

issuance     —       —       —       —       —       —       —  

Change 

in fair 

value     —       —       (3,400 )     1,910       (14,190 )     62       (15,618 )

Change 

in fair 

value - 

OCI     —       —       2,200       —       —       —       2,200  

Repaymen

ts of debt

    —      

(1

0,

7

5

0 )     —       —       —       —       —      

(

1

0

,

7

5

0 )     —       —       —       —       —       —       —  
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Derecognit

ion of 

liability to 

equity

    —      

(2

1,

7

0

1 )    

(2

,7

2

8 )    

(1

3,

3

7

0 )     —       —       —      

(

3

7

,

7

9

9 )

Balance – 

September 

30, 2023

  $

1

2     $ —     $ —     $ —     $

3

6,

6

0

0     $

5,

4

4

0     $

2

8,

7

1

0     $

7

0

,

7

6

2  

Balance 

– March 

31, 2024   $ 14     $ —     $ 35,000     $ 7,510     $ 9,800     $ 1,957     $ 54,281  

 

The change in fair value of the success fee Success Fee derivative liabilities, liability, 2023 Convertible Notes, PubCo 

Additional Shares liability, Base PubCo Shares and Backstop Shares liability, Revenue Interest Financing, PIPE Conversion Option, 

and Earn-Out liability at each period is recorded as a component of Other (expense) income in the condensed consolidated 

statements of operations, and with the exception of the change in fair value associated with the change in credit risk related to the 

Revenue Interest Financing, which is recorded as a component of other comprehensive loss.

Assets and Liabilities Not Carried at Fair Value

The Company's Fortress Term Loan is carried at amortized cost. The fair value of the Fortress Term Loan was estimated to be 

$41.0 million on March 31, 2024. The fair value was determined using a DCF approach. We classified the fair value disclosures for 

the Fortress Term Loan within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy because the fair value is derived using a significant unobservable 

input, which includes a discount rate.

21

11. Income Taxes

The Company recorded income tax expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 

2023 of less than $0.1 million and $0.1 million respectively, representing effective tax rates of (0.2%) and (0.1%), respectively. 

Income tax expense for both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 was $0.1 million, representing effective tax rates 
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of (0.7 1.3%) and (0.4 0.2%), respectively. The tax expense recorded relates to the earnings of the Company’s profitable foreign 

subsidiaries.

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, the Company maintained a full valuation allowance against its net 

deferred tax assets as the Company has incurred significant operating losses since inception and has concluded that its net deferred 

tax asset is not more-likely-than-not realizable.

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, the Company has notnot recorded tax reserves for any uncertain 

tax provisions.

26

12. Capital Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit

The Allurion certificate Certificate of incorporation Incorporation authorizes the issuance of up to 100,000,000 shares of Allurion 

preferred stock. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, no shares of Allurion preferred stock were outstanding.

Legacy Allurion Preferred Equity

In connection with the Business Combination, the Legacy Allurion preferred stock was retroactively adjusted and converted 

into Allurion Common Stock as a result of the reverse recapitalization. As of September 30, 2023 there is no Legacy Allurion 

preferred stock authorized, issued, or outstanding. The following table summarizes details of Legacy Allurion Preferred Stock 

authorized, issued, and outstanding immediately prior to the Business Combination (in thousands, except share amounts): 

 

Preferred Stock


Authorized    

Preferred Stock


Issued and


Outstanding    

Carrying


Value  

Series A Preferred Stock     2,276,786       2,276,786     $ 1,542  

Series A-1 Preferred Stock     1,513,028       1,486,048       2,842  

Series B Preferred Stock     2,298,929       2,245,515       5,253  

Series C Preferred Stock     8,113,616       7,927,446       39,122  

Series D-1 Preferred Stock     1,684,565       842,283       9,614  

Series D-2 Preferred Stock     3,644,616       3,644,616       24,054  

Series D-3 Preferred Stock     1,498,348       1,498,348       14,789  

Total     21,029,888       19,921,042     $ 97,216  

Voting Rights

The Legacy Allurion preferred stockholders voted as a single class together with holders of all other classes and series of stock 

of Legacy Allurion on all actions to be taken by the stockholders of the Company. The Legacy Allurion preferred stockholders were 

entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of shares of Legacy Allurion common stock into which the shares held by each 

holder were then convertible. The Legacy Allurion Series C Preferred Stockholders were entitled to elect two members of the Board 

of Directors, and the Legacy Allurion common stockholders were entitled to elect four members of the Board of Directors.

Dividend Rights
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All Legacy Allurion preferred stock participated in dividends with Legacy Allurion common stock on an as-converted basis 

when declared by the Board of Directors. The Legacy Allurion preferred stockholders were entitled to receive dividends, when and if 

declared, on a pro rata pari passu basis according to the number of shares of Legacy Allurion common stock held by such holder. 

The Legacy Allurion Series D preferred stockholders were also entitled to a cumulative dividend that accrues at the rate of 6% per 

annum. The dividend accrued on a daily basis from and including the issuance date of such shares, whether or not declared. 

Through the date of the Business Combination, no dividends had been declared.

Liquidation Preference

In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up of Legacy Allurion, before any payment were 

to be made to the holders of common stock, the holders of shares of Legacy Allurion preferred stock then outstanding were entitled 

to be paid out of the funds and assets available for distribution to Legacy Allurion’s stockholders, on a pari passu basis, an amount 

per share equal to (i) the Legacy Allurion Series A, Series A-1, Series B and Series C preferred stock, a per share liquidation 

preference equal to $1.092, $2.850, $3.563 and $4.935, respectively, plus any accruing dividends accrued but unpaid, whether or not 

declared and (ii) the Legacy Allurion Series D-1, Series D-2, and Series D-3 preferred stock, a per share liquidation preference equal 

to $17.809, $9.338, and $15.137, respectively, plus any accruing dividends accrued but unpaid, whether or not declared provided, 

that, if Legacy Allurion achieved a revenue milestone of $65.0 million in a trailing twelve month period (the “Milestone”), then in lieu of 

the foregoing, the holders of the Legacy Allurion Series D-1, Series D-2, and Series D-3 Preferred Stock were entitled to receive an 

amount per share equal to $11.8725, $6.2256 and $10.0916, respectively, plus any accruing dividends accrued but unpaid, whether 

or not declared (collectively, the “Preferred Stock Preference”). After payment of the Preferred Stock Preference, the funds and 

assets available for distribution to Legacy Allurion's stockholders, if any, would be initially distributed on a pro rata basis to the 

holders of common stock in Legacy Allurion in proportion to the number of shares of common stock held at an amount per share 

equal to 150% of the Original Issue Price of the Legacy Allurion Series A Preferred Stock ($1.092), plus any dividends declared but 

unpaid thereon (the “First Catchup Amount”). Any remaining funds and assets available for distribution to Legacy Allurion 

stockholders, if any, after the First Catchup Amount will then be distributed on a pro rata basis to the holders of common stock and 

preferred stock in proportion to the number of shares of common stock or preferred stock held.

27

Conversion Rights

Each share of Legacy Allurion preferred stock was convertible at any time, at the option of the holder, into one share of Legacy 

Allurion common stock, based upon a per share conversion factor of each series’ applicable original issuance prices, adjustable for 

certain dilutive events. Conversion was mandatory upon the closing of an IPO or deSPAC transaction, or upon the election of the 

holders of a majority of the then-outstanding Legacy Allurion preferred stock.

Redemption

The holders of Legacy Allurion Series A, Series A-1, Series B, Series D-1, Series D-2, and Series D-3 preferred stock were not 

entitled to any redemption rights, other than those under their liquidation rights discussed above. Upon the election of the holders of 

a majority of shares of the Legacy Allurion Series C preferred stock, up to 50% of the outstanding shares of Legacy Allurion Series C 

preferred stock were redeemable at a price equal to 1.5 times the original issuance price, plus all declared, but unpaid dividends 

thereon, on a pro rata basis in an equal semiannual portion, after January 17, 2022. The Legacy Allurion Series C contingent 

redemption upon a deemed liquidation event resulted in mezzanine equity classification (outside of permanent equity) on the 

Company’s consolidated balance sheet.
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Common Equity

The Allurion certificate Certificate of incorporation Incorporation authorizes the issuance of up to 1,000,000,000 shares of 

Allurion Common Stock. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 

47,460,941 47,898,737 and 27,079,856 47,688,096 shares of Common Stock were outstanding, respectively, after retrospectively 

adjusting for the effect of the reverse recapitalization.

The number of shares of Common Stock that have been reserved for issuance upon the potential conversion or exercise, as 

applicable, of the Company’s securities as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, is as follows:

 
Outstanding options to purchase common stock

 

  4,270,229 3,

928,824

 

Restricted Stock Units

   

429,321 656

,016  

Warrants to purchase preferred stock (as converted to warrants


   to purchase common stock)     138,857  

Warrants to purchase common stock

   

266,131 264

,801  

Public warrants to purchase common stock

   

18,759,838

18,759,696  

Earn-Out Shares     9,000,000  

Total

   

32,864,376

32,748,194  

 

28

Warrants to Purchase Common Stock

In connection with the closing of the Business Combination, all outstanding warrants to purchase Legacy Allurion preferred 

stock and Legacy Allurion common stock were converted into Rollover Warrants to purchase Allurion Common Stock using the 

Exchange Ratio. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, there were 404,988 403,658 such Rollover Warrants outstanding to 

purchase Common Stock. Upon the closing of the Business Combination, certain Legacy Allurion preferred stock and Legacy 

Allurion common stock warrants that were converted into Rollover Warrants were determined to be equity classified. 

 
September 30, 2023  

March 31, 

2024 March 31, 2024  
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Issuance 

Date  

Re

mai

nin

g


Co

ntr

act

ual


Ter

m


(in 

yea

rs)    

Underlyi

ng 

Equity 

Instrume

nt  

Bal

anc

e 

She

et


Cla

ssif

icat

ion  

Shar

es 

Issu

able


Upo

n 

Exer

cise


of 

Warr

ant    

Wei

ght

ed


Ave

rag

e


Exe

rcis

e


Pri

ce    

Remaining


Contractual 

Term


(in years)    

Underlying Equity 

Instrument  

Balance 

Sheet

Classification  

Shares 

Issuable


Upon Exercise


of Warrant    

Weighted


Average 

Exercise


Price  

12/1/2014    

1.

2    

Commo

n stock  

Eq

uity    

45,

60

2     $

2

.

4

3       0.7     Common stock   Equity     44,272     $ 2.44  

3/30/2021    

7.

5    

Commo

n stock  

Lia

bilit

y    

13

0,0

53      

6

.

7

3       7.0     Common stock   Liability     130,053       6.73  

9/15/2022     8.5     Common stock   Liability     45,238       12.14  

6/4/2022    

8.

7    

Commo

n stock  

Lia

bilit

y    

45,

23

8      

1

2

.

1

4       8.2     Common stock   Liability     45,238       12.14  

9/15/2022    

9.

0    

Commo

n stock  

Lia

bilit

y    

45,

23

8      

1

2

.

1

4  

1/17/2017    

3.

3    

Commo

n stock  

Eq

uity    

73,

34

9      

0

.

0

2       2.8     Common stock   Equity     73,349       0.02  

8/3/2017    

3.

8    

Commo

n stock  

Eq

uity    

9,7

79      

1

.

1

3       3.3     Common stock   Equity     9,779       1.13  
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9/8/2017    

3.

9    

Commo

n stock  

Lia

bilit

y    

28,

76

4      

1

.

0

5       3.4     Common stock   Liability     28,764       1.05  

6/19/2018    

4.

7    

Commo

n stock  

Lia

bilit

y    

17,

97

7      

1

.

0

5       4.2     Common stock   Liability     17,977       1.05  

6/25/2019    

5.

7    

Commo

n stock  

Lia

bilit

y    

8,9

88      

1

.

0

5       5.2     Common stock   Liability     8,988       1.05  

                  

40

4,9

88                 403,658        

                          

December 31, 2022  

Issuance 

Date  

Re

mai

nin

g


Co

ntr

act

ual


Ter

m


(in 

yea

rs)    

Underlyi

ng 

Equity 

Instrume

nt  

Bal

anc

e 

She

et


Cla

ssif

icat

ion  

Shar

es 

Issu

able


Upo

n 

Exer

cise


of 

Warr

ant    

Wei

ght

ed


Ave

rag

e


Exe

rcis

e


Pri

ce  

9/16/2013   0.7    

Series 

A-1 

Preferr

ed 

Stock  

Lia

bilit

y    

16,

93

0     $

1

.

9

0  

12/1/2014   1.9    

Series 

B 

Preferr

ed 

Stock  

Lia

bilit

y    

62,

13

6      

2

.

3

8  
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3/30/2021   8.2    

Series 

C 

Preferr

ed 

Stock  

Lia

bilit

y    

13

2,9

79      

6

.

5

8  

6/4/2022   9.4    

Series 

D-1 

Preferr

ed 

Stock  

Lia

bilit

y    

44,

22

0      

1

1

.

8

7  

9/15/2022   9.7    

Series 

D-1 

Preferr

ed 

Stock  

Lia

bilit

y    

44,

22

0      

1

1

.

8

7  

1/17/2017    

4.

0    

Commo

n stock  

Lia

bilit

y    

75,

00

0      

0

.

0

1  

8/3/2017   4.6    

Commo

n stock  

Lia

bilit

y    

10,

00

0      

1

.

1

0  

9/8/2017   4.7    

Commo

n stock  

Lia

bilit

y    

29,

41

2      

1

.

0

2  

6/19/2018   5.5    

Commo

n stock  

Lia

bilit

y    

18,

38

2      

1

.

0

2  

6/25/2019   6.5    

Commo

n stock  

Lia

bilit

y    

9,1

91      

1

.

0

2  

                 

44

2,4

70        

22
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December 31, 2023  

Issuance Date  

Remaining


Contractual Term


(in years)    

Underlying Equity 

Instrument  

Balance Sheet


Classification  

Shares Issuable


Upon Exercise


of Warrant    

Weighted


Average Exercise


Price  

12/1/2014     0.9     Common stock   Equity     44,272     $ 2.44  

3/30/2021     7.2     Common stock   Liability     130,053       6.73  

9/15/2022     8.7     Common stock   Liability     45,238       12.14  

6/4/2022     8.4     Common stock   Liability     45,238       12.14  

1/17/2017     3.0     Common stock   Equity     73,349       0.02  

8/3/2017     3.6     Common stock   Equity     9,779       1.13  

9/8/2017     3.7     Common stock   Liability     28,764       1.05  

6/19/2018     4.5     Common stock   Liability     17,977       1.05  

6/25/2019     5.5     Common stock   Liability     8,988       1.05  

                    403,658        

In Compute Health's initial public offering, it sold units at a price of $10.00 per unit, which consisted of one share of Class A 

Common Stock, $0.0001 par value, of Compute Health ("Class A Common Stock") and one-half of a redeemable warrant (each a 

"Public Warrant") that entitled the holders holder the right to purchase one share of Class A Common Stock of CPUH at a price of 

$11.50 per share. On July 26, 2023, Compute Health's Public Warrant holders approved an amendment (the “Warrant Amendment”) 

to the warrant agreement that governed all Compute Health’s Public Warrants. Per the terms of the Warrant Amendment, upon 

completion of the Business Combination, each of the outstanding Compute Health Public Warrants became exercisable for 1.420455 

shares of the Company’s Common Stock par value $0.0001 per share, at an exercise price of $8.10 per share and each Compute 

Health Public Warrant was exchanged for 0.6125 Allurion Public Warrants in the Business Combination. The Public Warrants will 

expire August 1, 2030, seven years after the completion of the Business Combination, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation.

The Company may redeem the outstanding Public Warrants for cash at a price of $0.01 per Public Warrant at any time 

commencing 90 days after the completion of the Business Combination, and provided that the last sales price of the closing price of 

the Company’s Common Stock equals or exceeds $12.67 per share of any 20 trading days within a 30-day trading period ending on 

the third trading day prior to the date on which notice of redemption is given.

The Company may redeem the outstanding Public Warrants for shares of our Common Stock at a price of $0.10 per Public 

Warrant at any time commencing 90 days after the completion of the Business Combination, and provided that the last sales price of 

the closing price of the Company’s Common Stock equals or exceeds $7.04 per share of any 20 trading days within a 30-day trading 

period ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which notice of redemption is given. Holders of the Public Warrants will be 

able to exercise their warrants on a cashless basis prior to redemption and receive that number of shares based on the redemption 

date
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29

and the fair market value (the “Redemption Fair Market Value”) of the shares of the Company's Common Stock. The Redemption 

Fair Market Value is determined based on the volume weighted average price of the Company’s Common Stock for the ten trading 

days immediately following the date on which notice of redemption is sent to the holders. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, 

the Company has not redeemed any of the outstanding Public Warrants. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, there were 

13,206,922 13,206,822 outstanding Public Warrants exercisable for 18,759,838 18,759,696 shares of Allurion Common Stock.

Chardan Equity Facility

On December 18, 2023, we entered into a ChEF Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") and a Registration Rights 

Agreement (the "Registration Rights Agreement"), each with Chardan Capital Markets ("Chardan") related to a "ChEF," Chardan's 

committed equity facility (the "Chardan Equity Facility"). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Company has the right from time 

to time at its option to sell to Chardan up to the lesser of (i) $100,000,000 in aggregate gross purchase price of newly issued shares 

of the Company's Common Stock, and (ii) 9,482,468 shares of Common Stock, which number of shares is equal to 19.99% of the 

shares of the Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the execution of the Purchase Agreement (the "Exchange Cap"). In 

consideration for Chardan's entry into the Purchase Agreement, Allurion issued to Chardan 35,511 shares of Allurion Common Stock 

(the "Commitment Shares"). The Company recorded $0.1 million to additional paid-in capital and $0.1 million of expense in 

connection with the issuance of the Commitment Shares. The Company expensed an additional $0.1 million related to a

23

non-refundable structuring fee (the "Structuring Fee") immediately following commencement. As of March 31, 2024, the Company 

had sold 143,234 shares of Common Stock to Chardan at a purchase price of $0.4 million in connection with the Purchase 

Agreement.

13. Net Loss Income (Loss) per Share

Basic and diluted net loss income (loss) per share was calculated as follows:

 

 

Three Months Ended September 

30,     Nine Months Ended September 30,  

  2023     2022     2023     2022  

Numerator:                        

Net loss   $ (21,630 )   $ (13,572 )   $ (61,427 )   $ (25,396 )

Cumulative undeclared preferred dividends to participating 

securities (Legacy Series D convertible preferred stock)     (255 )     (733 )     (1,697 )     (2,175 )

Net loss attributable to common shareholders   $ (21,885 )   $ (14,305 )   $ (63,124 )   $ (27,571 )

Denominator:                        
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Basic and diluted weighted-average common stock


   outstanding (1)

    40,335,457       26,930,318       31,558,538       26,888,896  

Net loss per share, basic and diluted (1)   $ (0.54 )   $ (0.53 )   $ (2.00 )   $ (1.03 )

  Three Months Ended March 31,  

  2024     2023  

Numerator:            

Net income (loss)   $ 5,586     $ (17,801 )

Cumulative undeclared preferred dividends to participating securities (Legacy Series D 

convertible preferred stock)     —       (717 )

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders - Basic   $ 5,586     $ (18,518 )

Adjustment for change in fair value of liability classified warrants     (108 )     —  

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders - Diluted   $ 5,478     $ (18,518 )

             

Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding     47,779,350       27,087,174  

Effect of potentially dilutive securities:            

Stock options     1,117,680       —  

Restricted stock units     172,077       —  

Warrants     121,367       —  

Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding     49,190,474       27,087,174  

             

Basic net income (loss) per common share   $ 0.12     $ (0.68 )

Diluted net income (loss) per common share   $ 0.11     $ (0.68 )

 
(1) The weighted-average common shares and thus net loss per share calculations and potentially dilutive security amounts for all periods prior 

to the Business Combination have been retrospectively adjusted to the equivalent number of shares outstanding immediately after the Business 

Combination to effect the reverse capitalization. See Note 3 for further information.

 

The Company’s potentially dilutive securities have been excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share as the 

effect would be to reduce the net loss per share. Therefore, the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding 

used to calculate both basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is the same. The Company excluded 

the following potential shares of Common Stock, presented based on amounts outstanding at each period end, from the computation 

of diluted net loss income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders for the periods indicated because including them 

would have had an anti-dilutive effect: effect. As the triggering event under which the Earn-Out shares become issuable has not been 

met as of March 31, 2024, the Earn-Out shares have been excluded from the computation of diluted net income (loss) per share.

 

  As of September 30,     As of March 31,  
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  2023     2022     2024     2023  

Outstanding options to purchase Common Stock

    4,270,229      

2,966,02

6       2,811,144       4,273,881  

Restricted Stock Units     429,321       —       483,939       1,415,104  

Warrants to purchase preferred stock (as converted to


   warrants to purchase Common Stock)     138,857       266,068       220,529       294,300  

Warrants to purchase Common Stock     266,131       276,146       —       138,857  

Shares of Common Stock issued upon the exercise of Public 

Warrants    

18,759,83

8       —       18,759,696       —  

Earn-Out Shares     9,000,000       —       9,000,000       —  

Convertible Notes     —       2,552,080  

Total

   

32,864,37

6      

3,508,24

0       31,275,308       8,674,222  

 

14. Stock-Based Compensation

Stock Incentive Plans

The Company’s 2010 Stock Option Plan (the “2010 Plan”) provided for the grant of qualified incentive stock options, 

nonqualified stock options, and other awards to the Company’s employees, officers, directors, advisors, and outside consultants to 

purchase the Company’s Common Stock. On December 11, 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 2020 Stock Option 

Plan (the “2020 Plan”), which provides provided for the grant of qualified incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, and 

other awards to the Company’s employees, officers, directors, advisors, and outside consultants to purchase the Company’s 

Common Stock. Each stock option from the 2010 Plan and the 2020 Plan that was outstanding immediately prior to the Business 

Combination, whether

30 24

vested or unvested, was cancelled and exchanged for a stock option to purchase Allurion Common Stock based on the Exchange 

Ratio. The per share exercise price for each stock option was divided by the Exchange Ratio.

In connection with the closing of the Business Combination, the Company adopted the 2023 Stock Option and Incentive Plan 

(the "2023 Plan"), which provides for the award of stock options (both incentive and non-qualified), stock appreciation rights, 

restricted stock units, restricted stock awards, cash-based awards, and dividend equivalent rights. A As of March 31, 2024, a total of 

7,822,700 11,700,568 shares of Allurion Common Stock are initially reserved for issuance under the 2023 Plan. The 2023 Plan 

provides that the number of shares reserved for issuance under the 2023 Plan will automatically increase each January 1, beginning 

January 1, 2024 and ending January 1, 2033 , by 5% of the number of fully diluted outstanding shares of Allurion Common Stock as 

of the immediately preceding December 31 or such lesser amount as determined by the Board and the compensation committee.
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As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, 4,778,782 4,584,840 options and RSUs were issued and outstanding under the 

2010 Plan, 2020 Plan, and 2023 Plan. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 5,717,064 4,529,673 options and RSUs were 

issued and outstanding under the 2010 Plan and 2020 Plan. The stock options generally vest over a four-year period and expire 10 

years from the date of grant.

Stock-based compensation expense included in the condensed consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss 

was as follows:

 

 

Three Months 

Ended September 

30,    

Nine Months 

Ended September 

30,     Three Months Ended March 31,  

  2023     2022     2023     2022     2024     2023  

Cost of revenue   $ 16     $ —     $ 31     $ —     $ 5     $ 12  

Selling, general and 

administrative     5,477       77       6,235       207       550       386  

Research and 

development     46       16       83       48       (3 )     11  

Total stock-based 

compensation 

expense   $ 5,539     $ 93     $ 6,349     $ 255     $ 552     $ 409  

 

Stock Options

The following table summarizes the option activity under the 2010 Plan, 2020 Plan, and the 2023 Plan during the nine three 

months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024:

 

 

Number 

of


Options    

Weight

ed


Averag

e


Exercis

e


Price    

Weight

ed


Averag

e


Remai

ning


Contra

ctual


Term    

Aggregat

e


Intrinsic


Value    

Number of


Options    

Weighted


Average


Exercise


Price    

Weighted


Average


Remaining


Contractual


Term    

Aggregate


Intrinsic


Value  

       

(per 

option)    

(in 

years)    

(in 

thousan

ds)           (per option)     (in years)     (in thousands)  

Outstanding—January 1, 

2023, as converted    

4,301,

960     $ 2.35       7.7     $ 9,437  
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Outstanding—January 1, 

2024     3,886,038     $ 2.67       6.9     $ 5,565  

Granted

   

257,6

83       5.41                   226,244       2.96              

Cancellations and 

forfeitures    

(110,3

91 )     1.11                   (178,812 )     3.23              

Exercised

   

(179,0

23 )     2.24                   (4,646 )     1.74              

Outstanding—September 

30, 2023    

4,270,

229       2.57       4.3       7,958  

Exercisable at September 

30, 2023    

2,774,

223     $ 2.02       4.8     $ 6,482  

Outstanding—March 31, 

2024     3,928,824       2.67       6.5       1,087  

Exercisable at March 31, 

2024     2,814,622     $ 2.31       5.8     $ 1,028  

 
Total stock compensation expense related to stock option awards during the nine three months ended September 30, 

2023 March 31, 2024 was $2.2 0.2 million. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, there was approximately $3.6 2.4 million of 

unrecognized compensation costs related to unvested stock options granted under the 2020 Plan, which is expected to be 

recognized over a weighted-average vesting term of 2.1 2.2 years. The weighted average grant-date fair value of the stock option 

awards granted during the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 March 31, 2024 was $3.98 and $1.27 1.97 per 

option, respectively. option.

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and the 

assumptions noted in the table below. Expected volatility for the Company’s Common Stock was determined based on an average of 

the historical volatility of a peer group of public companies that are similar to the Company. The expected term of options granted to 

employees was calculated using the simplified method, which represents the average of the contractual term of the option and the 

weighted-average vesting period of the option. The Company uses the simplified method because it does not have sufficient 

historical option exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate expected term. The expected term of options 

granted to non-employees is the remaining contractual term of the award. The assumed dividend yield is based upon the Company’s 

expectation of not paying dividends in the foreseeable future. The risk-free rate for periods within the expected life of the option is 

based upon the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.
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There were no grants during the three months ended March 31, 2023. The assumptions used in the Black Scholes option-

pricing model for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 March 31, 2024 are as follows:

 

   

Nine Months Ended


September 30,  

    2023     2022  

Expected volatility     86 %     62 %

Risk-free interest rate     4.50 %     2.38 %

Expected dividend yield     0 %     0 %

Expected term (in years)     5.8       6.0  

Expected volatility 71 %

Risk-free interest rate 4.14 %

Expected dividend yield 0 %

Expected term (in years) 6.1

Restricted Stock Units

The In December 2022, the Company has issued RSUs to a member of the Board of Directors with vesting subject to both a 

performance-based closing condition dependent on the successful Business Combination with Compute Health and time-based 

vesting conditions. See Note 1, 3, Organization and Description of Business  Combination for information about the closing of the 

Business Combination with Compute Health. Upon the satisfaction of the closing condition, 62.5% of the RSUs awarded vested. 

Thereafter, the remaining 37.5% of the RSUs will vest monthly over a period of two years. All RSUs are subject to forfeiture if the 

grantee’s continuous service relationship as a member of the Board of Directors terminates prior to vesting. In October 2023 and 

March 2024, the Company issued RSUs to its Board of Director members that will vest in equal installments over three years, subject 

to continued service as a director through each vesting date. The following table summarizes the restricted stock unit activity under 

the 2020 Plan and 2023 Plan during the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024: 

 

  Number of RSUs    

Weighted


Average Grant


Date Fair Value     Number of RSUs    

Weighted


Average Grant


Date Fair Value  

        (per share)           (per share)  

Outstanding—January 1, 2023     1,415,104     $ 4.51  

Outstanding—January 1, 2024     643,635     $ 4.45  

Granted     —             75,000     2.61  

Cancellations and forfeitures     (79,232 )     4.51       —        

Vested     (906,551 )     4.51       (62,619 )     4.51  

Outstanding—September 30, 2023     429,321     $ 4.51  

Outstanding—March 31, 2024     656,016     $ 4.23  
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Total stock compensation expense related to RSU's RSUs for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 

2024 was $4.2 0.3 million. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, there were $2.2 1.5 million of unrecognized compensation 

costs related to nonvested RSUs granted under the 2020 Plan and 2023 Plan, which is expected to be recognized over a remaining 

weighted-average vesting term of 1.8 2.0years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In connection with the closing of the Business Combination, the Company adopted the 2023 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 

(the "2023 ESPP"). Under the 2023 ESPP plan, substantially all employees may voluntarily enroll to purchase the Company's 

Common Stock through payroll deductions at a price equal to 85% of the lower of the fair market values of the stock as of the 

beginning or end of the offering period. An employee's payroll deductions under the 2023 ESPP are limited to 15% of the employee's 

compensation.

A total of 1,422,309 shares of the Company's Common Stock are reserved and authorized for issuance under the 2023 ESPP. 

In addition, the number of shares of Common Stock available for issuance under the 2023 ESPP will automatically increase each 

January 1, beginning on January 1, 2024 and each January thereafter, by the lesser of (i) 1% of the fully diluted outstanding shares 

of our Common Stock as of the immediately preceding December 31, (ii) 1,600,000 shares of our Common Stock, or (iii) such less 

number of shares determined by the administrator of the 2023 ESPP. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, no shares have 

been issued under the 2023 ESPP.

15. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has a 401(k) retirement plan that covers eligible U.S. employees. Eligible employees may elect to contribute up 

to the maximum limits, as set by the Internal Revenue Service, of their eligible compensation. The Company may elect to make a 

discretionary contribution or match a discretionary percentage of employee contributions. During the three and nine months ended 

September 30, 2023, March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company's matching contributions to the plan were less than $0.1 million and 

$0.1 million, respectively. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, the Company’s matching contributions to 

the plan were less than $0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively. million.
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16. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

With respect to contracts involving the use of assets, if the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset and obtain 

substantially all economic benefits from the use of an asset, it accounts for the service contract as a lease.
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In February 2023 and August 2023, the Company executed amendments to three of its leases in Natick, Massachusetts and its 

Hudson, Massachusetts lease, respectively. The amendments were accounted for as a modification of the existing lease 

agreements, with impacts to the lease term, lease payments, and related lease liability for each of the four leases. As a result of 

these amendments, the leases in Natick and Hudson will now expire between June 2024 and March 2028, and additional operating 

lease assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations were $0.9 million. In February 2024, the Company terminated one of its 

leases in Paris, France.

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, the Company was a party to seven six different leases for office, manufacturing, 

and laboratory space under non-cancelable office leases in three cities. These leases total approximately 51,000 square feet and will 

expire between June 2024 and March 2028. The Company has a right to extend certain of these leases for periods between three 

and five years. The Company also holds immaterial leases related to vehicles and office equipment. Under its leases, the Company 

pays base rent and a proportional share of operating expenses. Such operating expenses are subject to annual adjustment and are 

accounted for as variable payments in the period in which they are incurred.

The Company adopted ASC 842, Leases as of January 1, 2022. All of the Company’s leases are classified as operating leases 

at the adoption date and as of September 30, 2023. The components of Right of Use (“ROU” right-of-use ("ROU") assets and lease 

liabilities are included in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The short-term portion of the Company's operating lease 

liability is recorded as part of accrued Accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Aggregate Lease Information

Other pertinent lease information for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 is 

as follows (in thousands):

 

  

Three Months 

Ended     Nine Months Ended     Three Months Ended  

 

Septemb

er 30,


2023    

Septemb

er 30,


2022    

Septemb

er 30,


2023    

Septemb

er 30,


2022    

March 31,


2024    

March 31,


2023  

Operating lease costs   $ 285     $ 245     $ 834     $ 644     $ 278     $ 274  

Short-term lease costs     5       5       17       9       10       6  

Variable lease costs     52       58       211       153       77       88  

Operating cash flows paid 

for amounts in the


   measurement of operating 

lease liabilities     284       261       815       708  

Operating cash flows paid 

for amounts in the


   measurement of lease 

liabilities     292       262  

Operating lease assets 

obtained in exchange


   for lease obligations     62       1,370       936       1,686       —       874  
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Future commitments under non-cancelable operating lease agreements as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 are as 

follows (in thousands):

 

2023 $ 287  

2024   1,158   $ 785  

2025   1,102     1,037  

2026   729     732  

2027   640     642  

Thereafter   108     108  

Total lease payments $ 4,024   $ 3,304  

Less: present value adjustment   (637 )   (479 )

Total lease liabilities   3,387     2,825  

Less: current lease liability   (873 )   (814 )

Long-term operating lease liabilities $ 2,514   $ 2,011  

 
Operating lease liabilities are based on the net present value of the The weighted-average remaining lease payments over the 

remaining lease term. In determining the present value of lease payments, the Company used its incremental borrowing rate when 

measuring operating lease liabilities as terms and discount rates related to our leases were not implicit or readily determinable. As of 

September 30, 2023, the weighted average remaining lease term for operating leases is as follows:3.7

 years and the weighted average discount rate used to determine the operating lease liability is 9.9%.

   

March 31,


2024    

March 31,


2023  

Weighted -average remaining lease term (in years)     3.4       4.2  

Weighted-average discount rate     9.9 %     9.5 %

Product Liability

The Company has not received any material product liability claims. While product defects and adverse patient reactions 

associated with the Allurion Balloon have occurred, and are expected to continue to occur, the Company does not have a history of

33

product defects or adverse patient reactions that the Company’s management believes would give rise to a material product liability 

claim. Furthermore, the Company has obtained insurance related to potential product liability claims.

Litigation and Claims

In the normal course of operations, the Company may become involved in various claims and legal proceedings related to, for 

example, the validity or scope of its intellectual property rights, employee-related matters, or adverse patient reactions. Additionally,
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during the normal course of business, the Company may be a party to legal claims that may not be covered by insurance. As of 

September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the Company has not recorded accruals for 

probable losses related to any existing or pending litigation or claims as the Company’s management has determined that there are 

no matters where a potential loss is probable and reasonably estimable. The Company does not believe that any existing or pending 

claims would have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

17. Geographic Information

Long-lived assets, consisting of property and equipment, net and ROU assets by geography were as follows (in thousands):

 

 

September 30,


2023    

December 31,


2022    

March 31,


2024    

December 31,


2023  

United States   $ 5,450     $ 3,999     $ 5,059     $ 5,381  

France     1,067       1,282     $ 780       1,010  

All other countries     —       —       —       —  

Long-lived assets   $ 6,517     $ 5,281     $ 5,839     $ 6,391  

 
Refer to Note 4, Revenue for information on revenue by geography.

18. Related-party Transactions

Lease Agreement with Related Party

In August 2022, the Company entered into an operating lease agreement for additional office space in Paris, France with 

LNMP JPBC Invest. The Company’s Trade Marketing Director was the signor of this lease for LNMP JPBS Invest. Additionally, the 

Company’s Chief Commercial Officer is also a partner of LNMP JPBC Invest. The lease agreement includes included lease 

payments of approximately $0.1 million per year. The term of the lease commenced was August 1, 2022 and ends on through July 

31, 2025. The Company concluded that the commercial terms of the lease agreement were competitive, at the current market rate 

and conducted at arm’s-length. This lease was terminated in February 2024.

Consulting Agreements with KKG Enterprises, LLC and Remus Group Management, LLC

In the first quarter of 2023, Allurion entered into consulting agreements with KKG Enterprises, LLC (“KKG Enterprises”) and 

Remus Group Management, LLC (“Remus Group Management”) to assist Allurion in building out its AI platform, augment its AI 

advisory board, and provide advisory services related to the Business Combination. These agreements were tied to Allurion Board-

related work by Krishna Gupta, who is a director of Allurion, CEO of Remus Group Management, principal at KKG Enterprises, and 

affiliated with Romulus Capital, a stockholder of Allurion. The agreements included payments of $0.2 million to KKG Enterprises and 

$0.3 million to Remus Group Management as board compensation to Krishna Gupta. These agreements were terminated on June 

20, 2023.

Convertible Note with Hunter Ventures Limited
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On February 15, 2023, Allurion sold $13 million of 2023 Convertible Notes to HVL and entered into a Side Letter with HVL, who 

is a limited partner of Romulus Growth Allurion L.P., which is a fund affiliated with Krishna Gupta (a director of Allurion; in addition, 

entities affiliated with him hold more than 5% of our outstanding Common Stock). Refer to Note 8, Debt for additional information 

regarding the 2023 Convertible Notes.

Consulting Agreement with Related Party

In September 2023, Allurion France, a French société par actions simplifiée and wholly-owned subsidiary of Allurion ("Allurion 

France"), entered into a new corporate officer agreement with the Company's Chief Commercial Officer and Benoit Chardon 

Consulting, a French société à responsabilité limitée which is solely owned by Mr. Chardon ("BCC"), pursuant to which BCC 

will agreed to serve as Managing Director of Allurion France. The new corporate officer agreement provides provided that BCC 

shall would receive base consulting fees of €28,333.33 per month and additional variable compensation subject to the incentive plan 

terms issued annually by Allurion and conditional on meeting Allurion France and personal performance attainment defined each 

year by Allurion. This agreement was terminated on December 12, 2023 by virtue of the termination agreement described below, 

effective December 31, 2023.

Termination Agreement with Related Party

On December 12, 2023, Allurion France entered into a termination agreement with the Company's Chief Commercial Officer, 

Benoit Chardon, and BCC. Pursuant to the termination agreement, the parties agreed to terminate the corporate officer agreement 

as of December 31, 2023 and BCC resigned from its duties as managing director of Allurion France effective December 31, 2023; 

Allurion

28

paid BCC all amounts due to it under the corporate officer agreement through December 31, 2023. In addition, Allurion paid BCC a 

lump-sum termination fee of $0.2 million.

19. Subsequent Events

Note Purchase Agreement

On April 14, 2024, Allurion, RTW as agent for the purchasers (the “Purchasers”) party thereto from time to time (RTW in such 

capacity, the “Principal Purchaser”), and Acquiom Agency Services LLC (“Acquiom”), as collateral agent for the Purchasers and the 

Principal Purchaser, entered into a Note Purchase Agreement (the “Original Note Purchase Agreement”). Subsequently, on April 16, 

2024, the Company, the Principal Purchaser, the Purchasers and Acquiom entered into the First Amendment to the Original Note 

Purchase Agreement (the “Amendment”; the Original Note Purchase Agreement, as amended by the Amendment, the “Amended 

Note Purchase Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Amended Note Purchase Agreement, the Company issued and sold $48 million aggregate principal amount of 

convertible senior secured notes (the “Notes”) to the Purchasers in a private placement transaction. The Company used the 

proceeds from the issuance of the Notes to refinance its outstanding obligations under the Fortress Credit Agreement in full and to 
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pay fees and expenses in connection therewith and in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Amended Note 

Purchase Agreement. The Company has terminated and repaid in full the outstanding borrowings and other obligations under the 

Fortress Credit Agreement.

The Notes will bear interest at the annual rate of 6.0%, which interest is payable quarterly in cash or, at the Company’s option, 

in kind for the first three years. The maturity date for the Notes is April 16, 2031. The Notes are guaranteed by Allurion Technologies, 

LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Allurion Opco”), and certain other current 

and future subsidiaries of the Company, and are secured by substantially all the assets of the Company and the guarantors.

The Notes are convertible into shares of the Company's Common Stock at a Purchaser’s election at any time after the earliest 

of (i) the date on which Stockholder Approval (as defined below) is obtained, (ii) December 31, 2025, (iii) the date of a Fundamental 

Change Company Notice (as defined in the Amended Note Purchase Agreement), and (iv) the Make-Whole Fundamental Change 

Effective Date (as defined in the Amended Note Purchase Agreement), subject to certain terms and limitations in the Amended Note 

Purchase Agreement, based on the higher of (x) an initial conversion rate of 307.0797 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal 

amount of Notes (equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $3.26 per share, which represents a 35% premium to the 

trailing 30 day VWAP of the Company's Common Stock on the NYSE as of the close of business on April 12, 2024) and (y) a 35% 

conversion premium to the lowest price per share in an equity financing for capital raising purposes ending on the date on which the 

Company has raised aggregate gross offering proceeds of at least $15,000,000 (the “Next Equity Financing”). Although the initial 

conversion price based on clause (x) above for the Notes is above the NYSE’s “Minimum Price” (as such term is defined in Section 

312.03 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual), it is subject to a reset provision at the time of the Next Equity Financing that could 

result in the conversion price falling below such Minimum Price. Therefore, the Amended Note Purchase Agreement provides that 

unless and until requisite approval of the Company’s stockholders is obtained (“Stockholder Approval”), the Company will not deliver 

common stock upon conversion of the Notes in excess of 1% of the number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding 

as of April 14, 2024. The Company is required to include a proposal in its definitive proxy statement on Schedule 14A seeking 

Stockholder Approval no later than December 31, 2025. If the Company does not obtain Stockholder Approval at such meeting, it 

shall call a special meeting of stockholders each 90-day period thereafter at least two times, and thereafter at each subsequent 

annual meeting until Stockholder Approval is obtained or the Notes are no longer outstanding; provided, that shares of common 

stock issued upon conversion of the Notes prior to obtaining Stockholder Approval shall not be entitled to vote in favor of Stockholder 

Approval.

The Amended Note Purchase Agreement contains certain financial reporting and other covenants, including the requirement to 

raise at least $15.0 million in aggregate gross cash proceeds from the offering and sale of our Common Stock, maintenance of a 

minimum liquidity amount of $12.5 million, and maintenance of minimum product revenues over trailing twelve-month periods.

Amendment to Revenue Interest Financing Agreement

On April 14, 2024, the Revenue Interest Financing Agreement (the "Original RIFA") was amended pursuant to the Omnibus 

Amendment (the “RIFA Amendment”) by and among the Company, Allurion Opco, Allurion Australia Pty Ltd, a proprietary limited 

company organized under the laws of Australia and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the Original RIFA Investors (as 

defined therein) and RTW, to reflect certain modifications agreed between the parties thereto in connection with the Purchasers’ 

purchase of the Notes and the refinancing of the Fortress Credit Agreement. Among other things, the RIFA Amendment waived the 

existing event of default under the Original RIFA, increased the rate of revenue interest payments to be paid to RTW on all current 

and future products and digital solutions developed and to be developed by the Company (the “Royalty Rate”) for net sales under 

$100 million prior to December 31, 2026 from 6% to 12%, and increased the Royalty Rate on net sales less than $100 million on or 

after January 1, 2027 from 10% to 12%, subject to the terms and conditions of the RIFA Amendment.
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34 Amendment to RTW Side Letter

On April 14, 2024, the Company, Allurion Opco and the Additional RIFA Investors entered into the First Amendment to 

Amended and Restated Letter Agreement (the “Side Letter Amendment”) to reflect certain modifications to the Existing Side Letter in 

connection with the Purchasers’ purchase of the Notes. The Side Letter Amendment provides, among other things, that the 

Additional RIFA Investors may make a single election in certain circumstances to convert up to $7,500,000 of the purchase price that 

the Additional RIFA Investors paid for certain equity interests in the Company into an amount of financing provided by the Additional 

RIFA Investors to Allurion Opco pursuant to an additional revenue interest financing agreement with Allurion Opco.

Termination of Fortress Term Loan

On April 16, 2024, the Company terminated and repaid in full all outstanding borrowings and fees due under the Fortress 

Credit Agreement, including the release of all guarantees and liens related thereto, with the proceeds of the Amended Note 

Purchase Agreement described above.

30

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis provides includes information that Allurion’s our management believes is relevant to an 

assessment and understanding of Allurion’s condensed our consolidated results of operations and financial condition. The discussion 

and analysis should be read together with the consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and nine months ended 

September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, and for the year years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 

2022, which is  that are included in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus and the Company’s Current our Annual Report on Form 8-

K/A 10-K filed with the SEC on August 14, 2023 March 26, 2024, as subsequently amended (as amended, the "Annual Report on 

Form 10-K"). This discussion may contain forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and 

uncertainties. Allurion’s Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result 

of various factors, including those set forth in the sections titled “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" and 

“Risk Factors” in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus our Annual Report on Form 10-K or in other parts of this Quarterly Report on Form 

10-Q. For purposes of this section, all references in this discussion and analysis to “Allurion,”  the “Company”, “we,” “us,” or “our” 

refers to the business and operations of Allurion and its consolidated subsidiaries following the consummation of the Business 

Combination and to Legacy Allurion and its consolidated subsidiaries prior to the consummation of the Business Combination. 
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“Legacy Allurion” refers to Allurion Technologies, LLC, which was previously known as Allurion Technologies Opco, Inc. (formerly 

Allurion Technologies, Inc.) prior to the consummation of the Business Combination. “Allurion” refers to Allurion Technologies, Inc., 

which was previously known as Allurion Technologies Holdings, Inc. prior to the consummation of the Business Combination.

Overview

Allurion is a leading medical device company that focuses is focused on creating a best-in-class weight loss platform to treat 

obese and overweight patients. Our platform, the Allurion Program, features the world’s first and only swallowable, procedure-less 

intragastric balloon for weight loss and offers AI-powered remote patient monitoring tools, a proprietary behavior change program, 

secure messaging and video telehealth that are delivered by the Allurion Virtual Care Suite or VCS. ("VCS").

Our proprietary intragastric balloon, the Allurion Balloon, is in the form of swallowed as a swallowed capsule which is 

administered to patients under the guidance of a health care provider without surgery, endoscopy, or anesthesia.

The Allurion VCS is comprised of tools to support patients’ weight loss experience, which we believe benefit both patients and 

health care providers:

(A) 1. For Allurion Program patients, patients: Every current Allurion Program patient receives an Allurion Connected Scale and 
access to our mobile app (the "App"), which integrates data from the Allurion Connected Scale and Health Tracker to 
conveniently monitor weight, body fat, activity, sleep, and several other critical metrics. The App can also enable secure 
messaging and video telehealth with the patient’s care team and can deliver content from Allurion’s proprietary behavior 
change program—a library of over 150 100 weight loss actions related to diet, nutrition, mental health, sleep, goal setting, a
a number of other topics—directly to the patient. The App is available in over 15 languages.

(B) 2. For Allurion Program providers, providers: Allurion Insights provides end-to-end remote patient monitoring powered by the 
Allurion Iris AI platform, which leverages machine learning to deliver key insights related to patient tracking data. Allurion 
Insights offers real-time access to patient data and AI-powered analytics, note functionality to keep track of patient encount
and clinic-wide metrics that provide a snapshot of the clinic’s overall performance.

In addition to its use by Allurion Balloon patients, we believe the Allurion VCS can potentially be a platform for optimal long-

term follow up after other medical and surgical weight loss interventions in the future. For example, in June 2022, we incorporated a 

Treatment Tracking and Clinic-Led Onboarding feature into the Allurion VCS, which enables seamless onboarding and management 

of patients undergoing one or multiple weight loss treatments, including gastric balloons such as the Allurion Balloon, surgery, or 

medications. In addition, in connection with our collaboration with Medtronic plc (“Medtronic”), we expect to develop bundled 

offerings that may incorporate the Allurion VCS in order to onboard onboarding and manage managing Medtronic’s patients.

Our products are currently sold in Europe, the Middle East, Africa, Latin America, Canada and the Asia-Pacific region. The 

U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") has approved the investigational device exemption or IDE, ("IDE"), for Allurion’s 

AUDACITY clinical trial, a 48-week, prospective, randomized, open-label study. trial. We received approval of the IDE from the FDA 

in November 2021 to initiate the AUDACITY clinical trial in the United States. The first patient in the study trial was treated in July 

2022. During the third quarter of 2023, we completed the enrollment of 550 patients in the study trial across 17 sites in the United 

States. The results of the study trial are expected to support a pre-market premarket approval or PMA, submission to the FDA.

Since our inception, we have incurred significant operating losses. Our ability to generate revenue and achieve cost 

improvements sufficient to achieve profitability will depend on the successful further development and commercialization of our 

products and receipt and maintenance of regulatory approval. approvals. We generated revenue of $45.2 million $9.4 million and 

$45.0 million $14.1 million for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, respectively, and 
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had net income of $5.6 million and incurred a net losses loss of $61.4 million and $25.4 million $17.8 million for those same periods. 

We expect to continue to incur net losses as we focus on obtaining regulatory approval approvals for our products in new markets, 

growing refining our sales and marketing teams, strategies, and continuing research and development efforts to further enhance our 

existing

31

products. Further, following the closing of the Business Combination described below in “Recent Developments”, Developments,” we 

have incurred, and expect to continue to incur, additional costs associated with operating as a

35

public company. As a result, we will need substantial additional funding for expenses related to our operating activities, including 

selling, marketing, general and administrative expenses and research and development expenses.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with regulatory approval, market acceptance of our product, 

product development and enhancement, and commercialization, we are unable to accurately predict the timing or amount of 

increased expenses or when, or if, we will be able to achieve or maintain profitability. Until such time, if ever, as we can generate 

substantial revenue sufficient to achieve profitability, we expect to finance our operations through a combination of equity offerings 

and debt financings. We may be unable to raise additional funds or enter into such other agreements or arrangements when needed 

on favorable terms, or at all. If we are unable to raise capital or enter into such agreements as, and when, needed, we may have to 

significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the further development and commercialization efforts of one or more of our products, 

or may be forced to reduce or terminate our operations. See the subsections titled — “Liquidity “Liquidity and Capital 

Resources” Resources” and “Recent Developments” “Recent Developments” below.

Recent Developments

Business Combination Agreement

On February 9, 2023, Allurion Technologies Opco, Inc. (formerly Allurion Technologies, Inc., “Legacy Allurion”) and Allurion 

Technologies, Inc. (formerly Allurion Technologies Holdings, Inc.), entered into the Business Combination Agreement (as 

subsequently amended on May 2, 2023, the “Business Combination Agreement”) with Compute Health Acquisition Corp. (“CPUH” or 

"Compute Health"), Compute Health Corp. (“Merger Sub I”) and Compute Health LLC (“Merger Sub II” and, together with Merger Sub 

I, the “Merger Subs”). Pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, on August 1, 2023 (the “Closing Date”), the Mergers (as 

defined below) were consummated in three steps: (a) Compute Health merged with and into Allurion (the “CPUH Merger”), with 

Allurion surviving the CPUH Merger as a publicly listed entity (the time at which the CPUH Merger became effective, the “CPUH 

Merger Effective Time”) and becoming the sole owner of the Merger Subs; (b) three hours following the consummation of the CPUH 

Merger, Merger Sub I merged with and into Legacy Allurion (the “Intermediate Merger” and the time at which the Intermediate Merger 

became effective, the “Intermediate Merger Effective Time”), with Legacy Allurion surviving the Intermediate Merger and becoming a 

direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Allurion; and (c) thereafter, Legacy Allurion merged with and into Merger Sub II (the “Final Merger” 
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and, collectively with the CPUH Merger and the Intermediate Merger, the “Mergers”, and together with all other transactions 

contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement, the “Business Combination”), with Merger Sub II surviving the Final Merger 

and remaining a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Allurion (the time at which the Final Merger became effective, the “Final Merger 

Effective Time”). Allurion shares began trading on the NYSE New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the ticker symbol “ALUR” on 

August 2, 2023. Upon completion of the Business Combination, Legacy Allurion's business operations continued as our business 

operations.

The Business Combination was accounted for as a reverse capitalization in accordance with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). Under this method of accounting, Compute Health, which was the legal 

acquirer, was treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting purposes and Legacy Allurion was the accounting “acquirer”. 

Accordingly, the Business Combination was treated as the equivalent of the Company our company issuing stock for the net assets 

of Compute Health, accompanied by a recapitalization. The Company’s Our net assets and the net assets of Compute Health are 

stated at historical costs, with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded. This determination is primarily based on the fact that, 

immediately following the Business Combination, Legacy Allurion stockholders had a majority of the voting power of Allurion, Legacy 

Allurion controlled the majority of the board seats of Allurion, and Legacy Allurion senior management comprised all of the senior 

management of Allurion. The equity structure has been restated in all comparative periods up to the Closing Date to reflect the 

number of shares of the Company's common stock, $0.0001 par value per share (“Allurion Common Stock” or the “Company’s 

Common Stock”), issued to Legacy Allurion stockholders in connection with the Business Combination. As such, the shares and 

corresponding capital amounts and earnings per share related to Legacy Allurion's convertible preferred stock and Legacy Allurion 

common stock prior to the Business Combination have been retroactively restated as shares reflecting the Exchange Ratio exchange 

ratio of approximately 0.9780 (the "Exchange Ratio") established in the Business Combination. As a result of this retrospective 

application, certain prior period balances within the condensed consolidated balance sheet financial statements have changed. Refer 

to Note 3, Business Combination in the notes to our unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements for further 

discussion regarding the closing of the Business Combination with Compute Health.

Immediately prior Note Purchase Agreement

On April 14, 2024, Allurion, RTW Investments, LP (“RTW”), as agent for the purchasers (the “Purchasers”) party thereto from 

time to time (RTW in such capacity, the “Principal Purchaser”), and Acquiom Agency Services LLC (“Acquiom”), as collateral agent 

for the Purchasers and the Principal Purchaser, entered into a Note Purchase Agreement (the “Original Note Purchase Agreement”). 

Subsequently, on April 16, 2024, the Company, the Principal Purchaser, the Purchasers and Acquiom entered into the First

32

Amendment to the Intermediate Merger Effective Time, outstanding Legacy Allurion Convertible Notes with an Original Note 

Purchase Agreement (the “Amendment”; the Original Note Purchase Agreement, as amended by the Amendment, the “Amended 

Note Purchase Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Amended Note Purchase Agreement, the Company issued and sold $48 million aggregate principal amount 

together of convertible senior secured notes (the “Notes”) to the Purchasers in a private placement transaction. The Company used 
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the proceeds from the issuance of the Notes to refinance its outstanding obligations under the Fortress Credit Agreement in full and 

to pay fees and expenses in connection therewith and in connection with accrued the transactions contemplated by unpaid the 

Amended Note Purchase Agreement. The Company has terminated and repaid in full the outstanding borrowings and other 

obligations under the Fortress Credit Agreement.

The Notes will bear interest at the annual rate of 6.0%, which interest is payable quarterly in cash or, at the Company’s option, 

in kind for the first three years. The maturity date for the Notes is April 16, 2031. The Notes are guaranteed by Allurion Technologies, 

LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Allurion Opco”), and certain other current 

and future subsidiaries of the Company, and are secured by substantially all the assets of the Company and the guarantors.

The Notes are convertible into shares of the Company's Common Stock, at a Purchaser’s election at any time after the earliest 

of (i) the date on which Stockholder Approval (as defined below) is obtained, (ii) December 31, 2025, (iii) the date of a Fundamental 

Change Company Notice (as defined in the Amended Note Purchase Agreement), and (iv) the Make-Whole Fundamental Change 

Effective Date (as defined in the Amended Note Purchase Agreement), subject to certain terms and limitations in the Amended Note 

Purchase Agreement, based on the higher of (x) an initial conversion rate of 307.0797 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal 

amount of Notes (equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $21.8 million were converted into $3.26 per share, which 

represents a 35% premium to the applicable number trailing 30 day volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) of shares Legacy 

Allurion the Company's common stock provided for under on the terms New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) as of such Legacy 

Allurion Convertible Notes, immediately prior the close of business on April 12, 2024) and (y) a 35% conversion premium to the 

Intermediate Merger Effective Time, and are no longer outstanding and ceased to exist.

Upon lowest price per share in an equity financing for capital raising purposes ending on the closing date on which the 

Company has raised aggregate gross offering proceeds of at least $15,000,000 (the “Next Equity Financing”). Although the initial 

conversion price based on clause (x) above for the Notes is above the NYSE’s “Minimum Price” (as such term is defined in Section 

312.03 of the Business Combination, (a) holders of Legacy Allurion Common Stock received shares of Allurion Common Stock in an 

amount determined by application NYSE Listed Company Manual), it is subject to a reset provision at the time of the Exchange 

Ratio Next Equity Financing that could result in the conversion price falling below such Minimum Price. Therefore, the Amended Note 

Purchase Agreement provides that unless and until requisite approval of approximately 0.9780, (b) each then-outstanding share the 

Company’s stockholders is obtained (“Stockholder Approval”), the Company will not deliver common stock upon conversion of 

Legacy Allurion preferred stock was converted into the right to receive shares Notes in excess of Allurion Common Stock equal to 1% 

of the number of shares of Allurion Common Stock the Company’s common stock outstanding as of April 14, 2024. The Company is 

required to include a proposal in its definitive proxy statement on Schedule 14A seeking Stockholder Approval no later than 

December 31, 2025. If the Company does not obtain Stockholder Approval at such meeting, it shall call a special meeting of 

stockholders each 90-day period thereafter at least two times, and thereafter at each subsequent annual meeting until Stockholder 

Approval is obtained or the Notes are no longer outstanding; provided, that would be shares of common stock issued upon 

conversion of such outstanding share the Notes prior to obtaining Stockholder Approval shall not be entitled to vote in favor of 

Legacy Allurion preferred stock based on the applicable conversion ratio multiplied by the Exchange Ratio, (c) each then-outstanding 

and unexercised Legacy Allurion Option was converted into a new Allurion Option on the same terms and conditions as were 

applicable to such Stockholder Approval.

36

Legacy Allurion Option based on the Exchange Ratio ("Rollover Option"), (d) each then-outstanding Legacy Allurion Warrant was 

converted into a new Allurion warrant based on the Exchange Ratio ("Rollover Warrant"), (e) each then-outstanding Legacy Allurion 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

79/168

restricted stock unit was converted into a rollover restricted stock unit based on the Exchange Ratio, and (f) certain amounts of loans 

made by Compute Health Sponsor LLC ("the Sponsor") Amendment to CPUH, which balance was $3.7 million at the time of the 

Business Combination (the "Sponsor Loan Excess"), was converted into 525,568 shares of Allurion Common Stock (the "Sponsor 

Loan Equity Issuance). For periods prior to the Business Combination, the reported share and per share amounts have been 

retroactively converted by applying the Exchange Ratio. The consolidated assets, liabilities, and results of operations prior to the 

Business Combination are those of Legacy Allurion.

PIPE Investment

In connection with the execution of the Business Combination Agreement, Allurion and Compute Health entered into 

subscription agreements (the "PIPE Subscription Agreements") with certain accredited investors and qualified institutional buyers 

(the "PIPE Investors"), pursuant to which, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein, the PIPE Investors, among 

other things, purchased an aggregate of 5,386,695 shares of Allurion Common Stock at a price of $7.04 per share, for an aggregate 

purchase price of $37.9 million, following the CPUH Merger Effective Time and immediately prior to the Intermediate Merger Effective 

Time (the "PIPE Investment").

Revenue Interest Financing Agreement Side Letter and PIPE Conversion Option

On February 9, 2023 April 14, 2024, concurrently with the execution of the Business Combination Agreement, we entered into 

a revenue interest financing agreement (the "Revenue Interest Financing Agreement") with certain entities that engaged RTW 

Investment, LP as investment manager (collectively, "RTW"). Pursuant to the Revenue Interest Financing Agreement at (the "Original 

RIFA") was amended pursuant to the closing Omnibus Amendment (the “RIFA Amendment”) by and among the Company, Allurion 

Opco, Allurion Australia Pty Ltd, a proprietary limited company organized under the laws of Australia and a wholly-owned subsidiary 

of the Business Combination, Company, the Original RIFA Investors (as defined therein) and RTW, paid Allurion an aggregate to 

reflect certain modifications agreed between the parties thereto in connection with the Purchasers’ purchase of $40.0 million (the 

“Investment Amount”). In exchange for the Investment Amount, Allurion will remit Notes and the refinancing of the Fortress Credit 

Agreement. Among other things, the RIFA Amendment waived the existing event of default under the Original RIFA, increased the 

rate of revenue interest payments to be paid to RTW on all current and future products and digital solutions developed and 

services to be developed imported, manufactured, marketed, offered for sale, promoted, sold, tested or otherwise distributed by 

Allurion and its subsidiaries. Additionally, in connection with the Company entering in (the “Royalty Rate”) for net sales under $100 

million prior to December 31, 2026 from 6% to 12%, and increased the Revenue Interest Financing, Royalty Rate on net sales less 

than $100 million on or after January 1, 2027 from 10% to 12%, subject to the Company, Compute Health, Legacy Allurion, Merger 

Sub II terms and RTW entered into a side letter (the "RTW Side Letter") under which RTW may elect conditions of the RIFA 

Amendment.

Amendment to convert up to $7.5 million of its initial PIPE subscription into an additional revenue interest financing by 

forfeiting a number of shares of our common stock acquired by the PIPE subscription (the "PIPE Conversion Option"). 

Refer to Note 9, Revenue Interest Financing, RTW Side Letter and PIPE Conversion Option for further discussion on the Revenue 

Interest Financing.

On May 2, 2023 April 14, 2024, the parties amended Company, Allurion Opco and restated the RTW Additional RIFA Investors 

entered into the First Amendment to Amended and Restated Letter Agreement (the “Side Letter Amendment”) to reflect certain 

modifications to the Existing Side Letter in connection with the Backstop Agreement (defined below), pursuant to which, Purchasers’ 

purchase of the Notes. The Side Letter Amendment provides, among other things, that the Additional RIFA Investors may make a 

single election in certain circumstances to convert up to $7,500,000 of the purchase price that the Additional RIFA Investors paid for 
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certain equity interests in the Company into an amount of financing provided by the Additional RIFA Investors to Allurion issued 

250,000 shares of Common Stock Opco pursuant to RTW immediately prior to the Intermediate Merger Effective Time. an additional 

revenue interest financing agreement with Allurion Opco.

Termination of Fortress Credit Agreement Term Loan

On August 1, 2023 April 16, 2024, we entered into the Fortress Term Loan pursuant to Company terminated and repaid in full, 

all outstanding borrowings and fees under the Fortress Credit Agreement. Under the terms Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2023 

(as amended by the Fortress Term Loan, we have borrowed $60.0 million. In connection with Amendment, dated as of December 29, 

2023), by and among the closing of Company, Allurion Opco, the Business Combination, we used subsidiary guarantors from time to 

time party thereto, the borrowings under the Fortress Term Loan lenders from time to repay outstanding principal, accrued time party 

thereto (the "Lenders" and unpaid interest each, a "Lender") and other obligations with respect to the 2021 Term Loan. The Fortress 

Term Loan will mature in June 2027. Interest on borrowings under the Fortress Term Loan will be payable in arrears monthly at a 

floating interest rate equal to the current applicable margin of 6.44% plus the greater of 3.0% or the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate. 

An exit payment equal to 3% of the Fortress Term Loan will be due upon the prepayment or maturity date of the Fortress Term Loan. 

Additionally, per the terms of the Fortress Term Loan and Backstop Agreement, Allurion issued an aggregate of 950,000 shares of 

Allurion Common Stock to an affiliate of Fortress pursuant to a subscription agreement between Allurion and such affiliate. For the 

avoidance of doubt, the Backstop Shares issued to Fortress are included in the aggregate issuance of 950,000 shares of our 

Common Stock issued to an affiliate of Fortress.

Backstop Agreement

On May 2, 2023, CFIP2 ALLE LLC, an affiliate of Fortress Credit Corp., and RTW (collectively, the “Backstop Purchasers”) , 

Legacy Allurion, Allurion and Hunter Ventures Limited (“HVL”) entered into the backstop agreement (the “Backstop Agreement”). 

Pursuant to the Backstop Agreement, immediately prior to the Intermediate Merger Closing (a) each Backstop Purchaser purchased 

$2 million of the aggregate principal amount outstanding of HVL's Legacy Allurion convertible note issued in February 2023, (b) 

Allurion canceled the existing HVL Legacy Allurion Convertible Note and issued a new Allurion Convertible Note to HVL as 

administrative agent for the remaining balance together with Lenders, including the release of all unpaid interest accrued since the 

date of issuance thereof, (c) Allurion issued new Allurion Convertible Notes to each Backstop Purchaser with an issuance date of 

August 1, 2023 guarantees and an original principal amount of $2 million each and (d) Allurion issued 700,000 shares of our 

Common Stock to each Backstop Purchaser. Refer to Note 8, Debt for further discussion around the Backstop Agreement. liens 

related thereto.

33

37

HVL Termination Agreement

On May 2, 2023, HVL and Legacy Allurion entered into a letter agreement (the “HVL Termination Agreement”), terminating the 

side letter agreement entered into between Legacy Allurion and HVL in connection with the issuance of HVL’s Legacy Allurion 
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convertible note on February 15, 2023. Pursuant to the HVL Termination Agreement, among other things, at the closing of the 

Business Combination, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein, Allurion issued to HVL 387,696 shares of our 

Common Stock. Refer to Note 8, Debt for further discussion regarding the HVL Termination Agreement.

Gaur Contribution Agreement

On May 2, 2023, Shantanu K. Gaur and Neha Gaur, trustees of The Shantanu K. Gaur Revocable Trust of 2021 (the “Gaur 

Trust”) and Allurion entered into a contribution agreement (the “Gaur Contribution Agreement”), pursuant to which, among other 

things, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein, the Gaur Trust contributed to Allurion, as a contribution of 

capital, 79,232 shares of Allurion Common Stock (the “Gaur Trust Contributed Shares”). The Gaur Trust’s contribution of the Gaur 

Trust Contributed Shares was effective immediately following the consummation of the Business Combination and the issuance of 

shares of Allurion Common Stock to the Gaur Trust pursuant to the terms of the Business Combination Agreement.

RSU Forfeiture Agreement

On May 2, 2023, Krishna Gupta, a member of our Board of Directors, entered into a letter agreement with Legacy Allurion (the 

“RSU Forfeiture Agreement”), pursuant to which, among other things, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein, 

Mr. Gupta agreed to forfeit 79,232 restricted stock units of Allurion (the “Forfeited RSUs”). The Forfeited RSUs were terminated and 

cancelled without consideration therefor immediately following the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Business 

Combination Agreement.

Sponsor Contribution Agreement

On May 2, 2023, Compute Health Sponsor LLC (the "Sponsor") and Compute Health entered into a letter agreement (the 

“Sponsor Contribution Agreement”) pursuant to which, among other things, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth 

therein, the Sponsor agreed to contribute to Compute Health, as a contribution of capital, 161,379 shares of Compute Health Class A 

Common Stock (“Contributed Shares”). The Sponsor’s contribution of the Sponsor Contributed Shares was effective immediately 

following the CPUH Recapitalization (defined below) and immediately prior to the CPUH Merger Effective Time.

Sponsor Support Agreement

On February 9, 2023, Allurion entered into the Sponsor Support Agreement, pursuant to which immediately prior to the CPUH 

Merger Effective time, (a) the Sponsor recapitalized each of the Sponsor’s 21,442,500 shares of Compute Health Class B Common 

Stock, and all 12,833,333 of the Sponsor’s warrants to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock into 2,088,327 shares of 

Compute Health Class A Common Stock and (b) the additional Class B Holders as set forth on Schedule I of the Sponsor Support 

Agreement (the "Additional Class B Holders") recapitalized his or her 30,000 shares of Compute Health Class B Common Stock into 

21,120 shares of Compute Health Class A Common Stock (the "CPUH Recapitalization"). Subsequently, at the CPUH Merger 

Effective Time, each such share of Compute Health Class A Common Stock was converted into shares of Allurion Common Stock at 

an exchange ratio of 1.420455 (the "CPUH Exchange Ratio").

Chardan Equity Facility

In connection with the Business Combination, we entered into the Chardan commitment letter, which commits Allurion to enter 

into a ChEF Purchase Agreement with Chardan Capital Markets LLC, pursuant to which Allurion will have the right to require 

Chardan to purchase up to $100.0 million of shares of Allurion Common Stock at a price per share equal to 97.0% of the volume 

weighted average price of Allurion Common Stock on the NYSE (the "Chardan Equity Facility"). In consideration for Chardan’s entry 

into the ChEF Purchase Agreement, Allurion agreed to issue to Chardan 35,511 shares of Allurion Common Stock. In connection 

with its entry into the Chardan facility, Allurion will also enter into a registration rights agreement, pursuant to which it will agree to 
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register the offer and sale of the shares of Allurion Common Stock issuable pursuant to the ChEF Purchase Agreement on a new 

resale registration statement on Form S-1. Upon effectiveness of the Registration Statement, Allurion will also pay Chardan a 

structuring fee of $75,000 in cash. Pursuant to the ChEF Purchase Agreement, Allurion will also reimburse Chardan up to $300,000 

for fees and disbursements of Chardan’s legal counsel over the term of the facility. The Chardan Equity Facility will remain 

outstanding for three years unless terminated by the parties pursuant to the terms of the ChEF Purchase Agreement. The purpose of 

the execution of the Chardan Equity Facility is to fund our general corporate expenses.

Warrant Agreement Amendment

On July 26, 2023, holders of Compute Health’s public warrants, each of which entitled the holder thereof to purchase one 

share of Class A Common Stock of CPUH at an exercise price of $11.50 per share (collectively, the “Compute Health Public 

Warrants”), approved an amendment (the “Warrant Amendment”) to the warrant agreement by and between Compute Health and 

Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Warrant Agent, dated as of February 9, 2021, as may be amended or supplemented 

(the “Warrant

38

Agreement”), which governed all of Compute Health’s public and private warrants. Per the terms of the Warrant Amendment, (i) upon 

the completion of the Business Combination, each of the outstanding Compute Health Public Warrants became exercisable for 

1.420455 shares of Allurion Common Stock at an exercise price of $8.10 per share; (ii) upon the completion of the Business 

Combination, each Compute Health Public Warrant was exchanged for 0.6125 of a Allurion warrant to purchase shares of Allurion 

Common Stock (collectively, the “Public Warrants”); (iii) the terms of the Compute Health Public Warrants were amended such that 

they will expire on August 1, 2030, which is seven years after the consummation of the Business Combination, or earlier upon 

redemption or liquidation; (iv) Section 4.4 of the Warrant Agreement relating to adjustments of the Warrant Price (as defined in the 

Warrant Agreement) if Compute Health issued additional shares or equity-linked securities for capital raising purposes in connection 

with the closing of the Business Combination was deleted; (v) Sections 6.1 and 6.2 of the Warrant Agreement were amended to 

provide that, subject to the terms of the Warrant Agreement, not less than all of the Compute Health Public Warrants may be 

redeemed for cash or for shares of Common Stock after a date that is ninety (90) days after the date on which Compute Health 

completed the Business Combination; and (vi) certain adjustments to the Reference Value (as defined in the Warrant Agreement), 

redemption trigger price, and the table summarizing the redemption prices for the Compute Health Public Warrants as a result of the 

foregoing amendments to the Warrant Agreement were made. In connection with the Business Combination, each Compute Health 

Public Warrant was assumed by Allurion and converted into a Public Warrant.

Key Factors Affecting Our Operating Results

We believe that our performance and future success depend on many factors that present significant opportunities but also 

pose risks and challenges, including those discussed below and in the “Risk Factors” section of this Quarterly our Annual Report on 

Form 10-Q and the Proxy Statement/Prospectus. 10-K.

• Market Acceptance. The growth of our business depends on our ability to gain broader acceptance of our current 
products by continuing to make health care providers aware of the benefits of our products to generate increased 
demand and frequency of use, and thus increase our sales. Our ability to grow our business will also depend on our 
ability to expand our customer base in existing or new target markets. Although we have increased the number of 
patients treated with our products through our established relationships and focused sales efforts, we cannot provide 
assurance that our efforts will continue to increase the use of our products.
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• Regulatory approval and timing and efficiency of new product introductions. We must successfully obtain timely 
approvals and introduce new products that gain acceptance with health care providers. For our sales to grow, we will 
also need to obtain regulatory approval of our existing product and any new products or modifications/enhancements to 
our existing products in the markets that we operate in and new markets as applicable.

• Sales force size and effectiveness. The rate at which we grow our sales force and the speed at which newly hired 
salespeople become effective can impact our revenue growth or our costs incurred in anticipation of such growth. We 
intend to continue to make significant investments improve and increase performance in our sales and marketing 
organization, and expanding expand our international programs to help facilitate further adoption of our products as well 
as broaden awareness of our products to new customers.

• Product and geographic mix; timing. Our financial results, including our gross margins, may fluctuate from period to 
period based on the timing of orders, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and the number of available selling 
days in a particular period, which can be impacted by a number of factors, such as holidays or days of severe inclement 
weather in a particular geography, the mix of products sold and the geographic mix of where products are sold.

Operating Segments

We operate our business in a single segment and as one reporting unit, which is how our chief operating decision maker 

("CODM"), our chief executive officer, reviews financial performance and allocates resources. The CODM reviews financial 

information presented on a regular basis at the consolidated level for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial 

performance. Since we operate as one operating segment, all required financial segment information can be found in the 

consolidated financial statements.

Components of Our Results of Operations

Revenue

We derive revenue from the sale of the Allurion Balloon to customers, which are either distributors or health care providers. 

The Allurion Balloon is the foundation of the Allurion Program, a holistic weight loss program that offers patients the opportunity to 

receive, and clinic and other health care providers the ability to deliver, behavior change assistance through their optional use of our 

remote patient support and monitoring tools.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of costs that are closely correlated or directly related to the delivery of our products, 

including material costs, labor costs, and depreciation expense for fixed assets.

39

Operating Expenses

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses (including commissions) for our sales and 

marketing personnel. Marketing programs consist of advertising, training events, brand building, product marketing activities and 

shipping costs. We expect sales and marketing costs will continue to increase for the year ended December 31, 2023 as we expand 

our international selling and marketing activities and build brand awareness through advertising and training new clients.

Research and Development Expenses
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Our research and development expenses consist of costs associated with performing research and development activities 

such as registering our products in various jurisdictions and performing clinical trials. These costs include salaries and benefits, 

stock-based compensation, non-capitalizable software development costs, product development costs, materials and supplies, 

clinical trial activities, registration expenses, depreciation of equipment and other outside services. We expect research and 

development costs will continue to increase for the year ended December 31, 2023 as we continue to invest in our U.S. FDA 

AUDACITY clinical trial and advance the development of our product offerings.

34

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and personnel-related costs, including stock-based 

compensation, for our personnel in executive, information technology, finance and accounting, human resources and other 

administrative functions. General and administrative expenses also include legal fees relating to corporate matters; professional fees 

paid for accounting, auditing, consulting and tax services; insurance costs; travel expenses; office and information technology costs; 

and facilities, depreciation and other expenses related to general and administrative activities, which include direct or allocated 

expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities and utilities.

We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will continue to increase for the year ended December 31, 2023 

compared to the same periods for the year ended December 31, 2022, as we will incur significantly increased accounting, 

audit, legal, regulatory, compliance, and investor and public relations expenses associated with operating as a public 

company.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest Expense net

Interest expense net consists of interest expense associated with outstanding borrowings under our debt obligations as well as 

the amortization of debt issuance costs and discounts associated with such borrowings.

Change in Fair Value of Warrants

The change in fair value of warrants consists of the expense recognized upon the mark to market of our warrant liabilities.

Change in Fair Value of Debt

The change in fair value of debt consists of the expense recognized upon the mark to market of our convertible debt.

Change in Fair Value of Revenue Interest Financing and PIPE Conversion Option

The change in fair value of Revenue Interest Financing and PIPE Conversion Option consists of the expense recognized upon 

the mark to market of the Revenue Interest Financing with RTW and the issuance and mark to market of the PIPE Conversion 

Option. See Note 10, Fair Value Measurements for further information.
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Change in Fair Value of earn-out liabilities Earn-out Liabilities

The change in fair value of earn-out liabilities consists of the expense gain or loss recognized upon mark to market of the 

contingent earn-out consideration. See Note 10, 

Termination of convertible note side letters Fair Value Measurements 

The termination of convertible note side letters consists of the expense recognized related to the convertible note prepayment 

penalty and recognition of the PubCo Additional Shares liability and Base PubCo Shares and Backstop Shares liability and 

subsequent changes in fair value.

Loss on extinguishment of debt

The loss on extinguishment of debt consists of the expense recognized related to the extinguishment of our 2021 Term 

Loan. for further information.

Other Income (Expense) Income, , net

40

Other income (expense) income, , net consists of interest earned on our invested cash balances, which primarily consist of 

deposit accounts and money market funds, foreign currency transaction gains and losses and expense associated with our Success 

Fee derivative liability and Fortress Term Loan derivative liability. See Note 10, Fair Value Measurements for further information.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 (unaudited)

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 

2024 and 2022 2023 (in thousands):

 

 

Three Months 

Ended September 

30,    

Nine Months Ended 

September 30,     Three Months Ended March 31,  

  2023     2022    

Cha

nge     2023     2022    

Cha

nge     2024     2023     Change  

Revenue

  $

1

8,

2

0

0     $

1

6,

0

6

4     $

2,

1

3

6     $

4

5,

2

3

2     $

4

5,

0

2

7     $

2

0

5     $ 9,386     $ 14,071     $ (4,685 )

Cost of revenue

   

4,

2

3

2      

3,

4

7

4      

7

5

8      

1

0,

1

6

5      

9,

5

4

5      

6

2

0       2,520       2,940       (420 )
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Gross profit

   

1

3,

9

6

8      

1

2,

5

9

0      

1,

3

7

8      

3

5,

0

6

7      

3

5,

4

8

2      

(4

1

5 )     6,866       11,131       (4,265 )

Operating expenses:                                                      

Sales and marketing

   

1

3,

9

8

9      

1

5,

6

8

6      

(1

,6

9

7 )    

3

6,

1

2

7      

3

5,

4

6

4      

6

6

3       6,145       11,864       (5,719 )

Research and 

development

   

7,

1

9

1      

5,

0

6

9      

2,

1

2

2      

2

1,

6

2

3      

1

1,

2

3

4      

1

0,

3

8

9       5,725       7,852       (2,127 )

General and 

administrative

   

1

8,

9

4

2      

3,

8

2

0      

1

5,

1

2

2      

3

0,

6

5

7      

1

0,

6

4

6      

2

0,

0

1

1       6,386       5,306       1,080  

Total operating expenses:

   

4

0,

1

2

2      

2

4,

5

7

5      

1

5,

5

4

7      

8

8,

4

0

7      

5

7,

3

4

4      

3

1,

0

6

3       18,256       25,022       (6,766 )

Loss from operations

   

(2

6,

1

5

4 )    

(1

1,

9

8

5 )    

(1

4,

1

6

9 )    

(5

3,

3

4

0 )    

(2

1,

8

6

2 )    

(3

1,

4

7

8 )     (11,390 )     (13,891 )     2,501  

Other (expense) income:                                                      

Interest expense, net

   

(2

,5

8

6 )    

(1

,1

3

9 )    

(1

,4

4

7 )    

(7

,3

3

1 )    

(2

,6

6

6 )    

(4

,6

6

5 )

Interest expense     (1,931 )     (2,237 )     306  
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Changes in fair value of 

warrants

   

3,

8

6

8      

6

7      

3,

8

0

1      

2,

1

8

9      

1

0

1      

2,

0

8

8       3,131       (1,475 )     4,606  

Changes in fair value of 

debt

   

(6

,0

0

8 )     -      

(6

,0

0

8 )    

(3

,7

5

1 )     -      

(3

,7

5

1 )

Changes in fair value of 

Revenue Interest 

Financing and PIPE 

conversion option    

(2

,0

4

0 )     -      

(2

,0

4

0 )    

(2

,0

4

0 )     -      

(2

,0

4

0 )     1,490       -       1,490  

Changes in fair value of 

earn-out liabilities

   

2

4,

3

3

0       -      

2

4,

3

3

0      

2

4,

3

3

0       -      

2

4,

3

3

0       14,190       -       14,190  

Termination of convertible 

note side letters

   

(9

,4

6

6 )     -      

(9

,4

6

6 )    

(1

7,

5

9

8 )     -      

(1

7,

5

9

8 )

Loss on extinguishment of 

debt

   

(3

,9

2

9 )     -      

(3

,9

2

9 )    

(3

,9

2

9 )     -      

(3

,9

2

9 )

Other (expense) income, 

net

   

3

8

9      

(4

2

0 )    

8

0

9      

1

3

3      

(8

7

4 )    

1,

0

0

7       172       (164 )     336  

Total other (expense) 

income:

   

4,

5

5

8      

(1

,4

9

2 )    

6,

0

5

0      

(7

,9

9

7 )    

(3

,4

3

9 )    

(4

,5

5

8 )     17,052       (3,876 )     20,928  

Loss before income taxes:

   

(2

1,

5

9

6 )    

(1

3,

4

7

7 )    

(8

,1

1

9 )    

(6

1,

3

3

7 )    

(2

5,

3

0

1 )    

(3

6,

0

3

6 )
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Income (loss) before income 

taxes:     5,662       (17,767 )     23,429  

Provision for income taxes:

   

(3

4 )    

(9

5 )    

6

1      

(9

0 )    

(9

5 )     5       (76 )     (34 )     (42 )

Net loss and comprehensive 

loss

  $

(2

1,

6

3

0 )   $

(1

3,

5

7

2 )   $

(8

,0

5

8 )   $

(6

1,

4

2

7 )   $

(2

5,

3

9

6 )   $

(3

6,

0

3

1 )

Net income (loss)   $ 5,586     $ (17,801 )   $ 23,387  
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Revenue

Revenue increased $2.1 million decreased $4.7 million, or 13% 33%, to $18.2 million $9.4 million for the three months ended 

September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, compared to the same period in 2022. 2023. The increase decrease in revenue was primarily 

the result of increased decreased gastric balloon units sold due to lower re-order rates as distributors and $0.4 million of favorable 

foreign exchange rate impact. Revenue increased $0.2 million, certain accounts adjusted their inventory levels. The decrease in 

revenue was also attributable to selling less or 0.5%, no product to $45.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023, 

compared certain distributors and accounts to the same period in 2022, including $0.2 million of favorable foreign exchange rate 

impact. The flat revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the same period in 2022 was primarily the 

result of a delay in closing of the Business Combination which led to decreased investment in certain markets that had transitioned 

from a third-party distributor to a direct sales model. manage our credit risk.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue increased $0.8 million decreased $0.4 million, or 22% 14%, to $4.2 million and increased $0.6 million, or 6%, 

to $10.2 million $2.5 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, respectively, compared to the 

same periods in 2022. 2023. The increase decrease in cost of revenue was primarily a direct result of increased decreased gastric 

balloon units sold, and partially offset by an increase in manufacturing costs. expense, as less labor and overhead was absorbed due 

to lower production volumes.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased $1.4 million decreased $4.3 million, or 11% 38%, to $14.0 million $6.9 million for the three months ended 

September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, compared to the same period in 2022. 2023. The increase in gross profit was primarily the 

result of the increase in revenue and sales volume of our gastric balloon system and favorable foreign exchange impact on revenue, 

partially offset by an increase in our direct manufacturing costs. Gross profit decreased $0.4 million, or 1%, to $35.1 million for the 
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nine months ended September 30, 2023, compared to the same period in 2022. This decrease in gross profit was primarily the result 

of an increase in our direct manufacturing costs expense, as less labor and overhead was absorbed due to lower production 

volumes, as well as a higher percentage decrease in revenue and sales volume of sales in lower margin geographies, partially offset 

by favorable foreign exchange impact on revenue.
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our gastric balloon system.

Operating Expenses

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses decreased $1.7 million $5.7 million, or 11% 48%, to $14.0 million $6.2 million for the three 

months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, compared to the same period in 2022. 2023. The decrease in sales and 

marketing expenses was primarily the result of a $1.7 million $2.7 million decrease in marketing spend driven by a reorganization of 

our decision to delay investment in sales selling and marketing while completing the Business Combination with Compute 

Health, spend on more efficient channels and a $0.8 million decrease in meeting expenses, which were partially offset by a $0.7 

million increase attributable to salaries and related benefit costs due to higher headcount, and $0.4 million of unfavorable foreign 

exchange rate impact. Sales and marketing expenses increased $0.7 million, or 2%, to $36.1 million for the nine months ended 

September 30, 2023, compared to the same period in 2022. The increase in sales and marketing expenses was primarily the result 

of $3.0 million increase attributable to salaries and related benefit costs due to higher headcount, an increase of $1.8 million for 

shipping and logistics expense, and $0.1 million of unfavorable foreign exchange rate impact, partially offset by a $2.8 million 

decrease in marketing spend, and geographies, a $1.4 million decrease in travel shipping and meeting logistics expenses driven by a 

decrease in sales during the period. comparable periods, a $0.5 million decrease in sales meetings, and a $0.5 million decrease in 

salaries, related benefits, and consulting costs.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased decreased $2.1 million, or 42% 27%, to $7.2 million $5.7 million for the three 

months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, compared to the same period in 2022. 2023. The increase decrease in research 

and development expenses was primarily the result of an increase of $2.6 million in costs related to the AUDACITY clinical trial. 

Research and development expenses increased $10.4 million, or 92%, to $21.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 

2023, compared to the same period in 2022. The increase in research and development expenses was primarily the result of an 

increase of $8.5 million a $1.3 million decrease in costs related to the AUDACITY clinical trial and as it nears completion, a $1.9 

million increase $0.7 million decrease attributable to salaries and consulting costs and related benefit costs due to higher lower 

headcount, and a $0.2 million decrease in outside consulting costs. We expect research and development expenses to support new 

product development and clinical studies. decrease in 2024 as our AUDACITY trial nears completion.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased $15.1 million $1.1 million, or 396% 20%, to $18.9 million $6.4 million for the 

three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, compared to the same period in 2022. 2023. The increase in general and 

administrative expenses was primarily the result of a $4.9 million $0.9 million increase attributable to salaries, benefits, and related 

costs, a $0.7 million increase in legal and professional fees, a $0.3 million increase in insurance expense related to director and 

officer insurance, and a $0.2 million increase in stock-based compensation as a result of the Business Combination, a $3.6 million 
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increase in insurance expense as a result of the Business Combination, a $1.2 million increase in professional fees as a result of the 

Business Combination, $2.0 million for bad debt expense attributable primarily to two distributor markets that are being transitioned 

to a direct model, $1.1 million attributable to professional and consulting fees, and $1.3 million attributable to salaries and related 

benefit costs due to higher headcount. General and administrative expenses increased $20.0 million, or 188%, to $30.6 million for 

the nine months ended September 30, 2023, compared to the same period in 2022. The increase in general and administrative 

expenses was primarily the result of a $4.9 million increase in stock-based compensation as a result of the Business Combination, a 

$3.6 million increase in insurance expense as a result of the Business Combination, a $1.2 million increase in professional fees as a 

result of the Business Combination, $4.9 million for bad debt expense attributable primarily to two distributor markets that are being 

transitioned to a direct model, a $2.2 million increase attributable to salaries and related benefit costs due to higher headcount, a 

$1.5 million increase professional and consulting fees, and expense. These increases were partially offset by a $1.0 million 

increase decrease in other stock-based compensation bad debt expense.

Other expense (income)

Interest Expense Net

Interest expense net increased $1.4 million decreased $0.3 million, or 127% 14%, to $2.6 million $1.9 million for the three 

months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, compared to the same period in 2022. 2023. The increase decrease in interest 

expense was primarily due to a $1.7 million increase reduction in interest expense associated with principal of our new Fortress 

Credit Agreement, offset by a $0.2 million decrease in interest on Term Loan as compared to our 2021 Term Loan that was 

extinguished in August 2023. Interest expense, net increased $4.7 million, or 175%, to $7.3 million for during the nine months ended 

September 30, 2023, compared to the same period in 2022. The increase in interest expense was primarily due to a $2.5 million 

increase in interest on our 2021 Term Loan, a $1.7 million increase in interest expense associated with our new Fortress Credit 

Agreement, and $0.5 million increased interest expense associated with our outstanding convertible notes. comparable period.

Change in Fair Value of Warrants

The $3.8 million gain and $2.1 million $4.6 million gain attributable to the change in fair value of warrants for the three and nine 

months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, respectively, compared to the same period in 2022, 2023, was due to mark to 

market fluctuations in our warrant liabilities due to the decline in value of our common and preferred stock during those periods.

Change in Fair Value of Debt

42

The $6.0 million loss attributable to the change in fair value of debt for the three months ended September 30, 2023, was 

driven by mark to market fluctuations in our convertible debt as a result of the closing of the Business Combination and automatic 

conversion of the notes to Common stock. The $3.8 million loss attributable to the change in fair value of debt for the nine months 

ended September 30, 2023, was driven by a $6.0 million loss due to mark to market fluctuations in our convertible debt as a result of 

the closing of the Business Combination and automatic conversion of the notes to Common Stock, partially offset by a $2.3 million 

gain primarily due to the removal of the conversion rate adjustment feature associated with the 2023 Convertible Notes. period.

Change in Fair Value of Revenue Interest Financing and PIPE Conversion Option

The $2.0 million loss $1.5 million gain attributable to the change in fair value of Revenue Interest Financing and PIPE 

conversion option Conversion Option for both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 was primarily 

due to a $3.4 million gain related to the initial recognition change in fair value in the Revenue Interest Financing from December 31, 
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2023 to March 31, 2024. This gain was partially offset by a $1.9 million loss in the change in fair value of the PIPE Conversion Option 

of $3.3 million on August 1, 2023 and an additional $2.1 million loss in the fair value from August 1, 2023 December 31, 2023 to 

September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 due to a decrease in the Company's stock price during that the period. This expense was 

partially offset by a $3.4 million gain in the fair value in the Revenue Interest Financing from when the liability was established on 

August 1, 2023 to September 30, 2023.

36

Change in Fair Value of Earn-Out Liabilities

The $24.3 million $14.2 million gain attributable to the change in the fair value of earn-out liabilities for both the three and nine 

months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 was due to the decrease in the Company's stock price from when the liability 

was established on August 1, 2023 December 31, 2023 to September 30, 2023.

Termination of convertible note side letters

The $9.5 million loss attributable to the termination of convertible note side letters for the three months ended September 30, 

2023 was primarily due to a $10.1 million loss related to the Base PubCo Shares and Backstop Shares liabilities driven by the use of 

the full Backstop, partially offset by a $0.6 million gain in the PubCo Additional Shares liability. The $17.6 million loss attributable to 

the termination of convertible note side letters for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 was primarily due to a $13.4 million 

loss related to the Base PubCo Shares and Backstop Shares liability, a $2.7 million loss related to the PubCo Additional Shares 

liability, and a $1.5 million prepayment penalty related to the repayment of the Company’s Allurion Convertible Note with Hunter 

Ventures Limited.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

The $3.9 million loss attributable to the loss on extinguishment of debt for both the three and nine month periods ended 

September 30, 2023 was due to the loss on extinguishment of our 2021 Term Loan on August 1, 2023 March 31, 2024.

Other (Expense) Income, Net

The change in Other (expense) income, net for the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 compared to the 

same period in 2022, 2023, was $0.8 million $0.3 million of income primarily driven by interest income of $0.5 million and , partially 

offset by a gain of $0.2 million due $0.3 million loss related to mark to market fluctuations in the 2019 Term Loan Success Fee 

derivative liabilities. The change in Other (expense) income, net for the nine months ended September 30, 2023, compared to the 

same period in 2022, was $1.0 million of income primarily driven by $0.5 million of interest income, a gain of $0.2 million due to mark 

to market fluctuations in the 2019 Term Loan Success Fee derivative liabilities, and fluctuations in exchange rates of foreign 

currencies.

Provision for Income Taxes

We recorded a provision for income taxes of $0.1 million and less than $0.1 million and $0.1 million for the three months ended 

September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, respectively. We recorded a provision for income taxes of $0.1 million for both 
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of the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. These provisions for income taxes are due to net income in certain foreign 

jurisdictions.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, we have primarily obtained cash to fund our operations through the sale of Allurion preferred stock, 

issuance of term loans and issuance of convertible debt instruments. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, we had $79.9 

million $29.7 million in cash and cash equivalents. We had net income of $5.6 million and incurred a net loss of $61.4 million and 

$25.4 million $17.8 million for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, respectively. We 

incurred cash outflows from operating activities of $43.1 million $8.6 million and $31.3 million $10.3 million during the nine three 

months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, respectively. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, we had 

an accumulated deficit of $193.6 million $207.2 million. We expect to continue to generate significant operating losses for the 

foreseeable future.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:

• the emergence of competing innovative weight loss experiences and other adverse marketing developments;

• the timing and extent of our sales and marketing and research and development expenditures; and

• any investments or acquisitions we may choose to pursue in the future.
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Our revenue for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 was $45.2 million $9.4 million, which 

represented a year-over-year increase quarter-over-quarter decrease of less than 1% 33%. The flat decrease in revenue was 

primarily the result of a delay lower re-order rates as distributors and certain accounts adjusted their inventory levels. The decrease 

in closing of the Business Combination, which led revenue was also attributable to decreased investment in selling less or no product 

to certain markets. distributors and accounts to manage our credit risk. If our current cash and anticipated revenue and resulting cash 

flows from operations are insufficient to satisfy our liquidity and debt service requirements, including because of due to increased 

expenditures, lower demand for our gastric balloon system, the occurrence of other events or the realization of the risks described in 

this Quarterly our Annual Report on Form 10-Q or the Proxy Statement/Prospectus, 10-K, we may be required to raise additional 

capital through the issuances of public or private equity or debt financing or other capital sources earlier than expected.

Until such time as we can generate significant revenue to fund operations, we expect to use proceeds from the issuance of 

equity, debt financings, or other capital transactions to fund our operations and satisfy our liquidity requirements. We may be unable 

to increase our revenue, raise additional funds or enter into such other agreements or arrangements when needed on favorable 

terms, or at all. If we fail to raise capital or enter into such agreements as and when needed, we may have to significantly delay, 

scale back or discontinue our operations or the development and commercialization of one or more of our product candidates and 

other strategic initiatives. We Based on our recurring losses from operations incurred since inception, the expectation of continuing 

operating losses for the foreseeable future, and the potential need to raise additional capital to finance its future operations and debt 

service payments, we have concluded that this circumstance raises there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going 

concern. concern for a period of one year from the date that the consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report 

on Form 10-Q are issued.

Financing Arrangements

Note Purchase Agreement
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On April 16, 2024, we received $48 million in gross proceeds from the Amended Note Purchase Agreement with RTW, which 

proceeds were used to repay all outstanding principal, accrued and unpaid interest and other obligations with respect to the Fortress 

Term Loan.

Chardan Purchase Agreement

On December 18, 2023, we entered into the Purchase Agreement with Chardan. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, we 

have the right from time to time at our option to sell to Chardan up to the lesser of (i) $100,000,000 in aggregate gross purchase 

price of newly issued shares of our Common Stock, and (ii) the Exchange Cap.

As of March 31, 2024, we have received $0.4 million in net proceeds from sales of shares of our Common Stock pursuant to 

the Purchase Agreement with Chardan.
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Fortress Credit Agreement

As of September 30, 2023 On August 1, 2023, we have received $57.6 million in net proceeds from the Fortress Credit 

Agreement which matures that was to mature in June 2027. We entered into the Fortress Term Loan pursuant to the Fortress Credit 

Agreement on August 1, 2023 in connection with the closing of the Business Combination. In December 2023, we repaid $20.0 

million of outstanding principal under the Fortress Term Loan. On April 16, 2024, we received $48 million in gross proceeds from the 

Amended Note Purchase Agreement with RTW, which proceeds were used to repay all outstanding principal, accrued and unpaid 

interest and other obligations with respect to the Fortress Term Loan. The Fortress Term Loan is included in current portion of term 

loan on our consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024. See Note 8, Debt, in the notes to our unaudited 

interim condensed consolidated financial statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 

2022 2023 included within this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional details regarding the Fortress Term Loan.

Revenue Interest Financing Agreement

As of September 30, 2023 On August 1, 2023, we have received $40.0 million in proceeds from the Revenue Interest 

Financing Agreement with RTW, which matures in December 2030. We entered into the Revenue Interest Financing Agreement on 

February 9, 2023 and received the proceeds at the closing of the Business Combination. The Revenue Interest Financing Agreement 

is included in Revenue Interest Financing liability on our consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024. On 

April 14, 2024, the Revenue Interest Financing Agreement was amended to, among other things, increase the rate of revenue 

interest payments to be paid to RTW. See Note 9, Revenue Interest Financing, Side Letter, and PIPE Conversion Option, and Note 

19, Subsequent Events in the notes to our unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements for the three and nine 

months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 included within this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional 

details regarding the Revenue Interest Financing Agreement.

PIPE Investment

As of September 30, 2023 On August 1, 2023, we have received $37.9 million proceeds from the PIPE Subscription 

Agreement for which the PIPE Investors received 5,386,695 shares of Allurion Common Stock at a price of $7.04 per share.
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2021 Term Loan

On August 1, 2023, in connection with the closing of the Business Combination, we repaid all outstanding principal, accrued 

and unpaid interest and other obligations with respect to the 2021 Term Loan, which has been terminated. See Note 8, Debt, in the 

notes to our unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 

2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 for additional details regarding the 2021 Term Loan.

Convertible Notes

On August 1, 2023, all outstanding Allurion Convertible Notes and related interest expense were converted into shares of 

Allurion Common Stock in connection with the closing of the Business Combination. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, 

there were no outstanding convertible notes. See Note 8, Debt, in the notes to our unaudited interim condensed consolidated 

financial statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2023 for additional details related 

to our convertible notes.

Material Cash Requirements for Known Contractual and Other Obligations

Leases

We have entered into various non-cancellable operating leases for our corporate office, manufacturing facilities, research and 

development labs, management office space and certain equipment. The leases have varying terms expiring between 2024 and 

2028. See Note 14, 16, Commitments and Contingencies of the notes to our unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial 

statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2023 for additional details related to our 

noncancelable operating leases.
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Term Loan and Financing Strategy

We have $60.0 million had $43.1 million of outstanding debt under the Fortress Term Loan as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 

2024. On August 1, 2023 April 16, 2024, concurrent we received $48 million in gross proceeds from the Amended Note Purchase 

Agreement with the closing of the Business Combination, we RTW, which proceeds were used $58.0 million of borrowings under the 

Fortress Term Loan to repay all outstanding principal, accrued and unpaid interest and other obligations with respect to the 

2021 Fortress Term Loan, which has been terminated. Additionally, at the closing of the Business Combination we received an 

aggregate $40.0 million in connection with the Revenue Interest Financing Agreement. Loan.

Revenue Interest Financing

We received $40.0 million in proceeds from the Revenue Interest Financing Agreement with RTW. RTW on August 1, 2023. In 

exchange, the Company is we are obligated to remit to RTW certain revenue interest payments on all current and future products, 

digital solutions and services developed, imported, manufactured, marketed, offered for sale, promoted, sold, tested or otherwise 

distributed by Allurion and its subsidiaries until at certain specified rates. On April 14, 2024, the Revenue Interest Financing 

Agreement was amended to, among other things, increase the rate of revenue interest payments to be paid to RTW for net sales 

under $100 million prior to December 31, 2026 from 6% to 12%, and increase the royalty rate on net sales less than $100 million on 

or after January 1, 2027 from 10% to 12%.

38

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

95/168

If RTW has not received aggregate revenue interest payments equal to at least 100% of the Investment Amount by December 

31, 2027, we must make a cash payment in an amount sufficient to catch RTW up to 100% of the Investment Amount. If RTW has 

not received revenue interest payments equal to at least 240% of the Investment Amount by December 31, 2030. , we must make a 

cash payment in an amount sufficient to catch RTW up to 240% of the Investment Amount.

Research and Development Costs

We are continuing to invest in our U.S. FDA AUDACITY clinical trial and have entered into contractual obligations with each 

clinical trial site. Each contract shall continue until the completion of the trial at that site, which is approximately 48 weeks from the 

start of each contract. Our clinical trial costs are dependent on, among other things, the size, number, and length of our clinical trial. 

We also incur research and development costs related to the enhancement of our existing products.

Other Capital Requirements

We enter into agreements in the normal course of business with various vendors, which are generally cancelable upon notice. 

Payments due upon cancellation typically consist only of payments for services provided or expenses incurred, including non-

cancelable obligations of service providers, up to the date of cancellation.

Cash Flows

The following table sets forth a summary of cash flows for the periods presented:

 

 

Nine Months Ended September 

30,     Three Months Ended March 31,  

(In thousands)   2023     2022     2024     2023  

Net cash used in operating activities   $ (43,111 )   $ (31,255 )   $ (8,636 )   $ (10,318 )

Net cash used in investing activities     (1,208 )     (1,091 )     (104 )     (277 )

Net cash provided by financing activities     116,394       15,897       387       12,866  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents, 

and


   restricted cash   $ 72,075     $ (16,449 )   $ (8,353 )   $ 2,271  

 

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Nine Three Months Ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023

During the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, net income of $5.6 million and net cash provided by 

changes in our operating assets and liabilities of $2.6 million was more than offset by non-cash income of $16.8 million, resulting in 

cash used from operating activities of $8.6 million.

Non-cash income consisted of $14.2 million of income related to the change in fair value of our earn-out liabilities, $3.1 million 

of mark to market adjustments related to our warrant liabilities, and $1.5 million of income related to the change in fair value of the 
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Revenue Interest Financing and PIPE Conversion Option. This non-cash income was partially offset by $0.6 million of stock-based 

compensation expenses, $0.4 million of depreciation and amortization expense, $0.3 million of non-cash interest expense primarily 

related to the accretion of debt discount associated with our Fortress Term Loan, $0.3 million of unrealized loss on foreign exchange, 

a $0.2 million provision for inventory, and $0.2 million of non-cash lease expense.

Net cash provided by changes in our operating assets and liabilities consisted of a $1.7 million decrease in accounts 

receivable, a $0.3 million decrease in inventory, a $0.2 million decrease in prepaid expenses, other current and long-term assets, 

and a net $0.6 million increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities.

The decrease in accounts receivable was the result of an increase in cash collections. The decrease in inventory was primarily 

related to a decrease in raw materials and work in progress. The decrease in prepaid expenses, other current and long-term assets 

was primarily related to a decrease in payroll deposits. The net increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current 

liabilities was primarily related to timing of payments.

During the three months ended March 31, 2023, operating activities used $43.1 million $10.3 million of cash, resulting from a 

net loss of $61.4 million $17.8 million, partially offset by net cash provided by changes in our operating assets and liabilities of $3.4 

million $3.9 million and non-cash charges of $14.9 million $3.6 million.

Non-cash charges consisted of $16.1 million $1.5 million of mark to market adjustments related to our warrant and derivative 

liabilities, a $1 million provision for termination uncollectible accounts, $0.5 million of convertible note side letters, $6.3 

million depreciation and amortization expense, $0.4 million of stock-based compensation expense, a $5.0 million provision for 

uncollectible accounts, $3.9 million loss on extinguishment of debt for our 2021 Term Loan, $3.8 million related to the change in fair 

value of our convertible debt, $2.0 million related to the change in fair value of the Revenue Interest Financing and PIPE Conversion 

Option, $1.1 million $0.3 million of non-cash interest expense primarily related to the accretion of debt discount associated with our 

outstanding debt arrangements, a $0.7 million provision for inventory, $0.6 million of lease expense, $0.6 million of depreciation and 

amortization expense, and $0.3 million of unrealized loss on foreign exchange. These charges were partially offset by $24.3 million 

of income related to the change in fair value of our earn-out liabilities and $2.4 million of mark to market adjustments related to our 

warrant and derivative liabilities. arrangements.
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Net cash provided by changes in our operating assets and liabilities consisted of a net $8.4 million $4.9 million increase in 

accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities, and a $0.4 million decrease in prepaid expenses, other current and 

long-term assets, partially offset by a $3.9 million increase in accounts receivable, a $0.9 million $0.4 million increase in inventory, 

and a $0.6 million decrease $0.4 million increase in operating lease liabilities. accounts receivable.

The net increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities was primarily related to increased 

expenses as well as timing of payments. The increase in accounts receivable was primarily related to the timing of cash collections. 

The
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decrease in prepaid expenses, other current and long-term assets was primarily related to the settlement of deferred deal costs 

related to the Business Combination. The increase in inventory was primarily related to an increase in work in progress and raw 

materials.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2022, operating activities used $31.3 million of cash, resulting from a net loss of 

$25.4 million and net cash used by changes in our operating assets and liabilities of $8.1 million, offset by non-cash charges of $2.3 

million.

Non-cash charges consisted of $0.7 million of depreciation and amortization expense, $0.6 million of non-cash interest 

expense primarily related to the accretion of debt discount associated with our outstanding debt arrangements, $0.5 million of lease 

expense, $0.3 million of stock-based compensation expense, and $0.4 million of unrealized loss on foreign exchange.

Net cash used by changes in our operating assets and liabilities consisted of a $13.8 million increase in accounts receivable, a 

$1.6 million increase in inventory, and a $0.8 million increase in prepaid expenses, other current assets and long-term assets, 

partially offset by a net $8.7 million increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities.

The increase in accounts receivable was primarily related to growth in sales. The increase in prepaid expenses and other 

current assets was primarily related to increases in prepaid inventory. The increase in inventory was primarily related to an increase 

in finished goods and raw materials. The net increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities receivable 

was primarily related to an increase growth in sales and marketing and general and administrative expenses. sales.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

Nine Three Months Ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023

During the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023, cash used 

in investing activities was $1.2 million $0.1 million and $1.1 million $0.3 million, respectively, consisting of purchases of property and 

equipment.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

Nine Three Months Ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023

During the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, cash provided by financing activities was $116.4 

million $0.4 million, consisting of $62.1 million $0.4 million of proceeds from our equity line financing.

During the Business Combination, net three months ended March 31, 2023, cash provided by financing activities was $12.9 

million, consisting of transaction costs, $57.6 million from the issuance of our Fortress Term Loan net of debt issuance costs, $38.8 

million from the issuance of our Revenue Interest Financing Agreement with RTW net of issuance costs, $28.7 million $13.6 million 

from the issuance of our 2023 Convertible Notes, net of issuance costs, partially offset by the $57.7 million repayment $0.8 million of 

our 2021 Term Loan, $10.8 million repayment payments of our 2023 Convertible Notes and $2.5 million of repayment of a promissory 

note assumed from Compute Health in the Business Combination.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2022, cash provided by deferred financing activities was $15.9 million, consisting 

of $14.7 million borrowed under the 2021 Term Loan, net of issuance costs, $1.1 million from the issuance of our 2022 Convertible 

Notes, net of issuance costs, and $0.1 million from the exercise of stock options. costs.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
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Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United 

States. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures requires us to make estimates and 

judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, costs and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent assets and 

liabilities in our consolidated financial statements. We base our estimates on historical experience, known trends and events and 

various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making 

judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. We evaluate our 

estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or 

conditions. While our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in Note 2 to our audited consolidated financial 

statements included in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus, our Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe that the following accounting 

policies are those most critical to the judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

We account for revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers (“Topic 606” or “ASC 606”). In accordance with ASC 606, we recognize revenue when control of our products is 

transferred to our customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those products. Our 

revenue recognition process involves identifying the contract with a customer, determining the performance obligations in the 

contract, determining the transaction price, allocating the transaction price to the distinct performance obligations in the contract, and 

recognizing revenue as performance obligations are satisfied.

Revenue is generated primarily from the sale of our gastric balloon system, which includes the Allurion Balloon and related 

accessories. Through the first half of 2023, we We have provided customers purchasing the Allurion Balloon with an implied license 

for

46

access to our Allurion VCS software. This implied software license was given to customers for no additional consideration and was 

not negotiated as part of the customer’s contracts. As such, it has been deemed an immaterial promise in the context of the contract, 

and we do not consider the license as a separate performance obligation. In the future, if and when Allurion VCS services are 

determined to be a performance obligation, we expect the associated consideration will be deferred and recognized over the license 

period.

We sell our products directly to customers through our direct sales personnel and indirectly through independent distributors. 

For distributor sales, we sell our products to our distributors, who subsequently resell the products to health care providers, among 

others. For direct sales, our products are sold directly to our customers, which are typically health care providers. Generally, 

customer contracts contain Free on Board (“FOB”) or Ex-Works shipping point terms. incoterms. We recognize revenue when the 

customer obtains control of our product, which typically occurs upon shipment, in return for agreed-upon, fixed-price consideration.

Additionally, from time to time, we offer certain incentives to our customers, which are recorded as a reduction of revenue in 

the period the related product revenue is recognized. Any discounts we offer are outlined in our customer agreements. Payments to 

the customer for a distinct good or service that reasonably estimates the fair value of the distinct benefit received, such as marketing 

programs and shipping and logistics services, are recorded as a selling and marketing expense.
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Our payment terms are consistent with prevailing practice in the respective markets in which we do business, which are not 

affected by contingent events that could impact the transaction price. Our contracts with customers do not provide general rights of 

return unless certain product quality standards are not met.

Valuation of Earn-Out Liabilities

In connection with the Business Combination, holders of Legacy Allurion common stock and Legacy Allurion preferred stock 

and holders of vested options, warrants and restricted stock units exercisable or convertible into Legacy Allurion capital stock 

received the contingent right to receive additional shares of our Common Stock (the “Earn-Out Shares”) upon the achievement of 

certain earn-out targets. As the contingent earn-out consideration contains a settlement provision that precludes it from being 

indexed to the Company’s our stock, it is classified as a liability under ASC 480, as defined in Note 2, Summary of Significant 

Accounting Policies. The fair value of contingent earn-out consideration is estimated as of the acquisition date at the present value of 

the expected contingent payments using a Monte Carlo Simulation Method ("MCSM"). The MCSM utilizes a combination of 

observable (Level 2) and unobservable (Level 3) inputs, which include the trading price and volatility of the underlying common 

stock, expected term, risk-free interest rates, and expected date of a qualifying event. The determination of the fair value of these 

financial instruments is complex and highly judgmental due to the significant estimation required. In particular, the fair value estimate 

was is sensitive to certain assumptions, such as the volatility of underlying shares.

Changes in the estimated fair value of the contingent earn-out consideration are recorded in other expense Other income 

(expense) in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss and are reflected in the period in which 

they are identified. Changes in the estimated fair value of the continent earn-out consideration may materially impact or cause 

volatility in our operating results.

Valuation of Revenue Interest Financing and PIPE Conversion Option

In connection with the Business Combination, the Company we entered into the Revenue Interest Financing Agreement with 

RTW, under which the Company received $40.0 million upfront. In exchange, the Company is we are obligated to remit to RTW 

certain revenue interest payments on all current and future products, digital solutions and services developed, imported, 

manufactured, marketed, offered for sale, promoted, sold, tested or otherwise distributed by Allurion and its subsidiaries until 

December 31, 2030. The Company accounts We account for the Revenue Interest Financing Agreement under the fair value option 

election of ASC 825. The Revenue Interest Financing Agreement accounted for under the FVO fair value option (" FVO") election is a 

debt host financial instrument containing embedded features wherein the entire financial instrument is initially measured at its issue-

date estimated fair value and then subsequently remeasured at estimated fair value on a recurring basis at each reporting period 

date. The fair value of the Revenue Interest Financing is calculated using a discounted cash flow method under the income approach 

utilizing future revenue projections and a discount rate. Changes in the estimated fair value of the Revenue Interest Financing 

Agreement are recorded as a component of Other expense income (expense) in the condensed consolidated statements of 

operations and operations. A portion of the estimated change in fair value must be reported in other comprehensive loss. loss to the 

extent that it is attributable to instrument-specific credit risk. As a result of electing the FVO, direct costs and fees related to the 

Revenue Interest Financing are expensed as incurred.

In connection with the Company entering in the Revenue Interest Financing, the Company we and RTW entered into the RTW 

Side Letter under which RTW may elect to convert up to $7.5 million of its initial PIPE subscription into an additional revenue interest 
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financing by forfeiting a number of shares of our common stock acquired by the RTW in its PIPE subscription. The Company 

accounts Investment (the "PIPE Conversion Option"). We account for the PIPE Conversion Option as a freestanding financial 

instrument that qualifies for derivative liability accounting in accordance with ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging. The fair value of the 

PIPE Conversion Option is measured using a MCSM using a combination of observable (Level 2) and unobservable (Level 3) inputs, 

which include the number of shares convertible, the stock price of the underlying common stock, volatility, risk-free rates, and 

expected term. The PIPE Conversion Option is initially measured at its fair value within Other liabilities on the condensed 

consolidated balance sheets with corresponding recognition of expense at inception as there is no right received by the Company 

that meets the definition of an asset and the transaction did not involve a distribution or a
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dividend. Subsequent changes in fair value of the derivative liability are recognized as a gain or loss as a component of Other 

income (expense) income in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. operations.

Determination of Fair Value of Legacy Allurion Preferred Stock, Common Stock and Warrants

The estimated fair value of our Legacy Allurion shares has been determined by the Legacy Allurion Board, board of directors, 

with input from management, considering our the most recently available third-party valuations then available and the Legacy Allurion 

Board’s board of directors' assessment of additional objective and subjective factors that it believed were relevant. These factors 

included, but were not limited to:

• the prices at which we sold shares of Legacy Allurion preferred stock and the superior rights and preferences of the Legacy
Allurion preferred stock relative to the Legacy Allurion common stock at the time of each grant;

• our stage of development and business strategy;

• external market conditions and trends affecting our industry;
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• our financial position, including cash on hand, and our historical and forecasted performance and operating results;

• the lack of an active public market for our Common Stock and our preferred stock;

• the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offering, deSPAC transaction, or sale of our company in
light of prevailing market conditions; and

• the analysis of initial public offerings or other financing transactions and market performance of comparable companies in t
industry.

The fair value of the underlying Legacy Allurion Preferred Stock, Common Stock, and warrants was determined by the Legacy 

Allurion board of directors until we were listed on the NYSE on August 2, 2023. The fair value of the Legacy Allurion shares is utilized 

in the determination of stock-based compensation expense, Common Stock warrant liability expense, preferred stock recorded at fair 

value and the convertible notes conversion price. The assumptions underlying these valuations represented management’s best 

estimates, which involved inherent uncertainties and the application of management’s judgment. As a result, if we had used 
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significantly different assumptions or estimates, the fair value of the Legacy Allurion preferred stock issued in 2021 and Legacy 

Allurion Convertible Notes converted in 2021 could be materially different. Significantly different assumptions or estimates could also 

impact the fair value of the Legacy Allurion Stock Options and stock-based compensation and fair value of the Legacy Allurion 

warrants, but these have not been material to date. The fair value of the underlying Legacy Preferred Stock, Common Stock, and 

warrants was determined by the then board of directors until we were listed on the NYSE on August 2, 2023.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2, Summary of Significant of Accounting Policies in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 

included in Part 1, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a description of recently issued accounting pronouncements that 

may potentially impact our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Emerging Growth Company and Smaller Reporting Company

We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (“JOBS Act”). Under the JOBS 

Act, emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards apply 

to private companies. We have elected to use this extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards 

that have different effective dates for public and private companies until the earlier of the date that (i) we are no longer an emerging 

growth company or (ii) we affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. As a 

result, these financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with the new or revised accounting 

pronouncements as of public company effective dates. We may choose to early adopt any new or revised accounting standards 

whenever such early adoption is permitted for private companies.

Additionally, we will be are a “smaller reporting company” as defined in Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K, which would 

allow allows us to take advantage of certain exemptions from disclosure requirements including exemption from compliance with the 

auditor attestation requirements of Section 404. We will remain a smaller reporting company until the last day of the fiscal year in 

which (i) the market value of the shares of our Common Stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $250 million as of the prior June 30, 

and (ii) our annual revenue exceeded $100 million during such completed fiscal year or the market value of the shares of our 

Common Stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the prior June 30. To the extent we take advantage of such reduced 

disclosure obligations, it may also make comparison of our financial statements with other public companies difficult or impossible.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Interest Rate Risk

We had cash and cash equivalents totaling $79.9 million as of September 30, 2023 $29.7 million at March 31, 2024. Cash 

equivalents were invested primarily in money market funds. Our investment policy is focused on the preservation of capital and 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

102/168

supporting our liquidity needs. Under our investment policy, we invest in highly rated securities, issued by the U.S. government or 

liquid money market funds. We do not invest in financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes, nor do we use leveraged 

financial instruments. We utilize external investment managers who adhere to the guidelines of our investment policy. A hypothetical 

10% change in interest rates would not have a material impact on the value of our cash, cash equivalents, net loss or cash flows.

We have exposure to interest rate risk from our variable rate debt. We do not hedge our exposure to changes in interest rates. 

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, we had $60 million $43.1 million in variable rate debt outstanding with Fortress. Interest 

on our debt is payable monthly during the term of the loan and is calculated as 6.44% plus the greater of (i) the Wall Street Journal 

Prime Rate and (ii) 3.0% (14.94% as of September 30, 2023). March 31, 2024 in the aggregate). Changes in the Wall Street Journal 

Prime Rate may therefore affect our interest expense associated with the loan. A 10% change in interest rates would increase 

expense by approximately $0.6 million $0.4 million annually based on the amounts currently outstanding  at March 31, 2024 and 

would not materially affect our results of operations.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We are exposed to foreign currency risks that arise from normal business operations. These risks include transaction gains 

and losses associated with transactions denominated in currencies other than a location’s functional currency and the 

remeasurement of foreign currencies to our U.S. dollar reporting currency. As such, we have exposure to adverse changes in 

exchange rates associated with operating expenses of our foreign operations. Transaction gains or losses are included in other 

income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations, and comprehensive loss, as incurred.

We believe that a 10% increase or decrease in current exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and our foreign currencies 

could have a material impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations. Our primary exposures related to foreign 

currency denominated sales and expenses are in Europe and we also have exposure in the Middle East and the Asia-Pacific region, 

and are monitoring potential developing exposure in the Latin American, Canadian and African markets.

To date, we have not engaged in any foreign currency hedging activities. As our international operations grow, we will continue 

to reassess our approach to managing the risks relating to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. During the nine three 

months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, the effect of an immediate 10% adverse change in foreign exchange rates on 

foreign-denominated accounts would have had an impact of approximately 5% 7% on revenues and 2% 7% on expenses and would 

have impacted our net less income by approximately 1% 6%. During the nine three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 

2023, the effect of an immediate 10% adverse change in foreign exchange rates on foreign-denominated accounts would have had 

an impact of approximately 5% 6% on revenues and 3% 2% on expenses and would have impacted our net less loss by 

approximately 2% 1%.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to 

be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") is 

recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls 

and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in 

our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief 

Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

103/168

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have reviewed and evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's 

disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act) as of the 

end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on that review and evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer 

and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of 

September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 as a result of the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting discussed 

below.

In connection with the audits of our consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 

2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, we identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting that we 

are currently working to remediate, which relate to: (a) insufficient segregation of duties in the financial statement close process; (b) a 

lack of sufficient levels of staff with public company and technical accounting experience to maintain proper control activities and 

perform risk assessment and monitoring activities; and (c) insufficient information systems controls, including access and change 

management controls. We have concluded that these material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting occurred 

because we did not have the necessary business processes, personnel and related internal controls to operate in a manner to satisfy 

the accounting and financial reporting timeline requirements of a public company.
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We are focused on designing and implementing effective internal controls measures to improve our evaluation of disclosure 

controls and procedures, including internal control over financial reporting, and remediating the material weaknesses. In order to 

remediate these material weaknesses, we have taken and plan to take the following actions:

• the hiring and planned continued hiring of additional accounting staff with public company experience,

• implemented a new enterprise resource planning system to replace the prior enterprise resource planning system,

• implementation of additional review controls and processes requiring timely account reconciliation and analyses of certain 
transactions and accounts, and

• hired a national accounting firm to assist in the design and implementation of controls and remediation of controls gaps.

While significant progress has been made to enhance our internal control over financial reporting, we are still in the process of 

building and enhancing our processes, procedures, and controls. Additional time is required to complete the remediation of these 

material weaknesses and the assessment to ensure the sustainability of these remediation actions. We believe the above actions, 

when complete, will be effective in the remediation of the material weakness described above.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the most recently completed fiscal quarter, there has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as 

defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that has materially affected, or is reasonable likely to materially 

affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures
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In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and 

procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control 

objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and 

that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their 

costs costs.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, we may become involved in legal proceedings or be subject to claims arising in the ordinary course of our 

business. We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings. Regardless of outcome, such proceedings or claims can 

have an adverse impact on us the Company because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of resources and other factors, and 

there can be no assurances that favorable outcomes will be obtained.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, which we believe are the material risks that we face, 

together with all Information regarding risk factors appears in Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" of the other information in this 

Quarterly our Annual Report on Form 10-Q, including our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements 10-K for the year 

ended December 31, 2023, which was filed with the SEC on March 26, 2024 and notes thereto subsequently amended on April 29, 

2024 (the “Form 10-K”). There have been no material changes from the risk factors previously disclosed in such Form 10-K. In 

addition to the matters set forth herein, investors should review the risks factors and other information provided in the “Management’s 

discussion and analysis of Form 10-K prior to making an investment in the Company. The business, financial condition and operating 

results of operations” section the Company can be affected by a number of this Quarterly Report on factors, whether currently known 

or unknown, including but not limited to those described in the Form 10-Q before deciding whether 10-K, any one or more of which 

could, directly or indirectly, cause the Company’s actual financial condition and operating results to purchase our securities. If 

any vary materially from past, or from anticipated future, financial conditions and operating results. Any of these factors, in whole or in 

part, could materially and adversely affect the following risks are realized, our Company’s business, financial condition, operating 

results and prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the price of our securities could decline, perhaps 

significantly. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial also may impair our 

business operation.

Risks Related to the Development and Commercialization of Our Products

We expect to incur losses for the foreseeable future, our ability to achieve and maintain profitability depends on the 

commercial success of the Allurion Balloon, and we expect our revenues to continue to be driven primarily by sales of the 

Allurion Balloon.
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We have incurred losses to date and expect to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future. Sales of the Allurion Balloon 

and related accessories, which have occurred outside of the U.S. because we have not yet obtained the regulatory approval required 

to sell our products within the U.S., accounted for substantially all of our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

and the nine months ended September 30, 2023, and we expect our revenues to continue to be driven primarily by sales of the 

Allurion Balloon. In order to achieve and sustain profitability, our revenues from sales of the Allurion Balloon will need to grow beyond 

the levels we have achieved in the past. If health care providers and/or patients do not perceive our products to be competitive in 

features, efficacy and safety when compared to other products in the market, or if demand for the Allurion Balloon or for weight loss 

procedures and programs in general decreases, we may fail to achieve sales levels that provide for future profitability.

Our ability to successfully market the Allurion Balloon and our other current and future product and service offerings depends 

on numerous factors, including but not limited to:

• outcomes of current and future clinical studies of, and trials involving, the Allurion Balloon;

• acceptance of the Allurion Balloon as safe and effective by patients, caregivers and the medical community;

• an acceptable safety profile of the Allurion Balloon in markets where we have obtained regulatory approvals;

• whether key thought leaders in the medical community accept that such clinical studies are sufficiently meaningful to influen
their or their patients’ choices of product;

• maintenance of our existing regulatory approvals and expansion of the geographies in which we have regulatory approvals

• commercially viable processes at a scale sufficient to meet anticipated demand at an adequate cost of manufacturing, and 
are compliant with ISO 13485 Quality Management System requirements and/or good manufacturing practice (“GMP”),

• requirements as set forth in the FDA’s Quality System Regulation (“QSR”) and other international regulations;

• our success in educating health care providers and patients about the benefits, administration and use of the Allurion Ballo

• the availability, perceived advantages, relative cost, relative safety and relative efficacy of alternative and competing 
treatments;

• the willingness of patients to pay out-of-pocket for the Allurion Balloon and/or Allurion Virtual Care Suite in the absence of 
coverage and reimbursement for such treatment;
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• the success of our internal sales and marketing organization and the sales forces of our distributors; and

• continued demand for weight loss using balloon products, which may be adversely affected by events involving our product
those of our competitors, among other things.

Some of these factors are beyond our control. If we are unable to continue to commercialize the Allurion Balloon and our other 

current and future products and services, or are unable to obtain a distributor or partner to commercialize them, we may not be able 

to produce any incremental revenues related to the Allurion Balloon and our other current and future products and services. This 

would result in an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

We have a limited operating history and may face difficulties encountered by companies early in their commercialization in 

competitive and rapidly evolving markets.

The Allurion Balloon has been marketed in countries outside of the United States since 2016, and as such, we have a limited 

operating history upon which to evaluate our business and forecast our future revenue and operating results. In assessing our 

business prospects, you should consider the various risks and difficulties frequently encountered by companies early in their 
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commercialization in competitive markets, particularly companies that develop and sell medical devices. These risks include our 

ability to:

• implement and execute our business strategy;

• expand and improve the productivity of our direct sales force, distributors and marketing programs to grow sales of our exis
and proposed products and services;

• increase awareness of our brand and build loyalty among health care providers and patients;

• manage growth and expanding operations;

• respond effectively to competitive pressures and developments;

• enhance our existing products and develop new products;

• obtain regulatory approval or clearance to enhance our existing products and commercialize new products, including any la
expansions for use of our products in adolescents;

• respond to changing regulations associated with medical devices across all geographies;

• perform clinical trials with respect to our existing products and any new products, including products under development;

• attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel in various areas of our business; and

• obtain and maintain coverage and adequate levels of reimbursement for our products.

Due to our limited operating history, we may not have the institutional knowledge or experience to be able to effectively 

address these and other risks that we may face. In addition, we may not be able to develop insights into trends that could emerge 

and negatively affect our business and may fail to respond effectively to those trends. As a result of these or other risks, we may not 

be able to execute key components of our business strategy, and our business, financial condition and operating results may suffer.

We do not expect that health care providers or patients will receive third-party reimbursement for treatment with our 

products. As a result, we expect that our success will depend on the ability and willingness of health care providers to 

adopt self-pay practice management infrastructure and of patients to pay out-of-pocket for treatment with our products.

Certain elective treatments, such as an intragastric balloon, are typically not covered by insurance. Accordingly, we do not 

expect that any third-party payors will cover or reimburse health care providers or patients for the Allurion Program. As a result, we 

expect that our success will depend on the ability and willingness of health care providers that may not have historically operated a 

self-pay practice to adopt the policies and procedures needed to successfully operate such a practice. Our sales and marketing 

efforts have historically targeted bariatric surgeons, gastroenterologists, plastic surgeons and other health care providers.

Although many of these health care providers are accustomed to selling cash-pay services in their practices, some are 

primarily accustomed to providing services that are reimbursed by third-party payors. As a result, these health care providers may 

need to augment their administrative staff and billing procedures to address the logistics of a self-pay practice. If health care 

providers are unable or unwilling to make such changes, adoption of our products may be slower than anticipated.

Our success will also depend on the ability and willingness of patients to pay out-of-pocket for treatment with our products. 

Adverse changes in the economy, including from heightened inflation, higher interest rates, the Russia-Ukraine war, the Israel-

Hamas war, and the ongoing impact of COVID-19, may cause consumers to reassess their spending choices and reduce the 

demand for elective treatments and could have an adverse effect on consumer spending. This shift could have an adverse effect on 

our revenues and operating results. In addition, the operations of the medical device distributors upon whom we rely to sell our 

products may be
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negatively impacted by any such adverse economic changes. If our distributors are unable to maintain their operations and 

effectively market and sell our products, our results of operations and business may suffer. Furthermore, consumer preferences and 

trends may shift due to a variety of factors, including changes in demographic and social trends, public health initiatives and product 

innovations, which may reduce consumer demand for our products. The decision by a patient to elect to undergo treatment with the 

Allurion Balloon may be influenced by a number of additional factors, such as:

• the success of any sales and marketing programs, including direct-to-consumer marketing efforts, that we, or any third part
we engage, undertake;

• the extent to which health care providers offer the Allurion Balloon to their patients;

• the extent to which the Allurion Balloon satisfies patient expectations;

• the cost, safety, comfort, tolerability, ease of use, and effectiveness of the Allurion Program as compared to other treatment
and

• general consumer confidence, which may be impacted by economic and political conditions.

Our financial performance will be materially harmed if we cannot generate significant customer demand for the Allurion 

Balloon.

Changes in coverage and reimbursement for obesity treatments and procedures could affect the adoption of the Allurion 

Program and our future revenues.

Currently, intragastric balloon products are not reimbursed by third-party payors. We do not currently plan on submitting any 

requests to any third-party payor for coverage or billing codes specific to our products. However, payors may change their coverage 

and reimbursement policies for intragastric balloon products as a category and/or for other obesity treatments and procedures, and 

these changes could negatively impact our business. For example, healthcare reform legislation or regulation that may be proposed 

or enacted in the future that results in a favorable change in coverage and reimbursement for competitive products and procedures in 

weight loss and obesity could also negatively impact adoption of our products and our future revenues, and our business could be 

harmed as we would be at an economic disadvantage when competing for customers.

The failure of the Allurion Balloon to achieve and maintain market acceptance could result in us achieving sales below our 

expectations, which would cause our business, financial condition and operating results to be materially and adversely 

affected.

Our current business and growth strategy is highly dependent on the Allurion Balloon achieving and maintaining market 

acceptance. In order for us to sell our products to healthcare providers and, ultimately, weight loss patients, we must convince them 

that our products are an attractive alternative to competitive treatments for patients who are obese and overweight, including 

traditional pharmaceutical therapies and more aggressive bariatric surgical treatments, such as gastric bypass and sleeve 

gastrectomy. Market acceptance and adoption of the Allurion Balloon depends on educating health care providers on its safe and 

appropriate use, as well as the cost, safety, comfort, tolerability, ease of use, and effectiveness of the Allurion Program compared to 

other treatments. If we are not successful in convincing existing and potential customers of the benefits of our product, or if we are 

not able to achieve the support of health care providers for our product, our sales may decline or we may achieve sales below our 

expectations.

Market acceptance of our products could be negatively impacted by many factors, including:
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• the willingness of patients to pay out-of-pocket for the Allurion Program in the absence of coverage and reimbursement for 
such program;

• the failure of our products to achieve and maintain wide acceptance among patients who are obese and overweight, their 
health care providers, third-party payors and key opinion leaders in the weight loss treatment community;

• lack of evidence supporting the safety, ease-of-use or other perceived benefits of the Allurion Balloon over competitive 
products or other currently available weight loss treatment alternatives;

• perceived risks or uncertainties, or actual adverse events or other undesirable side effects, associated with the use of our 
gastric balloons, or components thereof, or of similar products or technologies of our competitors;

• any adverse legal action, including products liability litigation, against us or our competitors relating to the Allurion Balloon o
similar products or technologies;

• the withdrawal or modification of any regulatory approvals for our products; and

• results of clinical studies relating to the Allurion Balloon or similar competitive products.
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In addition, the rapid evolution of technology and treatment options within our industry may cause consumers to delay the 

purchase of our products in anticipation of advancements or breakthroughs, or the perception that advancements or breakthroughs 

could occur, in our products or the products offered by our competitors. It is also possible that consumers interested in purchasing 

any of our future products currently under development may delay the purchase of one of our current products. In addition, 

customers may delay their purchasing decisions, or health care providers may refrain from providing our products, as a result of a 

global pandemic or unfavorable changes in general economic conditions.

If the Allurion Balloon, or any other therapy or product that we may develop, does not achieve and maintain widespread market 

acceptance, we may fail to achieve sales consistent with our projections, in which case our business, financial condition and 

operating results could be materially and adversely affected.

A substantial proportion of our sales are through distributors, and we do not have direct control over the efforts these 

distributors may use to sell our products. If our relationships with these third-party distributors deteriorate, or if these 

third-party distributors fail to sell our products or engage in activities that harm our reputation, or fail to adhere to medical 

device regulations, our financial results may be negatively affected.

Historically, our sales model has been to sell primarily through distributors rather than through our own sales force, but recently 

we have begun to transition certain territories to both a direct sales model and a hybrid sales model that includes both distributors 

and a direct sales effort. We believe that our reliance on distributors improves the economics of our business, as we do not carry the 

high fixed costs of a large direct sales force in many of the countries in which the Allurion Balloon is commercially available. If we are 

unable to maintain or enter into such distribution arrangements on acceptable terms, or at all, we may not be able to successfully 

commercialize our products in certain countries. Furthermore, distributors can choose the level of effort that they apply to selling our 

products relative to others in their portfolio. The selection, training, and compensation of distributors’ sales personnel are within the 

distributor’s control rather than our own and may vary significantly in quality from distributor to distributor.

In addition, although our contract terms require our distributors to comply with all applicable laws regarding the sale of our 

products, including anti-competition, anti-money laundering, sanctions laws and FDA and other health care regulations, we may not 

be able to ensure proper compliance. If our distributors fail to effectively market and sell our products in full compliance with 

applicable laws, our results of operations and business may suffer.
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In certain large markets, we engage in direct sales efforts. We may fail to maintain and develop our direct sales force, and 

our revenues and financial outcomes could suffer as a result. Furthermore, our direct sales personnel may not effectively 

sell our products.

We engage in direct sales efforts in over 30 countries. We have hired and will need to retain and motivate a significant number 

of sales and marketing personnel in order to support our anticipated growth in these and other new countries. There is significant 

competition for quality personnel experienced in such activities, including from companies with greater financial resources than ours. 

If we are not successful in our efforts to continue recruiting, retaining, and motivating such personnel, we may not be able to increase 

our revenues, or we may increase our expenses in greater measure than our revenues, negatively impacting our operating results.

We are also working on creating a direct sales structure and strategy in certain markets. We are working to put in place the 

correct legal and business structure to comply with taxation and operational requirements. These structures may not ultimately be 

implemented or, if implemented, be successful or effective and may not be able to increase our revenues or improve our gross 

margins. In addition, our expenses or tax-related costs may increase in greater measure than our revenues, negatively impacting our 

operating results.

Furthermore, our sales force may operate independently with limited day-to-day oversight from management. They may 

engage in sales practices that increase certain risks to our business, including the risk of scrutiny from regulatory authorities and the 

risk that we violate anti-corruption regulations in one or more countries. These and other independent actions may result in 

unexpected costs, news that might impair our reputation or revenues, litigation in various jurisdictions, and/or sanctions. Any of these 

could impair the trading price of our common stock and adversely impact our results.

The effectiveness and safety of the Allurion Balloon depends critically on our ability to educate health care providers on its 

safe and proper use. If we are unable to do so, we may not achieve our expected growth and may be subject to risks and 

liabilities.

In addition to educating health care providers on the clinical benefits of the Allurion Balloon, we must also train health care 

providers on the safe and appropriate use of the Allurion Balloon. If we are unable to provide an adequate training program with 

respect to the Allurion Balloon, product misuse may occur that could lead to serious adverse events. Many health care providers may 

be unfamiliar with such treatments or find it more complex than competitive products or alternative treatments. As such, there is a 

learning process involved for health care providers to become proficient in the use of our products and it may take several 

procedures for a health care provider to be able to use the Allurion Balloon comfortably. In addition, it is also critical for health care 

providers to be educated and trained on best practices in order to achieve optimal results, including patient selection and eligibility 

criteria, as well
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as complementary methods of use such as diet or behavioral modification programs. Convincing health care providers to dedicate 

the time and energy necessary for adequate training is challenging, and we cannot assure you that we will be successful in these 

efforts. This training process may also take longer than we expect. In the event that health care providers are not properly trained in 

the use of the Allurion Balloon, they may misuse or ineffectively use our products for the treatment of patients. As a result, patients 

may experience adverse events or not be able to enjoy the benefits of our program or achieve the weight loss outcomes they expect, 

leading to dissatisfaction and market rejection of our products. In addition, misuse of our products in any stage of the treatment may 

result in, among other things, patient injury, adverse side effects, negative publicity or lawsuits against us. Any of these events could 

have an adverse effect on our business and reputation.
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The misuse or off-label use of our products may harm our image in the marketplace, result in injuries that lead to product 

liability suits or result in costly investigations and sanctions by regulatory bodies if we are deemed to have engaged in the 

promotion of these uses, any of which could be costly to our business.

The Allurion Balloon has been approved or cleared by regulatory authorities in the countries in which we sell it or in which we 

conduct our operations for specific indications. We do not promote the Allurion Balloon for uses outside of approved or cleared 

indications for use, known as “off-label uses.” We cannot, however, prevent a health care provider from using our product off-label, 

when in the health care provider’s independent professional medical judgment he or she deems it appropriate. There may be 

increased risk of injury to patients if health care providers attempt to use our product off-label. Furthermore, the use of our product for 

indications other than those approved or cleared by regulatory authorities may not effectively treat such conditions, which could harm 

our reputation in the marketplace among physicians and patients.

Health care providers may also misuse our products, use improper techniques, ignore or disregard product warnings, 

contraindications or other information provided in training materials or product labeling, fail to obtain adequate training, or fail to 

inform patients of the risks associated with procedures that utilize our product, potentially leading to injury and an increased risk of 

product liability claims. If our product is misused or used with improper technique, we may become subject to costly litigation by our 

health care providers or their patients.

There is no guarantee that the FDA or non-U.S. regulatory agencies will grant approval or clearance for our current or 

future products, including the Allurion Balloon, and failure to obtain regulatory approvals or clearances in the United States 

and other international jurisdictions, or revocation of approvals or clearances in those jurisdictions, will prevent us from 

marketing our products in such jurisdictions.

We intend to seek regulatory approval or clearance of our current and future products in the U.S. and certain non-U.S. 

jurisdictions. We have obtained a CE Mark for the Allurion Balloon and are therefore authorized to sell in the EU; however, in order to 

market in regions such as the U.S., Asia Pacific region and many other jurisdictions, we must obtain separate regulatory approvals or 

clearances. The procedures vary among countries and can involve additional clinical testing, and the time required to obtain approval 

or clearance may differ from that required to obtain the CE Mark or FDA approval. As a result of the United Kingdom leaving the EU, 

since January 1, 2021, the regulatory framework and regimes for medical devices in the United Kingdom and the EU have diverged. 

In particular, a new UKCA Mark was introduced for medical devices placed on the Great Britain market (which includes England, 

Scotland and Wales). Northern Ireland has adopted a hybrid approach as a result of the divergence in accordance with the Northern 

Ireland Protocol. Manufacturers can continue placing CE marked medical devices on the Great Britain market until June 30, 2024. 

From July 1, 2024, transitional arrangements will apply for CE and UKCA marked medical devices placed on the Great Britain 

market. Moreover, clinical studies or manufacturing processes conducted in one country may not be accepted by regulatory 

authorities in other countries. Approval by the FDA does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other countries, and 

approval by one or more international regulatory authorities does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other countries or 

by the FDA. However, a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one country may have a negative effect on the regulatory 

process in others. An international regulatory approval process may include all of the risks associated with obtaining FDA approval. 

We may not obtain regulatory approvals on a timely basis, if at all. We may not be able to submit for regulatory approvals or 

clearances and even if we submit we may not receive necessary approvals or clearances to commercialize our products in any 

market.

Before obtaining regulatory approval or clearance for the sale of a product, we may be required to conduct extensive preclinical 

and clinical studies to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our planned products in human patients. Preclinical and clinical studies 
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can be expensive, difficult to design and implement, can take many years to complete, and are uncertain as to outcome. A failure of 

one or more of our studies could occur at any stage of testing. In connection with the initiation of a clinical study in the U.S., we filed 

an investigational device exemption, or “IDE,” application, which was approved by the FDA in 2016. After we conducted that study 

and submitted a premarket approval application, or “PMA”, to the FDA, in 2020, the FDA requested additional data. Therefore, we 

withdrew the PMA and in 2021 submitted an IDE application for our AUDACITY trial, which the FDA approved in 2021. We are 

currently conducting that clinical trial.

55

Numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, preclinical and clinical studies could occur, which would delay or prevent 

our ability to receive regulatory approval or commercialize the Allurion Balloon or any of our future products, including the following:

• preclinical and clinical studies may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or regulators may require
to conduct additional studies or abandon product development programs;

• the number of patients required for clinical studies may be larger than we anticipate, enrollment in these clinical studies ma
insufficient or slower than we anticipate, or patients may drop out of these clinical studies at a higher rate than we anticipat

• the cost of preclinical and clinical studies may be greater than we anticipate;

• third-party contractors may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or meet their contractual obligations to us in a timely
manner, or at all;

• we might suspend or terminate clinical studies of our products for various reasons, including a finding that our products hav
unanticipated serious side effects or other unexpected characteristics, or that the study subjects are being exposed to 
unacceptable health risks;

• regulators may not approve our proposed clinical development plans;

• regulators or independent institutional review boards, or IRBs, may not authorize us or our investigators to commence a cli
study or conduct a clinical study at a prospective study site;

• regulators or IRBs may require that we, or our investigators, suspend or terminate clinical studies for various reasons, inclu
non-compliance with regulatory requirements;

• regulators in countries where our products are currently marketed may require that we suspend commercial distribution if th
is non-compliance with regulatory requirements or safety concerns;

• the supply or quality of our products or other materials necessary to conduct clinical studies of our products may be insuffic
or inadequate;

• the enactment of new regulatory requirements in the EU under the new Medical Device Regulation effective since May 26, 
2021 may make approval times longer and standards more difficult to pass. In particular, manufacturers are required to: (i) 
assign a unique device identification, or UDI, to a medical device before it is placed on the EU market in order to improve 
traceability of the medical device; and (ii) register themselves, the medical device and the UDI, among other things, with a 
European medical device database, or EUDAMED; and

If we or any future collaboration or distribution partner are required to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of the 

Allurion Balloon or any products beyond those that we contemplate, those clinical studies or other testing may not be successfully 

completed. If the results of these studies or tests are not positive or are only modestly positive or if they raise safety concerns, we 

may:

• be delayed in obtaining marketing approvals for the Allurion Balloon or our future products;

• not obtain marketing approval at all;
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• obtain approval for indications that are not as broad as desired;

• have a product removed from the market after obtaining marketing approval; or

• be subject to restrictions on how the product is distributed or used.

Even if we obtain regulatory approvals or clearances in a jurisdiction, our products may be removed from the market due to a 

variety of factors, including adverse events, recalls, suspension of regulatory clearance to sell, or other factors. We expect that the 

initial FDA approval of the Allurion Balloon, if obtained, will be subject to a lengthy and expensive follow-up period, during which we 

must monitor patients enrolled in clinical studies and collect data on their safety outcomes. Even if FDA approval is obtained, the 

FDA has authority to impose post-market approval conditions, which can include (i) restrictions on the device’s sale, distribution, or 

use, (ii) continuing evaluation of the device’s safety and efficacy, (iii) additional warning/hazard labeling requirements, (iv) significant 

record management, (v) periodic reporting requirements, and (vi) any other requirements the FDA determines necessary to provide 

reasonable assurance of the device’s safety and effectiveness. Completion of this follow-up study, in a manner which results in data 

sufficient to maintain FDA approval, is subject to multiple risks, many of which are outside of our control. These include, but are not 

limited to, our ability to fund the ongoing study from our operations or via additional fundraising; study participants’ willingness and 

ability to return for follow-up study visits; and maintenance of a suitable study database over a long period of time. Even if completed 

and appropriately evaluated, the study follow-up may reveal safety or other issues that impact the approved labeling, or may result in 

withdrawal of the Allurion Balloon from the marketplace in the U.S. or elsewhere.
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Although we launched the Allurion Balloon commercially in January 2016 and have sold over 130,000 units to date in various 

countries outside the U.S., we do not have as much post-market surveillance data as our competitors and may not have clearly 

identified all possible or actual risks of our products. Furthermore, if our clinical trials do not produce patient data that compares 

favorably with products that are already on the market, health care providers and patients may opt not to use our products, and our 

business would suffer.

Our product development costs will also increase if we experience delays to our clinical trials or approvals. We do not know 

whether any clinical studies will begin as planned, will need to be restructured, or will be completed on schedule, or at all.

Significant clinical study delays could allow our competitors to bring products to market before we do, which would impair our 

ability to commercialize our products and harm our business and results of operations.

The Allurion Balloon is not currently approved for commercial sale in the United States. Obtaining such approval is costly 

and time consuming, and we may not obtain the regulatory approval required to sell our products in the U.S.

Neither we, nor any future collaboration or distributor partner, can commercialize the Allurion Balloon in the U.S. without first 

obtaining regulatory approval from the FDA. Extensive preclinical and clinical testing will be required to support FDA approval. 

Additionally, we will be required to commit to significant and costly post-approval requirements, which will include follow-up of our 

clinical trial patients, creation of a patient registry, and/or other studies, and implementation of training programs for physicians. We 

may be unable to fund, enroll, or complete such trials in a timely fashion, or at all, and we may have an insufficient number of 

enrolled patients follow up as instructed. The results of clinical studies may not be favorable enough to support marketing approval in 

the U.S., or may raise other questions (pertaining, for example, to product safety or effectiveness) that jeopardizes our current 

approvals for sale in other territories.
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The FDA approval process will take at least several years to complete, and FDA approval may never be obtained. We must 

also demonstrate that our manufacturing facilities, processes and controls are adequate to support FDA approval and that our clinical 

investigators complied with good clinical practices in the conduct of the Allurion Balloon clinical trial.

Furthermore, FDA approval is not a guarantee, and the filing and approval process itself is expensive and may take several 

years. The FDA also has substantial discretion in the approval process. Despite the time and expense exerted, failure may occur at 

any stage, and we could encounter problems that cause us to abandon or repeat clinical studies. The FDA can delay, limit, or deny 

approval of a product for many reasons, including, but not limited, to:

• a product may not be deemed to be safe and effective;

• the FDA may not find the data from clinical and preclinical studies sufficient;

• the FDA may not approve suppliers’ processes or facilities; or

• the FDA may change its approval policies or adopt new regulations.

If the Allurion Balloon or our future products fail to demonstrate safety and efficacy in further clinical studies that may be 

required for FDA approval, or do not gain regulatory approval, our business and results of operations will be harmed.

Even if clinical trials demonstrate acceptable safety and efficacy for the Allurion Balloon in some patient populations, the 

FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside the U.S. may not approve the marketing of the Allurion Balloon or may 

approve it with restrictions on the label, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 

results of operations and growth prospects.

It is possible the FDA or similar regulatory authorities may not consider the results of our clinical trials to be sufficient for 

approval of the Allurion Balloon for our desired indications for use. Moreover, even if the FDA or other regulatory authorities approve 

the marketing of the Allurion Balloon, the approval may include additional restrictions on the label that could make the Allurion 

Balloon less attractive to health care providers and patients compared to other products that may be approved for broader 

indications, which could limit potential sales of the Allurion Balloon.

If we fail to obtain FDA or other regulatory approval of the Allurion Balloon, or if the approval is narrower than what we seek, it 

could impair our ability to realize value from the Allurion Balloon, and therefore may have a material adverse effect on our business, 

financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

Commercial success of the Allurion Balloon in the United States or elsewhere depends on our ability to accurately forecast 

customer demand and manufacture sufficient quantities of product that patients and health care providers request, and to 

manage inventory effectively. The failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 

results of operations and growth prospects.
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Manufacturing of the Allurion Balloon requires capital expenditures and a highly-skilled workforce. There is a significant lead 

time to build and certify a new manufacturing facility. Although we believe our current facilities will give us adequate manufacturing 

capacity to meet demand for at least the next two years, we have, in the past, been unable to fill all incoming orders to meet growing 

demand. If we obtain FDA approval, we intend to rely on our existing manufacturing facilities to supply products in the U.S. If demand 

increases faster than we expect, or if we are unable to produce the quantity of goods that we expect with our current facilities, we 

may not be able to grow revenue at an optimal rate. There may be other negative effects from supply shortages, including loss of our 
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reputation in the marketplace and a negative impact on our relationships with our distributors, which could have a material adverse 

effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects.

On the other hand, if demand for our products declines, or if market supply surpasses demand, we may not be able to reduce 

manufacturing expenses or overhead costs proportionately. We have invested significantly in our manufacturing capacity. If an 

increase in supply outpaces the increase in market demand, or if demand decreases, the resulting oversupply could adversely 

impact our sales and result in the underutilization of our manufacturing capacity, higher inventory carrying costs and associated 

working capital, changes in revenue mix, and/or price erosion, any of which would lower our margins and adversely impact our 

financial results, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth 

prospects.

Our business depends on maintaining our brand, reputation, and ongoing demand for our products and services, and a 

significant reduction in sentiment or demand could affect our results of operations.

Our success depends on awareness and the reputation of our brand, which depends on factors such as the safety and quality 

of our products, our communication activities, including marketing and education efforts, and our management of our heath care 

provider and patient experience. Maintaining, promoting and positioning our brand is important to expanding our customer base. This 

will depend largely on the success of our education and marketing efforts and our ability to provide a consistent, high-quality 

experience to health care providers and patients.

We may need to make substantial investments in the areas of education and marketing in order to maintain and enhance our 

brand and awareness of our products. Ineffective marketing, negative publicity, significant discounts by our competitors, product 

defects, serious adverse events and related liability litigation, failure to obtain regulatory approval or clearance for our products, 

counterfeit products, unfair labor practices and failure to protect our intellectual property rights are some of the potential threats to the 

strength of our business. We may need to make substantial expenditures to mitigate the impact of such threats.

We believe that maintaining and enhancing awareness of our products and brand in the countries in which we currently sell our 

products and in new countries where we have limited awareness or brand recognition is important to expanding our customer base. 

If we are unable to increase awareness of our products or enhance the strength of our brand in the countries in which we currently 

sell our products and in new countries, then our growth strategy could be adversely affected.

Risks Related to our Business and Industry

The medical device industry, and the market for weight loss and obesity in particular, is highly competitive. We also 

compete with companies that make weight loss drugs and other weight loss solutions outside the medical device industry. 

If our competitors are able to develop and market products that are safer, more effective, easier to use or more readily 

adopted by patients and health care providers, our commercial opportunities will be reduced or eliminated.

The medical device industry is highly competitive, subject to rapid change and significantly affected by new product 

introductions, results of clinical research, corporate combinations, actions by regulatory bodies, changes by public and private payers 

and other factors relating to our industry. We also compete with companies that make weight loss drugs and other weight loss 

solutions outside the medical device industry. Because of the market opportunity and the high growth potential of the non-surgical 

device market for weight loss and obesity, competitors and potential competitors have historically dedicated, and will continue to 

dedicate, significant resources to aggressively develop and commercialize their products.

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

115/168

Outside the U.S., we compete with a variety of local and regional competitive intragastric balloon manufacturers including SC 

MedSil, Medicone and Spatz Laboratories. In the U.S., there are three manufacturers with an intragastric balloon approved by the 

FDA at this time: Boston Scientific Corporation, ReShape Lifesciences, Inc. and Spatz FGIA Inc. All of these balloons require 

endoscopy and anesthesia for placement and/or removal. We also compete against the manufacturers of pharmaceuticals that are 

directed at treating weight loss, such as NovoNordisk, Eli Lilly, Roche Holding AG, GlaxoSmithKline plc, Arena Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 

VIVUS, Inc., Orexigen Therapeutics, Inc. and Gelesis Holdings, Inc.

At any time, these or other competitors may introduce new or alternative products that compete directly or indirectly with our 

products and services. They may also develop and patent products and processes earlier than we can or obtain regulatory clearance 

or approvals before we are able to obtain required approvals, which could impair our ability to develop and commercialize similar 

products or services. If clinical outcomes of procedures performed with our competitors’ products are, or are perceived to be, 

superior
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to the outcomes of treatments performed with our products, sales of our products could be negatively affected and our business, 

results of operations and financial condition could suffer.

Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial and other resources than we do, as well as:

• well-established reputations and name recognition with key opinion leaders and health care provider networks;

• an established base of long-time customers with strong brand loyalty;

• products supported by long-term data;

• longer operating histories;

• significantly larger installed bases and distributors and established distribution channels;

• greater existing market share in the obesity and weight management market;

• broader product offerings;

• greater ability to cross-sell products;

• the ability to offer rebates or bundle products to offer higher discounts or incentives; and

• more experience in conducting research and development, manufacturing, performing clinical trials and obtaining regulator
approvals or clearances.

Competition with these companies could result in significant price-cutting, reduced profit margins and loss of market share, any 

of which would harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, competitors with greater financial 

resources than ours could acquire other companies to gain enhanced name recognition and market share, as well as new 

technologies or products that could effectively compete with our existing and future products, which may cause our revenues to 

decline and harm our business.

Continued international expansion of our business will expose us to business, regulatory, political, operational, financial 

and economic risks associated with doing business internationally.

Our products are registered to be sold in over 50 countries, and we operate subsidiaries in Australia, France, the United Arab 

Emirates, Hong Kong, the United Kingdom, Italy, Spain, Australia and Mexico. Our business strategy contemplates continued 

international expansion, including partnering with medical device distributors and introducing the Allurion Balloon and other products 
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outside the U.S. The sale and shipment of our products internationally, as well as the purchase of components from international 

sources, subjects us to potential trade, import and export, and customs regulations and laws.

Compliance with these regulations and laws is costly and exposes us to penalties for non-compliance. Any failure to comply 

with applicable legal and regulatory obligations could impact us in a variety of ways that include, but are not limited to, significant 

criminal, civil and administrative penalties, including imprisonment of individuals, fines and penalties, denial of export or import 

privileges, seizure of shipments, restrictions on certain business activities and exclusion or debarment from government contracting. 

Also, the failure to comply with applicable legal and regulatory obligations could result in the disruption of our shipping and sales 

activities.

In addition, several of the countries in which we sell our products or conduct our operations are, to some degree, subject to 

political, economic or social instability. Doing business in other countries outside the U.S. involves a number of other risks, including:

• compliance with the free zone regime regulations under which the manufacturing sites operate;

• different regulatory requirements for device approvals in international markets;

• multiple, conflicting and changing laws and regulations such as tariffs and tax laws, export and import restrictions, employm
laws, and other governmental approvals, permits and licenses;

• potential failure by us or our distributors to obtain and/or maintain regulatory approvals for the sale or use of our products in
various countries;

• difficulties in managing global operations;

• logistics and regulations associated with shipping products, including infrastructure conditions and transportation delays;

• limits on our ability to penetrate international markets if our distributors do not execute successfully;

• governmental price controls, differing reimbursement regimes and other market regulations;
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• financial risks, such as longer payment cycles, difficulty enforcing contracts and collecting accounts receivable;

• reduced protection for intellectual property rights, or lack of them in certain jurisdictions, forcing more reliance on our trade 
secrets, if available;

• economic weakness, political and economic instability, including wars, terrorism and political unrest, outbreak of disease, 
boycotts, curtailment of trade and other business restrictions;

• failure to comply with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”), including its books and records provisions and its ant
bribery provisions, by maintaining accurate information and control over sales activities and distributors’ activities;

• unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers and regulatory requirements;

• compliance with tax, employment, immigration and labor laws;

• taxes, including withholding of payroll taxes;

• currency fluctuations, which could result in increased operating expenses and reduced revenue, and other obligations incid
to doing business in another country;

• workforce uncertainty in countries where labor unrest is more common than in the U.S.;

• production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing capabilities abroad; and

• business and shipping interruptions resulting from natural or other disasters including earthquakes, volcanic activity, 
hurricanes, floods and fires.
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Any of these risks, if encountered, could harm our future international expansion and operations and, consequently, have an 

adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We depend on a limited number of single source suppliers to manufacture our components, sub-assemblies and materials, 

which makes us vulnerable to supply shortages and price fluctuations.

We rely on single source suppliers for some of the components, sub-assemblies and materials for our products. These 

components, sub-assemblies and materials are critical and, for certain items, there are relatively few alternative sources of supply. 

These single source suppliers may be unwilling or unable to supply the necessary materials and components reliably and at the 

levels we anticipate or that are required by the market. We also have two suppliers with which we do not maintain a formal 

contractual relationship. We typically have at least a six month supply of the materials provided by each of these suppliers but we 

cannot guarantee that we could find an alternative before our inventory ran out and therefore the loss of these relationships could 

cause a substantial disruption to our business. We would also have little to no recourse if one of these two suppliers became 

unwilling or unable to continue to supply materials. While our suppliers have generally met our demand for their products and 

services on a timely basis in the past, we cannot guarantee that they will in the future be able to meet our demand for their products, 

either because of acts of nature, the nature of our agreements with those suppliers or our relative importance to them as a customer. 

Our suppliers may decide in the future to discontinue or reduce the level of business they conduct with us.

We have not qualified or obtained necessary regulatory approvals for additional suppliers for some of these components, sub-

assemblies and materials, but we do carry a significant inventory of these items ourselves. While we believe that alternative sources 

of supply or sterilization may be available, we cannot be certain whether they will be available if and when we need them, or that any 

alternative suppliers or providers would be able to provide the quantity and quality of components, materials and sterilization that we 

would need to manufacture and ship our products if our existing suppliers and providers were unable to satisfy our requirements. To 

utilize other sources, we would need to identify and qualify new providers to our quality standards and obtain any additional 

regulatory approvals required to change providers, which could result in manufacturing delays and increase our expenses.

Our dependence on third parties subjects us to a number of risks that could impact our ability to manufacture our products and 

harm our business, including:

• interruption of supply or sterilization resulting from modifications to, or discontinuation of, a third party’s operations;

• delays in product shipments resulting from uncorrected defects, reliability issues or a third party’s failure to produce 
components or complete sterilizations that consistently meet our quality specifications;

• price fluctuations due to a lack of long-term supply arrangements with our third parties for key components or sterilization 
requirements;

• inability to obtain adequate supply or services in a timely manner or on commercially reasonable terms;

• difficulty identifying and qualifying alternative third parties for the supply of components;
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• inability of third parties to comply with applicable provisions of the FDA’s QSR, or other applicable laws or regulations enfor
by the FDA, foreign and state regulatory authorities;

• inability to ensure the quality of products manufactured or sterilization conducted by third parties;

• production delays related to the evaluation and testing of products and services from alternative third parties and 
corresponding regulatory qualifications; and

• delays in delivery by our suppliers and service providers.
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Although we require our third-party suppliers and providers to supply us with components and services that meet our 

specifications and other applicable legal and regulatory requirements in our agreements and contracts, and we perform incoming 

inspection, testing or other acceptance activities to ensure the components meet our requirements, there is a risk that these third 

parties will not always act consistently with our best interests, and may not always supply components or provide services that meet 

our requirements or in a timely manner.

Negative publicity, product defects and any resulting litigation concerning our products or our competitors’ products could 

harm our reputation and reduce demand for the Allurion Balloon, either of which could negatively impact our financial 

results.

The responses of potential patients, health care providers, the media, legislative and regulatory bodies and others to 

information about complications or alleged complications of our products, or products liability litigation against us or our competitors, 

could result in negative publicity and could materially reduce market acceptance of our products. These responses or any 

investigations and potential resulting negative publicity may have a material adverse effect on our business and reputation and 

negatively impact our financial condition, results of operations or the market price of our common stock. In addition, significant 

negative publicity could result in an increased number of product liability claims against us.

We depend on our senior management team and the loss of one or more key employees or an inability to attract and retain 

highly skilled employees could harm our business.

Our success largely depends upon the continued services of our executive management team and key employees and the loss 

of one or more of our executive officers or key employees could harm us and directly impact our financial results. Although we have 

entered into employment agreements with some of our executive officers and key employees, each of them may terminate their 

employment with us at any time. Changes in our executive management team resulting from the hiring or departure of executives 

could disrupt our business. We could experience disruptions as each of these individuals begins to integrate into the business and 

build his or her respective departments. Alternatively, our Chief Executive Officer, Shantanu Gaur, has been with us since inception 

and has been instrumental in building operational capabilities, raising capital and guiding product development and regulatory 

strategy. If Dr. Gaur was no longer working at our company, our industry credibility and operational capabilities would be harmed.

To execute our growth plan, we must attract and retain highly qualified personnel. Competition for skilled personnel is intense, 

especially for engineers with high levels of experience in designing and developing medical devices and for sales executives. We 

have, from time to time, experienced, and we expect to continue to experience, difficulty in hiring and retaining employees with 

appropriate qualifications. The loss of the services of our executive officers or other key employees could impede the achievement of 

our research, development and commercialization objectives and seriously harm our ability to successfully implement our business 

strategy. Furthermore, replacing executive officers and key employees may be difficult and may take an extended period of time 

because of the limited number of individuals in our industry with the breadth of skills and experience required to successfully 

develop, gain regulatory approval of and commercialize medical devices.

Many of the companies with which we compete for experienced personnel have greater resources than we have. If we hire 

employees from competitors or other companies, their former employers may attempt to assert that these employees or we have 

breached legal obligations, resulting in a diversion of our time and resources and, potentially, damages. In addition, job candidates 

and existing employees often consider the value of the stock awards they receive in connection with their employment. If the 

perceived value of our stock awards declines, either because we are a public company or otherwise, it may harm our ability to recruit 

and retain highly skilled employees. In addition, we invest significant time and expense in training our employees, which increases 
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their value to competitors who may seek to recruit them. If we fail to attract new personnel or fail to retain and motivate our current 

personnel, our business and future growth prospects would be harmed.

We may acquire other businesses or form joint ventures or make investments in other companies or technologies in the 

future. If we are not successful in integrating these businesses, as well as identifying and controlling risks associated with 

the past operations of these businesses, we may incur significant costs, receive penalties or other sanctions from various 

regulatory agencies, and/or incur significant diversions of management time and attention.

We believe our business growth will be enhanced if we continually seek opportunities to enhance and broaden our product 

offerings. As part of our business strategy, we may pursue acquisitions or licenses of assets, or acquisitions of businesses. We also
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may pursue strategic alliances and joint ventures that leverage our core technology and industry experience to expand our product 

offerings or sales and distribution resources.

However, we may not be able to find suitable partners or acquisition candidates, and we may not be able to complete such 

transactions on favorable terms, if at all. If we make any acquisitions, we may not be able to integrate these acquisitions successfully 

into our existing business, and we could assume unknown or contingent liabilities. Any future acquisitions also could result in 

significant write-offs or the incurrence of debt and contingent liabilities, any of which could have an adverse effect on our financial 

condition, results of operations and cash flows. Integration of an acquired company may also disrupt ongoing operations and require 

management resources that would otherwise focus on developing our existing business. We may experience losses related to 

investments in other companies, which could have a negative effect on our results of operations.

We may not identify or complete these transactions in a timely manner, on a cost-effective basis, or at all, and we may not 

realize the anticipated benefits of any acquisition, license, strategic alliance or joint venture. To finance such a transaction, we may 

choose to issue common stock as consideration, which would dilute the ownership of our stockholders. If the price of our common 

stock is low or volatile, we may not be able to acquire other companies or fund a joint venture project using our shares as 

consideration. Alternatively, it may be necessary for us to raise additional funds for acquisitions through public or private financings. 

Additional funds may not be available on terms that are favorable to us, or at all.

We do not know whether we will be able to successfully integrate any acquired business, product or technology. The success 

of any given acquisition may depend on our ability to retain any key employees related thereto, and we may not be successful at 

retaining or integrating such key personnel. Integrating any business, product or technology we acquire could be expensive and time-

consuming, disrupt our ongoing business, impact our liquidity, and/or distract our management. If we are unable to integrate any 

acquired businesses, products or technologies effectively, our business may suffer. Whether as a result of unsuccessful integration, 

unanticipated costs, including those associated with assumed liabilities and indemnification obligations, negative accounting impact, 

or other factors, we may not realize the economic benefits we anticipate from acquisitions. In addition, any amortization or charges 

resulting from the costs of acquisitions could increase our expenses.

If changes in the economy and/or consumer spending, consumer preference and other trends reduce consumer demand 

for our products, our sales and profitability would suffer.

We are subject to the risks arising from adverse changes in general economic and market conditions. Certain elective 

procedures, including those for weight loss, are typically not covered by insurance. Adverse changes in the economy may cause 

consumers to reassess their spending choices, which could have an adverse effect on consumer spending, reduce the demand for 
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these procedures, and therefore have an adverse effect on our revenues. Furthermore, consumer preferences and trends may shift 

due to a variety of factors, including changes in demographic and social trends, public health initiatives and product innovations, 

which may reduce consumer demand for our products.

Our overall performance depends, in part, on worldwide economic conditions. In recent months, we have observed increased 

economic uncertainty in the U.S. and abroad. Impacts of such economic weakness include:

• falling overall demand for goods and services, leading to reduced profitability;

• reduced credit availability;

• higher borrowing costs;

• reduced liquidity;

• volatility in credit, equity and foreign exchange markets; and

• bankruptcies.

These developments could lead to supply chain disruption, inflation, higher interest rates, and uncertainty about business 

continuity, which may adversely affect our business and our results of operations. As our customers react to global economic 

conditions and the potential for a global recession, we may see them reduce spending on our products and take additional 

precautionary measures to limit or delay expenditures and preserve capital and liquidity. Reductions in spending on our products, 

delays in purchasing decisions, failure to complete the Allurion Program, and inability to attract new customers, as well as pressure 

for extended billing terms or pricing discounts, would limit our ability to grow our business and negatively affect our operating results 

and financial condition.

We expect to significantly increase the size of our organization; as a result, we may encounter difficulties in managing our 

growth, which could disrupt our operations and/or increase our net losses.

As of September 30, 2023, we had 268 employees. Over the next several years, we expect to experience significant growth in 

the number of our employees and the scope of our operations, particularly in the areas of regulatory affairs, clinical and sales and
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marketing. We also intend to continue to improve our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and 

procedures, which may require additional personnel. Such growth could place a strain on our administrative and operational 

infrastructure, and/or our managerial abilities, and we may not be able to make improvements to our management information and 

control systems in an efficient or timely manner. We may discover deficiencies in existing systems and controls.

Many of these employees will be in countries outside of our corporate headquarters, which adds additional complexity. To 

manage our anticipated future growth, we must continue to implement and improve our managerial, operational and financial 

systems, expand our facilities and continue to recruit and train additional qualified personnel. We may not be able to effectively 

manage these activities. The physical expansion of our operations may lead to significant costs and may divert our management and 

business development resources. Future growth would impose significant added responsibilities on members of management, 

including:

• managing our clinical trials effectively, which we anticipate being conducted at numerous clinical sites;

• identifying, recruiting, maintaining, motivating and integrating additional employees with the expertise and experience we w
require, in multiple countries;
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• managing our internal development efforts effectively while complying with our contractual obligations to licensors, licensee
contractors and other third parties;

• managing additional relationships with various distributors, suppliers, and other third parties;

• improving our managerial, development, operational and finance reporting systems and procedures; and

• expanding our facilities.

Our failure to accomplish any of these tasks could prevent us from growing successfully. Any inability to manage growth could 

delay the execution of our business plans or disrupt our operations. We may also be exposed or subject to additional unforeseen or 

undisclosed liabilities as well as increased levels of indebtedness.

We may be subject to substantial warranty or product liability claims or other litigation in the ordinary course of business 

that may adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.

We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the sale of the Allurion Balloon and any products in clinical 

studies. The marketing, sale and use, misuse or off-label use of the Allurion Balloon and our other current and future products could 

lead to the filing of product liability claims against us if someone alleges that our products failed to perform as designed or caused 

significant adverse events in patients. We may also be subject to liability for a misunderstanding of, or inappropriate reliance upon, 

the information we provide. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against claims that the Allurion Balloon or our other current or 

future products caused injuries, we may incur substantial liabilities. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, liability claims may 

result in:

• decreased demand for any products we may develop;

• injury to our reputation and significant negative media attention;

• withdrawal of patients from clinical studies or cancellation of studies;

• significant costs to defend the related litigation and distraction to our management team;

• substantial monetary awards to plaintiffs;

• loss of revenue; and

• the inability to commercialize any products that we may develop.

We currently hold $5.0 million in product liability insurance coverage, which may not be adequate to cover all liabilities we may 

incur. Insurance coverage is increasingly expensive. We may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in 

an amount adequate to satisfy any liability that may arise.

Any future collaboration agreements (including with respect to product distribution or commercialization) we may enter 

into with respect to our current or future products may place the development or commercialization of such products 

outside our control, or may otherwise be on terms unfavorable to us.

We may enter into additional collaboration agreements with third parties with respect to our current or future products, 

including for distribution or commercialization in or outside the U.S. Our likely collaborators for any distribution, marketing, licensing 

or other collaboration arrangements include large and mid-size medical device and diagnostic companies, regional and national 

medical device and diagnostic companies, and distribution or group purchasing organizations. We will have limited control over the 

amount and timing of resources that our collaborators dedicate to the development or commercialization of our products. Our
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ability to generate revenue from these arrangements will depend in part on our collaborators’ abilities to successfully perform the 

functions assigned to them in these arrangements.

We rely on third parties to conduct certain components of our clinical studies, and those third parties may not perform 

satisfactorily, including failing to meet deadlines for the completion of such studies, which could interfere with or delay our 

ability to get regulatory approval or commercialize our products.

We rely on third parties, such as contract research organizations, clinical data management organizations, medical institutions 

and clinical investigators, to perform various functions for our clinical trials. Our reliance on third parties for clinical development 

activities reduces our control over these activities but does not relieve us of our responsibilities. We remain responsible for ensuring 

that each of our clinical studies is conducted in accordance with the general investigational plan and protocols for the study. 

Moreover, the International Council for Harmonization and the FDA require us to comply with standards, commonly referred to as 

good clinical practices, for conducting, recording and reporting the results of clinical studies to ensure that data and reported results 

are credible and accurate and that the rights, integrity and confidentiality of patients in clinical studies are protected. Furthermore, 

these third parties may also have relationships with other entities, some of which may be our competitors. If these third parties do not 

successfully carry out their contractual duties, meet expected deadlines or conduct our clinical studies in accordance with regulatory 

requirements or our stated protocols, we will not be able to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, regulatory approvals for our 

planned products and will not be able to, or may be delayed in our efforts to, successfully commercialize our planned products.

The failure of third parties to meet their contractual, regulatory, and other obligations could adversely affect our business.

We rely on suppliers, vendors, outsourcing partners, consultants, alliance partners and other third parties to research, develop, 

manufacture and commercialize our products and manage certain parts of our business. Using these third parties poses a number of 

risks, such as: (i) they may not perform to our standards or legal requirements; (ii) they may not produce reliable results; (iii) they 

may not perform in a timely manner; (iv) they may not maintain confidentiality of our proprietary information; (v) disputes may arise 

with respect to ownership of rights to technology developed with our partners; and (vi) disagreements could cause delays in, or 

termination of, the research, development or commercialization of our products or result in litigation or arbitration.

Moreover, some third parties are located in markets subject to political and social risk, corruption, infrastructure problems and 

natural disasters, in addition to country-specific privacy and data security risk given current legal and regulatory environments. 

Failure of third parties to meet their contractual, regulatory, and other obligations may materially affect our business.

We have significant exposure to the economic and political situations in emerging market countries, and developments in 

these countries could materially impact our financial results, or our business more generally.

Many of the countries in which our products are sold are emerging markets. Our global growth strategy contemplates the 

expansion of our existing sales activities in Latin America, the Middle East, Africa and the Asia-Pacific region. Our exposure to 

emerging markets has increased in recent years, as have the number and importance of our distributor arrangements. Economic and 

political developments in the emerging markets, including economic crises, currency inflation, or political instability, have had in the 

past, and may have in the future, a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, as these 

markets continue to grow, competitors may seek to enter these markets and existing market participants will likely try to aggressively 

protect or increase their market shares. Increased competition may result in price reductions, reduced margins and our inability to 

gain or hold market share, which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Government Regulation
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The regulatory approval process is expensive, time consuming and uncertain, and may prevent us from obtaining 

approvals for the commercialization of the Allurion Balloon or our planned products.

The research, testing, manufacturing, labeling, approval, selling, import, export, marketing and distribution of medical devices 

are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory authorities in the U.S. and other countries, where regulations 

differ from country to country. Our products are registered to be sold in over 50 countries, but we are not permitted to market our 

products in the U.S. until we receive the requisite approval or clearance from the FDA; we have not received such FDA approval to 

date. In addition, failure to comply with FDA and other applicable U.S. and foreign regulatory requirements may subject us to 

administrative or judicially imposed sanctions, including the following:

• warning or untitled letters;

• civil or criminal penalties and fines;

• injunctions;

• suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approval;
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• suspension of any ongoing clinical studies;

• voluntary or mandatory product recalls and publicity requirements;

• refusal to accept or approve applications for marketing approval of new devices or supplements to approved applications fi
by us;

• restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements; or

• seizure or detention of our products or import bans.

Prior to receiving approval to commercialize any of our products in the U.S. or abroad, we may be required to demonstrate with 

substantial evidence from preclinical and well-controlled clinical studies, to the satisfaction of the FDA or other regulatory authorities 

abroad, that such products are safe and effective for their intended uses. Results from preclinical studies and clinical studies can be 

interpreted in different ways. Even if we believe the preclinical or clinical data for our products are promising, such data may not be 

sufficient to support approval by the FDA and other regulatory authorities. Administering any of our products to humans may produce 

undesirable side effects, which could interrupt, delay or cause suspension of clinical studies of our planned products and result in the 

FDA or other regulatory authorities denying approval of our products for any or all targeted indications.

Regulatory approval from the FDA is not guaranteed, and the approval process is expensive and may take several years. The 

FDA also has substantial discretion in the approval process. Despite the time and expense exerted, failure can occur at any stage, 

and we could encounter problems that cause us to abandon or repeat clinical studies, or perform additional preclinical studies and 

clinical studies. For example, we previously conducted a clinical trial on the Allurion Balloon and submitted a PMA based on data 

from that trial. When the FDA requested additional data, we withdrew the PMA and sought FDA approval to conduct our AUDACITY 

trial, which the FDA granted in 2021. We are currently conducting that clinical trial. The number of preclinical studies and clinical 

studies that will be required for FDA approval varies depending on the product, the indication that the product is designed to address 

and the regulations applicable to any particular product. The FDA can delay, limit or deny approval of a planned product for many 

reasons, including, but not limited to, the following:

• a planned product or one or more of its features may not be deemed safe or effective;

• the FDA may not find the data from preclinical studies and clinical studies sufficient;
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• the FDA might not approve our manufacturing or our third-party supplier’s processes or facilities; or

• the FDA may change its approval policies or adopt new regulations.

If the Allurion Balloon or any of our other products fail to demonstrate safety and efficacy in preclinical and clinical studies or do 

not gain requisite regulatory approval, our business and results of operations will likely be harmed.

Inadequate funding for the FDA, the SEC and other government agencies, including from government shutdowns, or other 

disruptions to these agencies’ operations, could hinder their ability to hire and retain key leadership and other personnel, 

prevent new products and services from being developed or commercialized in a timely manner or otherwise prevent those 

agencies from performing normal business functions on which the operation of our business may rely, which could 

negatively impact our business.

The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government 

budget and funding levels, the ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and statutory, regulatory 

and policy changes. Average review times at the agency have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, government funding 

of the SEC and other government agencies on which our operations may rely, including those that fund research and development 

activities, is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable.

Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for new product candidates to be reviewed 

and/or approved by necessary government agencies, which could adversely affect our business. If a prolonged government 

shutdown occurs, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA to timely review and process our regulatory submissions, which 

could have a material adverse effect on our business. Further, future government shutdowns could impact our ability to access the 

public markets and obtain necessary capital in order to properly capitalize and continue our operations.

Upon receipt of regulatory approval to market the Allurion Balloon in a given jurisdiction, we are (or will be) subject to 

ongoing regulatory obligations and continued regulatory review, which may result in significant additional expense and 

subject us to penalties if we fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements.

When a regulatory approval is obtained, the approved product and its manufacturer are subject to continual review by 

regulatory authorities (including, if applicable, the FDA). Our non-U.S. regulatory approvals for the Allurion Balloon, as well as any 

future regulatory approval that we receive for the Allurion Balloon or for any of our other products, may be subject to limitations on 

the
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indicated uses for which the product may be marketed. Future approvals may contain requirements for potentially costly post-

marketing follow-up studies to monitor the safety and efficacy of the approved product. In addition, we are subject to extensive and 

ongoing regulatory requirements by the FDA and other regulatory authorities with regard to the labeling, packaging, adverse event 

reporting, storage, advertising, promotion and recordkeeping for our products. In addition, we are required to comply with regulations 

regarding the manufacture of the Allurion Balloon, which include requirements related to quality control and quality assurance as well 

as the corresponding maintenance of records and documentation. Further, regulatory authorities must inspect these manufacturing 

facilities and determine they are in compliance with FDA good manufacturing practice requirements as set forth in the QSR before 

the products can be approved. These facilities are subject to continual review and periodic inspections by the FDA and other 

regulatory authorities for compliance with the QSR and similar regulations. If we or a third party discover previously unknown 

problems with a product, such as adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or problems with the facility where the 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

125/168

product is manufactured, a regulatory authority may impose restrictions on that product, the manufacturer or us, including requiring 

withdrawal of the product from the market or suspension of manufacturing.

If patients using our products experience adverse events or other undesirable side effects, regulatory authorities could 

withdraw or modify our regulatory approvals, which would adversely affect our reputation and commercial prospects 

and/or result in other significant negative consequences.

Undesirable side effects caused by the Allurion Balloon could cause us, the FDA or other applicable regulatory authorities to 

interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials, and could result in more restrictive labeling than originally required, cause the FDA or other 

regulatory authorities to subsequently withdraw or modify our PMA, if we obtain approval, or other regulatory approvals, or result in 

the delay or denial of regulatory approval by regulatory authorities. For example, in the 1980s and early 1990s, the FDA required 

post-market safety and efficacy data be collected on an earlier version of an intragastric balloon after patients suffered severe side 

effects and complications with the device, which ultimately resulted in the withdrawal of the PMA approval.

As of September 30, 2023, we had sold over 130,000 units of the Allurion Balloon in international markets. In our commercial 

experience, the serious adverse event, or “SAE”, rate has been less than 0.2% and has been similar to the SAE profile reported in 

the literature.

If we are unable to demonstrate that any adverse events are not related to our product, the FDA or other regulatory authorities 

could order us to cease further development of, require more restrictive indications for use and/or additional warnings, precautions 

and/or contraindications in the labeling than originally required, or delay or deny approval of any of our products. Even if we are able 

to do so, such event(s) could affect patient recruitment or the ability of enrolled patients to complete the trial. Moreover, if we elect, or 

are required, to not initiate, delay, suspend or terminate any future clinical trial of any of our products, the commercial prospects of 

such product may be harmed and our ability to generate product revenues from our product may be delayed or eliminated. Any of 

these occurrences may harm our ability to develop other products, and may harm our business, financial condition and prospects 

significantly.

In addition, we or others may later identify undesirable side effects caused by the product (or any other similar product), 

resulting in potentially significant consequences, including:

• regulatory authorities may withdraw or limit their approval of the product;

• regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as a contraindication;

• we may be required to change the way the product is distributed or administered, conduct additional clinical trials or change
the labeling of the product;

• we may be required to correct or remove the product from the marketplace or decide to conduct a voluntary recall;

• we may decide to alert physicians through customer notifications;

• regulatory authorities may use publicity such as a press release to alert our customers and the public of the issue;

• health care providers and patients may be dissatisfied, seek refunds and refuse to use our products;

• we could be sued and held liable for injury caused to individuals using our product; and

• our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the Allurion Balloon and could 

substantially increase the costs of commercializing our product and significantly impact our ability to successfully commercialize our 

product and generate product sales.
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Health care reform measures could hinder or prevent our planned products’ commercial success.
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In the U.S., there have been, and we expect there will continue to be, a number of legislative and regulatory changes to the 

health care system in ways that could affect our future revenue and future profitability and the future revenue and future profitability 

of our potential customers. Federal and state lawmakers regularly propose and, at times, enact legislation, that could result in 

significant changes to the health care system, some of which are intended to contain or reduce the costs of medical products and 

services. For example, one of the most significant health care reform measures in decades, the Patient Protection and Affordable 

Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act, or “PPACA”, was enacted in 2010. The PPACA contains 

a number of provisions, including those governing enrollment in federal health care programs, reimbursement changes and fraud and 

abuse measures, all of which will impact existing government health care programs and will result in the development of new 

programs.

There have been judicial and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the PPACA, as well as executive efforts to repeal 

or replace certain aspects of the PPACA. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act passed in 2017 included a provision that would repeal one of 

the primary pillars of the law, the PPACA’s individual mandate penalty, which essentially assessed a monetary penalty or fine on 

certain individuals who fail to maintain qualifying health coverage for all or part of a year. The U.S. Congress may consider other 

legislation to repeal or replace elements of the PPACA on a provision-by-provision basis. We cannot assure you that the PPACA, as 

currently enacted or as amended in the future, will not adversely affect our business and financial results and we cannot predict how 

future federal or state legislative or administrative changes relating to health care reform will affect our business.

While the result of these efforts is not yet known, any changes that result in price controls, reduce access to and 

reimbursement for care, or add additional regulations may have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of 

operations.

We cannot predict the impact that such actions against the PPACA or other health care reform under the Biden administration 

will have on our business, and there is uncertainty as to what health care programs and regulations may be implemented or changed 

at the federal and/or state level in the U.S., or the effect of any future legislation or regulation. However, it is possible that such 

initiatives could have an adverse effect on our ability to obtain approval and/or successfully commercialize products in the U.S. in the 

future. For example, any changes that reduce, or impede the ability to obtain, reimbursement for the type of products we intend to 

commercialize in the U.S. (or our products more specifically, if approved) or reduce medical procedure volumes could adversely 

affect our business plan to introduce our products in the U.S.

In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the PPACA was enacted. For example, the 

Budget Control Act of 2011 and subsequent legislation resulted in reductions to Medicare payments to providers of up to 2% per 

fiscal year to 2030 unless additional Congressional action is taken. In addition, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, among 

other things, further reduced Medicare payments to several providers, including hospitals, imaging centers, cancer centers and other 

treatment centers, and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three 

to five years.

We cannot predict whether any additional legislative changes will affect our business.

There have been, and likely will continue to be, legislative and regulatory proposals at the federal and state levels directed at 

containing or lowering the cost of health care. The implementation of cost-containment measures or other healthcare reforms may 

prevent us from being able to generate revenue, attain profitability, or commercialize our products. Such reforms could have an 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

127/168

adverse effect on anticipated revenue from our products and product candidates that we may successfully develop and for which we 

may obtain regulatory approval and may affect our overall financial condition and ability to develop future product candidates. We 

cannot predict the initiatives that may be adopted in the future or their full impact. The continuing efforts of the government, 

insurance companies, managed care organizations and other payors of health care services to contain or reduce costs of health care 

may adversely affect:

• the demand for our product(s) and product candidates, if approved;

• our ability to set a price that we believe is fair for our products;

• our ability to generate revenue and achieve or maintain profitability; and

• the availability of capital.

If we fail to comply with health care regulations, we could face substantial penalties and our business, operations and 

financial condition could be adversely affected.

Even though we do not and will not control referrals of health care services or bill directly to Medicare, Medicaid or other third-

party payors, certain federal and state health care laws and regulations pertaining to fraud and abuse and patients’ rights may be 

applicable to our business. If we are approved by the FDA to market our products in the U.S., we could be subject to health care 

fraud and abuse, transparency, and patient privacy regulation by both the federal government and the states in which we conduct our 

business.
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Similar regulations would also apply to our business in countries where we have direct sales operations where there are 

different regulations at European and national levels. There is a high degree of complication in complying with the different levels of 

regulation and the singular differences in the different countries and markets.

If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental regulations that 

apply to us, we may be subject to penalties, including civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, 

individual imprisonment, exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal health care programs, additional 

reporting and government oversight, if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or similar agreement to resolve 

allegations of non-compliance with these laws and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. Any such penalties or 

curtailment or restructuring of our operations could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our financial results. Any 

action against us for violation of these laws, even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal 

expenses and divert our management’s attention from the operation of our business. Moreover, achieving and sustaining compliance 

with applicable federal, state or international privacy, security and fraud laws may prove costly.

We have obtained the authorization to distribute our products in regions/countries through the certification of our Quality 

System by the corresponding regulatory entities. Failing to demonstrate that our Quality System is in place and consistently and 

systematically ensures compliance with regulations from such regions/countries might imply losing the certifications and as such, the 

rights to freely distribute the products which would adversely impact our revenue and reputation.

We have not historically maintained a compliance policy relating to U.S. economic sanctions, export controls or anti-

corruption laws and regulations. U.S. and foreign sanctions, export controls, and anti-corruption laws and regulations 

create the potential for significant liabilities, penalties and reputational harm.
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We have not historically maintained a compliance policy relating to U.S. economic sanctions, export controls or anti-corruption 

laws and regulations. U.S. and foreign sanctions, export controls, and anti-corruption laws and regulations create the potential for 

significant liabilities, penalties and reputational harm. We are subject to a number of laws and regulations governing commercial 

activities with and payments and contributions to third parties, including restrictions imposed by the FCPA, as well as trade sanctions 

and export control laws administered by the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”), the U.S. 

Department of Commerce and the U.S. Department of State.

The FCPA prohibits bribery of foreign governments and their officials and political parties and requires U.S. public companies 

to keep books and records that accurately and fairly reflect those companies’ transactions. OFAC, the U.S. Department of 

Commerce and the U.S. Department of State administer and enforce various export control laws and regulations and economic 

sanctions based on U.S. foreign policy and national security goals against targeted foreign states, organizations and individuals.

Similar laws in non-U.S. jurisdictions, such as EU sanctions or the U.K. Bribery Act, as well as other applicable anti-bribery, 

anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, sanctions or export control laws, may also impose stricter or more onerous requirements than 

U.S. economic sanctions, export controls, and anti-corruption laws and regulations, and implementing compliance measures may 

disrupt our business or cause us to incur significantly more costs. Different laws may also contain conflicting provisions, making 

compliance more difficult. If we fail to comply with these laws and regulations, we could be exposed to claims for damages, civil or 

criminal financial penalties, reputational harm, incarceration of our employees, restrictions on our operations and other liabilities, 

which could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

While we have implemented policies and procedures designed to promote compliance by us and our personnel with the FCPA 

and other anti-corruption laws, they may not be effective in all instances to prevent violations. Any determination that we have 

violated the FCPA or other applicable anti-corruption, sanctions or export control laws could subject us to, among other things, civil 

and criminal penalties, material fines, profit disgorgement, injunctions on future conduct, securities litigation and a general loss of 

investor confidence, any one of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Adverse developments affecting the financial services industry, such as actual events or concerns involving liquidity, 

defaults, or non-performance by financial institutions or transactional counterparties, could adversely affect our current 

and projected business operations and financial condition and results of operations.

Actual events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments that affect financial 

institutions, transactional counterparties or other companies in the financial services industry or the financial services industry 

generally, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds or other similar risks, have in the past and may in the future lead to 

market-wide liquidity problems. On March 10, March 12, and May 1, 2023, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) took 

control and was appointed receiver of Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”), Signature Bank, and First Republic Bank, respectively, after each 

bank was unable to continue its operations. We are unable to predict the extent or nature of the impacts of the failures of SVB, 

Signature Bank and First Republic Bank and related circumstances at this time. Similarly, we cannot predict the impact that the high 

market volatility and instability of the banking sector more broadly could have on economic activity and our business in particular.
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The failure of other banks and financial institutions and measures taken, or not taken, by governments, businesses and other 

organizations in response to these events could adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Although we assess our banking relationships as we believe necessary or appropriate, our access to funding sources and 

other credit arrangements in amounts adequate to finance or capitalize our current and projected future business operations could be 

significantly impaired by factors that affect us, the financial institutions with which we have credit agreements or arrangements 

directly, or the financial services industry or economy in general. These factors could include, among others, events such as liquidity 

constraints or failures, the ability to perform obligations under various types of financial, credit or liquidity agreements or 

arrangements, disruptions or instability in the financial services industry or financial markets, or concerns or negative expectations 

about the prospects for companies in the financial services industry. These factors could involve financial institutions or financial 

services industry companies with which we have financial or business relationships, but could also include factors involving financial 

markets or the financial services industry generally.

In addition, investor concerns regarding the U.S. or international financial systems could result in less favorable commercial 

financing terms, including higher interest rates or costs and tighter financial and operating covenants, or systemic limitations on 

access to credit and liquidity sources, thereby making it more difficult for us to acquire financing on acceptable terms or at all. Any 

decline in available funding or access to our cash and liquidity resources could, among other risks, adversely impact our ability to 

meet our operating expenses, financial obligations or fulfill our other obligations, result in breaches of our financial and/or contractual 

obligations or result in violations of federal or state wage and hour laws. Any of these impacts, or any other impacts resulting from 

the factors described above or other related or similar factors not described above, could have material adverse impacts on our 

liquidity and our current and/or projected business operations and financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property

The medical device industry is characterized by patent litigation and we could become subject to litigation that could be 

costly, result in the diversion of management’s time and efforts, require us to pay damages or prevent us from marketing 

our existing or future products.

Patent litigation is prevalent in the medical device and diagnostic sectors. Our commercial success depends in part upon our 

ability and that of our distributors, contract manufacturers, and suppliers to manufacture, market, and sell our planned products, and 

to use our proprietary technologies without infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating the proprietary rights or intellectual 

property of third parties. We are, and in the future may become, party to, or be threatened with, adversarial proceedings or litigation 

regarding intellectual property rights with respect to our products and technology. Third parties may assert infringement claims 

against us based on existing or future intellectual property rights. Because patent applications can take many years to issue, there 

may be currently pending patent applications which may later result in issued patents that we may be accused of infringing. In 

addition, third parties may obtain patents in the future and claim that use of our technologies infringes upon these patents. 

Accordingly, third parties may assert infringement claims against us based on intellectual property rights that exist now or arise in the 

future. The outcome of intellectual property litigation is subject to uncertainties that cannot be adequately quantified in advance. 

Medical device and diagnostic industries have produced a significant number of patents and it may not always be clear to industry 

participants, including us, which patents cover various types of products or methods of use or manufacture. The scope of protection 

afforded by a patent is subject to interpretation by the courts, and the interpretation is not always uniform. If we were sued for patent 

infringement, we would need to demonstrate that the relevant product or methods of using the product either do not infringe the 

patent claims of the relevant patent or that the patent claims are invalid or unenforceable and we may not be able to do this. Proving 

invalidity is difficult. For example, in the U.S., proving invalidity requires a showing of clear and convincing evidence to overcome the 

presumption of validity enjoyed by issued patents. Even if we are successful in these proceedings, we may incur substantial costs 

and the time and attention of our management and scientific personnel could be diverted in pursuing these proceedings, which could 
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significantly harm our business and operating results. In addition, parties making claims against us may be able to sustain the costs 

of complex patent litigation more effectively than we can because they have substantially greater resources, and we may not have 

sufficient resources to bring these actions to a successful conclusion.

If we are found to infringe a third party’s intellectual property rights, we could be required to obtain a license from such third-

party to continue developing and marketing our products and technology. We may also elect to enter into such a license in order to 

settle pending or threatened litigation. However, we may not be able to obtain any required license on commercially reasonable 

terms, or at all. Even if we were able to obtain a license, it could be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same 

technologies licensed to us, and could require us to pay significant royalties and other fees. We could be forced, including by court 

order, to cease commercializing the infringing technology or product. In addition, we could be found liable for monetary damages. A 

finding of infringement could prevent us from commercializing our planned products in commercially important territories, or force us 

to cease some of our business operations, which could harm our business. Many of our employees were previously employed at, 

and many of our current advisors and consultants are employed by, universities or other biotechnology, medical device or 

pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. Although we instruct our employees, advisors and 

consultants not to, and otherwise endeavor to ensure that they do not, use or disclose the proprietary information or know-how of 

others in their work for
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us, we may be subject to claims that we, or these service providers, have used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade 

secrets or other proprietary information, of any such service providers’ current or former employer or other third party. These and 

other claims that we have misappropriated the confidential information or trade secrets of third parties can have a similar negative 

impact on our business to the infringement claims discussed above.

Even if we are successful in defending against intellectual property claims, litigation or other legal proceedings relating to such 

claims may cause us to incur significant expenses, and could distract our technical and management personnel from their normal 

responsibilities. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or 

developments and if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect 

on the price of our common stock. Such litigation or proceedings could substantially increase our operating losses and reduce our 

resources available for development activities. We may not have sufficient financial or other resources to adequately conduct such 

litigation or proceedings. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or proceedings more effectively 

than we can because of their substantially greater financial resources. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of 

litigation or other intellectual property related proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our ability to compete in the 

marketplace.

Changes in U.S. patent law could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our 

products.

The U.S. enacted and implemented the America Invents Act of 2011, a wide-ranging patent reform legislation. Further, the U.S. 

Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain 

circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. In addition to increasing uncertainty with regard to our 

ability to obtain future patents, this combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the value of patents, once obtained. 

Depending on decisions by the U.S. Congress, the federal courts and the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, the laws 
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and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that would weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to 

enforce our existing patents or future patents.

If we fail to comply with our obligations in our intellectual property agreements, we could lose intellectual property rights 

that are important to our business.

We are a party, and expect to become party in the future, to certain intellectual property agreements that impose various 

obligations on us. If we fail to comply with these obligations, any licensor may have the right to terminate such agreements, in which 

event we may not be able to develop and market any product that is covered by such agreements. Termination of such agreements, 

or reduction or elimination of our rights under such agreements, may result in our having to negotiate new or reinstated 

arrangements on less favorable terms, or our not having sufficient intellectual property rights to operate our business. The 

occurrence of such events could harm our business and financial condition.

The risks described elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q pertaining to our intellectual property rights also apply to 

any intellectual property rights that we may license, and any failure by us or any future licensor to obtain, maintain, defend and 

enforce these rights could have a material adverse effect on our business.

If we are not able to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our products and technologies, or if the scope 

of our patents is not sufficiently broad, we may not be able to effectively maintain our market leading technology position.

As of September 30, 2023, we own or have rights to 17 issued and four pending patents in the United States related to various 

aspects of the Allurion Balloon such as a swallowable, self-deflating and naturally passing gastric balloon, improvements to the fill 

and release valves therein, methods for deploying and releasing a gastric balloon within the body, and next generation fill and 

release valves. In addition, we have 35 issued and five patents pending outside of the United States. Our success depends in large 

part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent and other intellectual property protection in the U.S. and in other countries with 

respect to our proprietary technology and products.

The patent position of medical device and diagnostic companies generally is highly uncertain and involves complex legal and 

factual questions which are dependent upon the current legal and intellectual property context, extant legal precedent and 

interpretations of the law by individuals, and for which legal principles remain unresolved. In recent years, patent rights have been 

the subject of significant litigation. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of the patent rights 

we rely on are highly uncertain.

Pending patent applications cannot be enforced against third parties practicing the technology claimed in such applications 

unless and until a patent issues from such applications. Pending and future patent applications may not result in patents being 

issued at all, may not result in patents being issued in a manner which protect our technology or products, or may not result in 

patents being issued which effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive technologies and products. Assuming the 

other requirements for patentability are met, currently, the first to file a patent application is generally entitled to the patent. However, 

prior to March 16, 2013, in the U.S., the first to invent was entitled to the patent. Publications of discoveries in the scientific literature 

often
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lag behind the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the U.S. and other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 

months after filing, or in some cases not at all. Therefore, we cannot be certain that we were the first to make the inventions claimed 

in our patents or pending patent applications, or that we or were the first to file for patent protection of such inventions. If third parties 
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have filed prior patent applications on inventions claimed in our patents or applications that were filed on or before March 15, 2013, 

an interference proceeding in the U.S. can be initiated by such third parties to determine who was the first to invent any of the subject 

matter covered by the patent claims of our applications. If third parties have filed such prior applications after March 15, 2013, a 

derivation proceeding in the U.S. can be initiated by such third parties to determine whether our invention was derived from theirs. 

The determination that a patent application or patent claim meets all the requirements for patentability is a subjective determination 

based on the application of law and jurisprudence. The ultimate determination by the USPTO, or by a court or other trier of fact in the 

U.S., or corresponding foreign national patent offices or courts, on whether a claim meets all requirements of patentability cannot be 

assured. Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in our owned (jointly or fully) or 

licensed-in patents or patent applications.

We cannot provide assurances that any invention that is the subject of our patent applications, whether licensed-in or owned 

jointly or completely by us, will be found to be patentable, including over our own prior art publications or patent literature, or any 

such that application will result in an issued patent. We cannot make assurances as to the scope of any claims that may issue from 

our pending and future patent applications or to the outcome of any proceedings by any potential third parties that could challenge 

the patentability, validity or enforceability of our patents and patent applications in the U.S. or foreign jurisdictions. Any such 

challenge, if successful, could limit patent protection for our technology and products and/or materially harm our business.

Even if the patent applications we rely on issue as patents, they may not issue in a form that will provide us with any 

meaningful protection, prevent competitors from competing with us or otherwise provide us with any competitive advantage. Our 

competitors may be able to circumvent our patents by developing similar or alternative technologies or products in a non-infringing 

manner. The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or enforceability, and the patents we rely on 

may be challenged in the courts or patent offices in the U.S. and abroad. There is no assurance that all the potentially relevant prior 

art relating to our patents and patent applications has been found. If such prior art exists, it may be used to invalidate a patent, or 

may prevent a patent from issuing from a pending patent application. For example, such patent filings may be subject to a third-party 

submission of prior art to the USPTO or to other patent offices around the world.

Alternately or additionally, we may become involved in post-grant review procedures, oppositions, derivation proceedings, ex 

parte re-examinations, inter partes review, supplemental examinations, or interference proceedings or challenges in district court, in 

the U.S. or in various foreign patent offices, including both national and regional, challenging patents or patent applications in which 

we have rights, including patents on which we rely to protect our business. Patents that may be issued or in-licensed may be 

challenged, invalidated, modified, revoked, circumvented, found to be unenforceable or otherwise may not provide any competitive 

advantage. An adverse determination in any such challenge may result in loss of the patent or in patent application or patent claims 

being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable, in whole or in part, or in denial of the patent application or loss or reduction of the 

scope of one or more claims of the patent or patent application, any of which could limit our ability to stop or prevent us from stopping 

others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products, or limit the duration of the patent protection of our 

technology and products.

As another example, a European Unified Patent Court (“UPC”) has entered into force on June 1, 2023. The UPC is a common 

patent court to hear patent infringement and revocation proceedings effective for member states of the European Union. This could 

enable third parties to seek revocation of any of our European patents or licensed-in European patents in a single proceeding at the 

UPC rather than through multiple proceedings in each of the jurisdictions in which any such European patent is validated. Any such 

revocation and loss of patent protection could have a material adverse impact on our business and our ability to commercialize or 

license our technology and products. Moreover, the controlling laws and regulations of the UPC will develop over time, and may 

adversely affect our ability to enforce our European patents, whether owned or licensed-in, or defend the validity thereof. We, or any 
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future licensor, may decide to opt out our European patents and patent applications from the UPC. If certain formalities and 

requirements are not met, however, these European patents and patent applications could be challenged for non-compliance and 

brought under the jurisdiction of the UPC. We cannot be certain that our owned (jointly or fully) or licensed-in European patents or 

European patent applications will avoid falling under the jurisdiction of the UPC, if we, or any future licensor, decide to opt out of the 

UPC. Our competitors, who may have greater resources and may have made significant investments in competing technologies, 

may seek or may have already obtained patents that will limit, interfere with or eliminate our ability to make, use, and sell our 

technologies and products. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new planned 

products, patents protecting such products might expire before or shortly after such products are commercialized. As a result, our 

patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to ours 

or otherwise provide us with a competitive advantage.

Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the U.S. and other countries may diminish the value of 

the patents we rely on or narrow the scope of our patent protection. The laws of other countries may not protect our rights to the 

same extent as the laws of the U.S. For example, patent laws in various jurisdictions, including jurisdictions covering significant
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commercial markets, such as the European Patent Office, China and Japan, restrict the patentability of methods of treatment of the 

human body more than U.S. law does. If these developments were to occur, they could have a material adverse effect on our ability 

to generate revenue. There may be significant pressure on the U.S. government and international governmental bodies to limit the 

scope of patent protection both inside and outside the U.S. for disease treatments that prove successful, as a matter of public policy 

regarding worldwide health concerns. Countries other than the U.S. may have patent laws less favorable to patentees than those 

upheld by U.S. courts, allowing foreign competitors a better opportunity to create, develop, and market competing products. 

Countries other than the U.S. may, under certain circumstances, force us to grant a license under our patents to a competitor, thus 

allowing the competitor to compete with us in that jurisdiction or forcing us to lower the price of our product in that jurisdiction.

Furthermore, the degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain because legal means afford only limited 

protection and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage. For example:

• it is possible that one or more of our pending patent applications will not become an issued patent or, if issued, that the 
patent(s) claims will have sufficient scope to protect all of our planned products, provide us with commercially viable patent
protection or provide us with any competitive advantages;

• if our pending applications issue as patents, they may be challenged by third parties as invalid or unenforceable under U.S
foreign laws;

• we may not successfully commercialize all of our planned products, if approved, before our relevant patents expire;

• we may not be the first to make the inventions covered by each of our patents and pending patent applications; or

• we may not develop additional proprietary technologies or products that are separately patentable.

In addition, to the extent that we are unable to obtain and maintain patent protection for our technologies or product, or in the 

event that such patent protection expires, it may no longer be cost-effective to extend our portfolio by pursuing additional 

development of any future products.

If our trademarks and tradenames are not adequately protected, then we may not be able to build name recognition in our 

markets and our business may be adversely affected.
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We rely on trademarks, service marks, tradenames and brand names to distinguish our products from the products of our 

competitors, and have registered or applied to register these trademarks. We cannot assure you that our trademark applications will 

be approved. During trademark registration proceedings, we may receive rejections. Although we are given an opportunity to 

respond to those rejections, we may be unable to overcome such rejections. In addition, in proceedings before the USPTO and 

comparable agencies in many foreign jurisdictions, third parties are given an opportunity to oppose pending trademark applications 

and to seek to cancel registered trademarks. Opposition or cancellation proceedings may be filed against our trademarks, and our 

trademarks may not survive such proceedings. In the event that our trademarks are successfully challenged, we could be forced to 

rebrand our products, which could result in loss of brand recognition and could require us to devote resources towards advertising 

and marketing new brands. At times, competitors may adopt trade names or trademarks similar to ours, thereby impeding our ability 

to build brand identity and possibly leading to market confusion. Certain of our current or future trademarks may become so well 

known by the public that their use becomes generic and they lose trademark protection. Over the long term, if we are unable to 

establish name recognition based on our trademarks and trade names, then we may not be able to compete effectively and our 

business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

We may be subject to claims that we or our employees have misappropriated the intellectual property of a third party, 

including trade secrets or know-how, or are in breach of non-competition or non-solicitation agreements with our 

competitors.

Many of our employees and consultants were previously employed at or engaged by other medical device, biotechnology or 

pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. Some of these employees, consultants and 

contractors may have executed proprietary rights, non-disclosure and non-competition agreements in connection with such 

employment. Although we instruct our employees and consultants not to, and otherwise endeavor to ensure that they do not, use or 

disclose the intellectual property, proprietary information, know-how or trade secrets of others in their work for us, we may be subject 

to claims that we or these individuals have, inadvertently or otherwise, misappropriated the intellectual property or disclosed the 

alleged trade secrets or other proprietary information of such employers or competitors.

Additionally, we may be subject to claims from third parties challenging our ownership interest in intellectual property we regard 

as our own, based on claims that our employees or consultants have breached an obligation to assign inventions to another 

employer, to a former employer, or to another person or entity. Litigation may be necessary to defend against any other claims, and it 

may be necessary or we may desire to enter into a license to settle any such claim; however, there can be no assurance that we 

would be able to obtain a license on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. If our defense to those claims fails, in addition to paying 

monetary damages, a court could prohibit us from using technologies or features that are essential to our products, if such 

technologies
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or features are found to incorporate or be derived from the trade secrets or other proprietary information of the former employers. An 

inability to incorporate technologies or features that are important or essential to our products could have a material adverse effect 

on our business, financial condition and results of operations, and may prevent us from selling our products. In addition, we may lose 

valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in 

substantial costs and could be a distraction to management. Any litigation or the threat thereof may adversely affect our ability to hire 

employees or contract with independent sales representatives. A loss of key personnel or their work product could hamper or prevent 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

135/168

our ability to commercialize our products, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 

operations.

Others may challenge inventorship or claim an ownership interest in our intellectual property which could expose us to 

litigation and have a significant adverse effect on our prospects.

Determinations of inventorship can be subjective. While we undertake to accurately identify correct inventorship of inventions 

made on our behalf by our employees, consultants and contractors, an employee, consultant or contractor may disagree with our 

determination of inventorship and assert a claim of inventorship. Any disagreement over inventorship could result in our being forced 

to defend our determination of inventorship in a legal action, which could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to our senior 

management and scientific personnel.

While we typically require employees, consultants and contractors who may develop intellectual property on our behalf to 

execute agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, we may be unsuccessful in obtaining execution of assignment 

agreements with each party who in fact develops intellectual property that we regard as our own. If we are unsuccessful in obtaining 

assignment agreements from an employee, consultant or contractor who develops intellectual property on our behalf, the employee, 

consultant or contractor may later claim ownership of the invention. Any disagreement over ownership of intellectual property could 

result in our losing ownership, or exclusive ownership, of the contested intellectual property, paying monetary damages and/ or being 

enjoined from clinical testing, manufacturing and marketing of the affected product candidate(s). Even if we are successful in 

defending against such claims, a dispute could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to our senior management and 

scientific personnel.

We may become involved in legal proceedings to protect or enforce our intellectual property rights, which could be 

expensive, time consuming, or unsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe or otherwise violate the patents we rely on, or our other intellectual property rights. To counter 

infringement or unauthorized use, we may be required to file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time-consuming. Any 

claims that we assert against perceived infringers could also provoke these parties to assert counterclaims against us alleging that 

we infringe their intellectual property rights. In addition, in an infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a patent we are 

asserting is invalid or unenforceable, or may refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that the 

patents we are asserting do not cover the technology in question. With respect to a counterclaim of invalidity, we cannot be certain 

that there is no invalidating prior art of which we and the patent examiner were unaware during prosecution. An adverse result in any 

litigation proceeding could put one or more patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly, prevent us from stopping the 

other party from using the invention at issue on the grounds that our patent claims do not cover the invention. If any of our patents 

are found invalid or unenforceable, or construed narrowly, our ability to stop the other party from launching a competitive product 

would be materially impaired. Further, such adverse outcomes could limit our ability to assert those patents against future 

competitors. Loss of patent protection would have a material adverse impact on our business.

Even if we establish infringement of any of our patents by a competitive product, a court may decide not to grant an injunction 

against further infringing activity, thus allowing the competitive product to continue to be marketed by the competitor. It is difficult to 

obtain an injunction in U.S. litigation and a court could decide that the competitor should instead pay us a “reasonable royalty” as 

determined by the court, and/or other monetary damages. A reasonable royalty or other monetary damages may or may not be an 

adequate remedy. Loss of exclusivity and/or competition from a related product would have a material adverse impact on our 

business.
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Litigation often involves significant amounts of public disclosures. Such disclosures could have a materially adverse impact on 

our competitive position or our stock prices. During any litigation, we would be required to produce voluminous records related to our 

patents and our research and development activities in a process called discovery. The discovery process may result in the 

disclosure of some of our confidential information. There could also be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or 

other interim proceedings or developments.

Litigation is inherently expensive, and the outcome is often uncertain. Any litigation likely would substantially increase our 

operating losses and reduce our resources available for development activities. Further, we may not have sufficient financial or other 

resources to adequately conduct such litigation or proceedings. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such 

litigation or proceedings more effectively than we can because of their substantially greater financial resources. As a result, we may 

conclude that even if a competitor is infringing any of our patents, the risk adjusted cost of bringing and enforcing such a claim or
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action may be too high or not in the best interest of Allurion or our stockholders. In such cases, we may decide that the more prudent 

course of action is to simply monitor the situation or initiate or seek some other non-litigious action or solution.

Concurrently with an infringement litigation, third parties may also be able to challenge the validity of our patents before 

administrative bodies in the U.S. or abroad. Such mechanisms include re-examination, post grant review and equivalent proceedings 

in foreign jurisdictions, e.g., opposition proceedings. Such proceedings could result in revocation or amendment of our patents in 

such a way that they no longer cover our products, potentially negatively impacting any concurrent litigation.

Interference or derivation proceedings provoked by third parties or brought by the USPTO or any other patent authority may be 

necessary to determine the priority of inventions or other matters of inventorship with respect to patents and patent applications. In 

addition to challenges during litigation, third parties can challenge the validity of our patents in the U.S. using post-grant review and 

inter partes review proceedings, which some third parties have been using to cause the cancellation of selected or all claims of 

issued patents of competitors. For a patent filed March 16, 2013 or later, a petition for post-grant review can be filed by a third party 

in a nine- month window from issuance of the patent. A petition for inter partes review can be filed immediately following the issuance 

of a patent if the patent has an effective filing date prior to March 16, 2013. A petition for inter partes review can be filed after the 

nine-month period for filing a post-grant review petition has expired for a patent with an effective filing date of March 16, 2013 or 

later. Post-grant review proceedings can be brought on any ground of invalidity, whereas inter partes review proceedings can only 

raise an invalidity challenge based on published prior art and patents. These adversarial actions at the USPTO review patent claims 

without the presumption of validity afforded to U.S. patents in lawsuits in U.S. federal courts and use a lower burden of proof than 

used in litigation in U.S. federal courts. Therefore, it is generally considered easier for a competitor or third party to have a U.S. 

patent invalidated in a USPTO post-grant review or inter partes review proceeding than invalidated in a litigation in a U.S. federal 

court. If any of our patents are challenged by a third party in such a USPTO proceeding, there is no guarantee that we or any future 

licensors or collaborators will be successful in defending the patent, which may result in a loss of the challenged patent right to us. 

We may become involved in proceedings, including oppositions, interferences, derivation proceedings inter partes reviews, patent 

nullification proceedings, or re-examinations, challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of others, and the outcome of any such 

proceedings are highly uncertain. An adverse determination in any such proceeding could reduce the scope of, or invalidate, 

important patent rights, allow third parties to commercialize our technology or products and compete directly with us, without 

payment to us, or result in our inability to manufacture or commercialize products without infringing third-party patent rights. Our 

business also could be harmed if a prevailing party does not offer us a license on commercially reasonable terms, if any license is 

offered at all. Litigation or other proceedings may fail and, even if successful, may result in substantial costs and distract our 
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management and other employees. We may also become involved in disputes with others regarding the ownership of intellectual 

property rights. If we are unable to resolve these disputes, we could lose valuable intellectual property rights.

Even if resolved in our favor, litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual property claims may cause us to incur 

significant expenses, and could distract our technical or management personnel from their normal responsibilities. In addition, there 

could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments and if securities 

analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect on the market price of our 

Common Stock. Such litigation or proceedings could substantially increase our operating losses and reduce the resources available 

for development activities or any future sales, marketing or distribution activities. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and 

continuation of intellectual property litigation or other proceedings could have an adverse effect on our ability to compete in the 

marketplace.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, the value of our technology could be materially adversely 

affected, harming our business and competitive position.

In addition to our patented technology and products, we rely upon confidential proprietary information, including trade secrets, 

unpatented know-how, technology and other proprietary information, to develop and maintain our competitive position. Any 

disclosure to or misappropriation by third parties of our confidential proprietary information could enable competitors to quickly 

duplicate or surpass our technological achievements, thus eroding our competitive position in the market. Although we have taken 

steps to protect our confidential proprietary information, in part, by confidentiality agreements with our employees and our 

collaborators, consultants, vendors and advisors, we cannot provide assurances that all such agreements have been duly executed. 

Third parties may still obtain this information or may come upon this or similar information independently, and we cannot be certain 

that our trade secrets and other confidential information will not be disclosed or that competitors will not otherwise gain access to our 

trade secrets, or that technology relevant to our business will not be independently developed by a person that is not a party to such 

an agreement. Furthermore, if the employees, consultants, collaborators, vendors or advisors that are parties to these agreements 

breach or violate the terms of these agreements, we may not have adequate remedies for any such breach or violation, and we could 

lose our trade secrets through such breaches or violations. Further, our trade secrets could be disclosed, misappropriated or 

otherwise become known or be independently discovered by our competitors. In addition, intellectual property laws in foreign 

countries may not protect trade secrets and confidential information to the same extent as the laws of the U.S. If we are unable to 

prevent disclosure of the intellectual property related to our technologies to third parties, we may not be able to establish or maintain 

a competitive advantage in our market, which would harm our ability to protect our rights and have an adverse effect on our 

business.
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We may not be able to protect or enforce our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on all of our planned products throughout the world may be prohibitively expensive to 

us. The requirements for patentability may differ in certain countries, particularly in developing countries; thus, even in countries 

where we do pursue patent protection, there can be no assurance that any patents will issue with claims that cover our products.

Moreover, our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights may be adversely affected by unforeseen changes in 

foreign intellectual property laws. Additionally, laws of some countries outside of the U.S. and Europe do not afford intellectual 

property protection to the same extent as the laws of the U.S. and Europe. Many companies have encountered significant problems 
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in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in certain foreign jurisdictions. This could make it difficult for us to stop the 

infringement of our patents or the misappropriation of our other intellectual property rights. For example, many foreign countries have 

compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner must grant licenses to third parties. Consequently, we may not be able to 

prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in certain countries outside the U.S. and Europe or from selling or importing 

products made from our inventions in and into the U.S. or other jurisdictions. Consequently, competitors may use our technologies in 

jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and, further, may export otherwise infringing 

products to territories where we have patent protection but where enforcement is not as strong as in the U.S. These products may 

compete with our products in jurisdictions where we do not have any issued patents and our patent claims or other intellectual 

property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from so competing.

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in international 

jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents 

and other intellectual property protection, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of 

competing products in violation of our proprietary rights generally. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions 

could result in substantial cost and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business. Further, such proceedings 

could put our patents (in that or other jurisdictions) at risk of being invalidated, held unenforceable or interpreted narrowly; put our 

pending patent applications at risk of not issuing; and provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any 

lawsuits that we initiate, and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Furthermore, we 

cannot ensure that we will be able to initiate or maintain the same level or quality of patent protection in all jurisdictions in which we 

may wish to market our products. Accordingly, our efforts to protect our intellectual property rights in such countries may be 

inadequate.

Changes in the interpretation of patent law in the United States and other jurisdictions could diminish the value of patents 

in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our products.

In the U.S., the U.S. Congress is responsible for passing laws establishing patentability standards, and, as with any laws, 

implementation is left to federal agencies and the federal courts based on their interpretations of the laws. In the U.S., interpretation 

of patent standards can vary significantly within the USPTO, and across the various federal courts, including the U.S. Supreme 

Court. Recently, the U.S. Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases, generally limiting the types of inventions that can be 

patented. Further, there are open questions regarding interpretation of patentability standards that the U.S. Supreme Court has yet to 

decisively address. Absent clear guidance from the U.S. Supreme Court, the USPTO has become increasingly conservative in its 

interpretation of patent laws and standards. Similar tensions between government administrations and judicial interpretation of patent 

laws in other jurisdictions may resulting in changes to the scope or validity of our patents in such jurisdictions.

In addition to increasing uncertainty with regard to our ability to obtain patents in the future, the legal landscape in the U.S. and 

outside the U.S. has created uncertainty with respect to the value of patents. Depending on any actions by applicable legislating 

bodies, and future decisions by the entities implementing such laws, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in 

unpredictable ways and could weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce our existing patents and patents that we might 

obtain in the future.

Obtaining and maintaining patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee 

payment and other requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or 

eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.
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Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and various other governmental fees on patents or applications will be 

due to be paid by us to the USPTO and various governmental patent agencies outside of the U.S. in several stages over the lifetime 

of the patents or applications. The USPTO and various non-U.S. governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of 

procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process. Though we use 

commercially reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable maintenance requirements, we may fail to do so on occasion. In many 

cases, such an inadvertent lapse can be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules. 

However, there are situations in which non-compliance, whether intentional or not, can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent 

or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. In such an event, our competitors 

might be able to use our technologies and this circumstance would have a material adverse effect on our business.
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We may need to acquire or license intellectual property from third parties, and such licenses may not be available or may 

not be available on commercially reasonable terms.

A third party may hold intellectual property, including patent rights, that we may determine are important or necessary to the 

development of our technology and products. In addition, it may be necessary for us to use the patented or proprietary technology of 

one or more third parties to commercialize our current and future products. The licensing and acquisition of third-party intellectual 

property rights is a competitive area, and a number of more established companies may pursue strategies to license or acquire third-

party intellectual property rights that we may consider attractive. These established companies may have a competitive advantage 

over us due to their size, cash resources and greater clinical development and commercialization capabilities.

If we determine to license or acquire third-party intellectual property and we are unable to acquire such intellectual property 

outright, or obtain licenses to such intellectual property from such third parties when needed or on commercially reasonable terms, 

our ability to commercialize our products at such time would likely be delayed or we may have to abandon development of that 

product or program and our business and financial condition could suffer.

If we in-license additional technologies or products in the future, we might become dependent on proprietary rights from third 

parties with respect to those technologies or products. Any termination of such licenses could result in the loss of significant rights 

and would cause material adverse harm to our ability to develop and commercialize any product subject to such licenses.

Disputes may also arise between us and any future licensors regarding intellectual property subject to a license agreement. If 

disputes over intellectual property that we have licensed prevent or impair our ability to maintain our current licensing arrangements 

on acceptable terms, we may be unable to successfully develop and commercialize the affected product(s).

The risks described elsewhere pertaining to our intellectual property rights also apply to the intellectual property rights that we 

may determine to in-license, and any failure by us or any future licensors to obtain, maintain, defend and enforce such rights could 

have an adverse effect on our business. In some cases we may not have control over the prosecution, maintenance or enforcement 

of the patents that we determine to license, and may not have sufficient ability to provide input into the patent prosecution, 

maintenance and defense process with respect to such patents, and potential future licensors may fail to take the steps that we 

believe are necessary or desirable in order to obtain, maintain, defend and enforce the licensed patents.

The Allurion VCS and other products or services contain third-party open source software components. Certain use of 

such open source components with our proprietary software could adversely affect our ability to charge fees for, or 

otherwise protect the value of, our offerings.
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The Allurion VCS and our other products and services contain software licensed to us by third-party authors under “open 

source” licenses. Use of such software may entail greater risks than use of non-open source third- party commercial software, as 

open source licensors generally do not provide support, warranties, indemnification or other contractual protections regarding 

infringement claims or the quality of the code. Although we seek to monitor our use of open source software to avoid such 

consequences and to comply with the terms thereof, the terms of many open source licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. or 

foreign courts, and there is a risk that these licenses could be construed in a way that could impose unanticipated conditions or 

restrictions on our ability to provide or distribute our platform. If we are held to have breached the terms of an open source software 

license, we could face liability which may result in an injunction against providing our offering, or be required to seek costly licenses 

from third parties to continue providing our offerings on terms that are not economically feasible, to re-engineer our platform, to 

discontinue or delay the provision of our offerings if re-engineering could not be accomplished on a timely basis or to make generally 

available, in source code form, our proprietary code, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results 

of operations.

Our internal computer systems, or those used by third parties which we rely on, may fail or suffer security breaches.

Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems, or those used by third parties which we rely 

on, are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses and unauthorized access, malware, natural disasters, fire, terrorism, war, 

telecommunication failures, electrical failures, cyber-attacks or cyber-intrusions over the Internet, attachments to emails, persons 

inside our organization, or persons with access to systems inside our organization. Although our information security program is in 

compliance with the global ISO 27001:2013 standards, it does not yet fully comply with all of the additions and changes in the 

updated ISO 27001:2022 version of the standards, which we anticipate complying with prior to the required transition date of October 

31, 2025 to maintain ISO 27001 security certification.

If our security measures are breached, whether due to failure to comply with the ISO 27001:2022 version of the standards or 

otherwise, or if design flaws in our software or information systems are exposed and exploited, and, as a result, a third party obtains 

unauthorized access to any of our or our customer’s data, our relationships with our customers and distributors may be damaged, 

and we could incur significant liability and reputational harm. The risk of a security breach or disruption, particularly through cyber-

attacks or cyber intrusion, including by computer hackers, foreign governments, and cyber terrorists, has generally increased as the 

number, intensity and sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from around the world have increased. While we have not 

experienced any such material system failure or security breach to our knowledge to date, if such an event were to occur and cause
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interruptions in our operations, it could result in a material disruption of our development programs and our business operations. For 

example, the loss of data from completed, ongoing or future studies could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and 

significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any disruption or security breach were to result in 

a loss of, or damage to, our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur 

liability and the further development and commercialization of our current and future products could be delayed.

We rely on internet infrastructure, bandwidth providers, third-party computer hardware and software and other third parties 

for providing services to our customers and patients, and any failure or interruption in the services provided by these third 

parties could expose us to litigation and negatively impact our relationships with customers and patients, adversely 

affecting our operating results.
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Our ability to deliver our internet-based services depends on the development and maintenance of the infrastructure of the 

internet by third parties. This includes maintenance of a reliable network backbone with the necessary speed, data capacity, 

bandwidth capacity and security. Our services are designed to operate without interruption. However, we may experience future 

interruptions and delays in services and availability from time to time. In the event of a catastrophic event with respect to one or more 

of our systems, we may experience an extended period of system unavailability, which could negatively impact our relationship with 

clients and members. To operate without interruption, both we and our service providers must guard against:

• damage from fire, power loss, natural disasters and other force majeure events outside our control;

• communications failures;

• software and hardware errors, failures, and crashes;

• security breaches, computer viruses, hacking, denial-of-service attacks, and similar disruptive problems; and

• other potential interruptions.

We also rely on software licensed from third parties in order to offer our services. These licenses are generally commercially 

available on varying terms. However, it is possible that this software may not continue to be available on commercially reasonable 

terms, or at all. Any loss of the right to use any of this software could result in delays in the provisioning of our services until 

equivalent technology is either developed by us, or, if available, is identified, obtained and integrated. Furthermore, our use of 

additional or alternative third-party software would require us to enter into license agreements with third parties, and integration of 

our software with new third-party software may require significant work and require substantial investment of our time and resources. 

Also, any undetected errors or defects in third-party software could prevent the deployment or impair the functionality of our software, 

delay new updates or enhancements to our platform, result in a failure of our platform, and injure our reputation.

Our failure to adequately protect personal information in compliance with evolving legal requirements could harm our 

business.

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store sensitive data, including legally protected patient health information 

and personally identifiable information. We collect this kind of information on our customers for purposes of servicing potential 

warranty claims and for post-marketing safety vigilance. Data protection and privacy-related laws and regulations are evolving and 

may result in ever-increasing regulatory and public scrutiny and escalating levels of enforcement and sanctions.

There are a number of state, federal and international laws protecting the privacy and security of health information and 

personal data. As part of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act 2009, or “ARRA”, the U.S. Congress amended the privacy 

and security provisions of HIPAA. HIPAA imposes limitations on the use and disclosure of an individual’s protected health information 

by certain health care providers, health care clearinghouses, and health insurance plans, collectively referred to as covered entities, 

that involve the creation, use, maintenance or disclosure of protected health information. The HIPAA amendments also impose 

compliance obligations and corresponding penalties for non-compliance on individuals and entities that provide services to health 

care providers and other covered entities, collectively referred to as business associates. Most recently, on December 10, 2020, HHS 

issued a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (the public comment period to which was further extended in March 2021) which, if 

finalized, would make changes to some of HIPAA’s regulatory requirements, which would impact us, to the extent we are a business 

associate. ARRA also significantly increased the penalties for improper use or disclosure of an individual’s protected health 

information under HIPAA and extended enforcement authority to state attorneys general. The amendments also create notification 

requirements for individuals whose protected health information has been inappropriately accessed or disclosed, notification 

requirements to federal regulators and in some cases, notification to local and national media. Notification is not required under 

HIPAA if the health information that is improperly used or disclosed is deemed secured in accordance with encryption or other 
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standards developed by HHS. Most states have laws requiring notification of affected individuals and state regulators in the event of 

a breach of personal information, which is a broader class of information than the protected health information protected by HIPAA. 

Many state laws impose significant data security requirements, such as encryption or mandatory contractual terms to ensure ongoing 

protection of personal information.
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In addition, even when HIPAA does not apply, according to the FTC, failing to take appropriate steps to keep consumers’ 

personal information secure constitutes unfair acts or practices in or affecting commerce in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTCA, 15 

U.S.C § 45(a). The FTC expects a company’s data security measures to be reasonable and appropriate in light of the sensitivity and 

volume of consumer information it holds, the size and complexity of its business, and the cost of available tools to improve security 

and reduce vulnerabilities. Medical data is considered sensitive data that merits stronger safeguards. The FTC’s guidance for 

appropriately securing consumers’ personal information is similar to what is required by the HIPAA Security Rule.

Many foreign countries and governmental bodies, including the EU, Canada, Australia and other relevant jurisdictions, have 

laws and regulations concerning the collection and use of personal or sensitive data obtained from their residents or by businesses 

operating within their jurisdiction. For example, the European Commission adopted the General Data Protection Regulation, or the 

“GDPR”, effective on May 25, 2018, that supersedes previous EU data protection legislation, imposes more stringent EU data 

protection requirements and provides for greater penalties for non-compliance. The GDPR applies to any company established in the 

EU as well as to those outside the EU if they collect and use personal data in connection with the offering goods or services to 

individuals in the EU or the monitoring of their behavior.

In addition, following the United Kingdom’s exit from the EU on January 31, 2020, the GDPR ceased to apply in the United 

Kingdom at the end of the transition period on December 31, 2020. However, as of January 1, 2021, the United Kingdom’s European 

Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 incorporated the GDPR (Is it existed on December 31, 2020 but subject to certain UK specific 

amendments) into United Kingdom law (referred to as the UK GDPR). The UK GDPR and the UK Data Protection Act 2018 set out 

the UK’s data protection regime, which is independent from but aligned to the EU’s data protection regime. In this Quarterly Report 

on Form 10-Q, “GDPR” refers to both the EU and the UK GDPR, unless specified otherwise. The GDPR enhances data protection 

obligations for processors and controllers of personal data, including, for example, expanded disclosures about how personal 

information is to be used, limitations on retention of information, mandatory data breach notification requirements and onerous new 

obligations on services providers. Non-compliance with the GDPR can trigger steep fines of up to €20 million (£17.5 million) or 4% of 

total worldwide annual revenues, whichever is higher. Given the breadth and depth of changes in data protection obligations, 

meeting the GDPR’s requirements requires time, resources and a review of the technology and systems currently in use against the 

GDPR’s requirements.

EU Member States have adopted national laws to implement the EU GDPR, which may partially deviate from the EU GDPR, 

and the competent authorities in the EU Member States may interpret GDPR obligations slightly differently from country to country, 

such that we do not expect to operate in a uniform legal landscape in the EU with respect to data protection laws. In addition, the UK 

has announced plans to reform the UK data protection regime.

The GDPR imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data out of the European Economic Area, or “EEA”, or the United 

Kingdom to third countries, including the U.S. On June 4, 2021, the European Commission issued new forms of standard contractual 

clauses for data transfers from controllers or processors in the EEA, or otherwise subject to the GDPR, to controllers or processors 

established outside the EEA, and not subject to the GDPR. The new forms of standard contractual clauses have replaced the 
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standard contractual clauses that were adopted previously under the Data Protection Directive. The UK is not subject to the 

European Commission’s new standard contractual clauses but has published its own transfer mechanism, the International Data 

Transfer Agreement, which enables transfers from the UK. We will be required to transition to the new forms of standard contractual 

clauses and doing so will require significant effort and cost. Although the United Kingdom is regarded as a third country under the EU 

GDPR, the European Commission has issued a decision recognizing the United Kingdom as providing adequate protection under the 

EU GDPR and, therefore, transfers of personal data originating in the EEA to the United Kingdom remain unrestricted. Like the EU 

GDPR, the UK GDPR restricts personal data transfers outside the United Kingdom to countries not regarded by the United Kingdom 

as providing adequate protection. The United Kingdom government has confirmed that personal data transfers from the United 

Kingdom to the EEA remain free flowing.

We may be at risk of enforcement actions taken by certain EU or UK data protection authorities until such point in time that we 

may be able to ensure that all transfers of personal data to us from the EEA or the United Kingdom are conducted in compliance with 

all applicable regulatory obligations, the guidance of data protection authorities and evolving best practices. We may find it necessary 

to establish systems to maintain personal data originating from the EU/UK in the EEA or the United Kingdom (as applicable), which 

may involve substantial expense and may cause us to need to divert resources from other aspects of our business, all of which may 

adversely affect our business. Our failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations, or to protect such data, could result in 

enforcement actions against us, including fines, imprisonment of company officials and public censure, claims for damages by end-

customers and other affected individuals, damage to our reputation and loss of goodwill, any of which could harm on our operations, 

financial performance, and business. Evolving and changing definitions of personal data and personal information, within the 

European Union, the United Kingdom, the U.S., and elsewhere, may limit or inhibit our ability to operate or expand our business, 

including limiting strategic partnerships that may involve the sharing of data. Moreover, if the relevant laws and regulations change, 

or are interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with our data practices or the operation of our products, we may need 

to expend resources in order to change our business operations, data practices, or the manner in which our products operate. Even 

the perception of privacy concerns, whether or not valid, may harm our reputation and inhibit adoption of our products.
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There is the risk that the limits we obtained for our cyber liability insurance may not cover the total loss experienced in the 

event of a data security incident, including the financial loss, legal costs, and business and reputational harm, particularly if there is 

an interruption to our systems. Additionally, there is the risk of a data privacy or security incident by an employee, which may expose 

us to liability. If personal information of our customers or employees is misappropriated, our reputation with our customers and 

employees may be injured resulting in loss of business and/or morale, and we may incur costs to remediate possible injury to our 

customers and employees or be required to pay fines or take other action with respect to judicial or regulatory actions arising out of 

such incidents.

If we are not able to satisfy data protection, security, privacy, and other government- and industry-specific requirements, 

our business could be harmed.

There are a number of data protection, security, privacy and other government- and industry-specific requirements, including 

those that require companies to notify individuals of data security incidents involving certain types of personal data. Security 

compromises experienced by other companies, by our customers or by us may lead to public disclosures, which could harm our 

reputation, erode customer confidence in the effectiveness of our security measures, and negatively impact our other products and 

our ability to attract new customers. As we expand into new regions, we will need to comply with new requirements. If we cannot 
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comply or if we incur a violation in one or more of these requirements, our growth could be adversely impacted, and we could incur 

significant liability.

We have incorporated, and plan to incorporate in the future, artificial intelligence, or AI, into some of our products. This 

technology is new and developing and may present risks that could affect our business.

We have incorporated, and plan to incorporate in the future, AI, including large language models, such as GPT, into our 

products. AI is a new and emerging technology that is in its early stages of commercial use, particularly within the medical device 

industry. If any of our products that incorporate AI have perceived or actual negative impacts on the clinicians or patients who use 

them, we may experience brand or reputational harm, competitive harm or legal liability. The rapid evolution of AI may also require 

the application of significant resources to develop, test and maintain our products and services that incorporate AI in order to help 

ensure that it is implemented in a socially responsible manner, to minimize any real or perceived unintended harmful impacts. In 

addition, AI is subject to a complex and evolving regulatory landscape, including data protection, privacy, and potentially other laws 

and different jurisdictions have taken and may take in the future varying approaches to regulating AI. Compliance with these laws 

and regulations can be complex, costly and time-consuming, and there is a risk of regulatory enforcement actions or litigation if we 

fail to comply with these requirements. As regulations evolve, we may have to alter our business practices or products in order to 

comply with regulatory requirements.

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Capital Requirements

We have incurred net operating losses in the past and expect to incur net operating losses for the foreseeable future.

We have incurred net operating losses since our inception, and we continue to incur significant research and development, 

general and administrative, and sales and marketing expenses related to our operations. We do not expect to be profitable in 2023, 

and in future years we expect to incur significant sales and marketing expenses to expand our business and clinical research 

expenses related to, among other things, the AUDACITY trial for the Allurion Balloon in the U.S. Investment in medical device 

product development, particularly clinical studies, is highly speculative. It entails substantial upfront capital expenditures and 

significant risk that any potential planned product will fail to demonstrate adequate safety or effectiveness. We expect to generate 

significant operating losses for the forseeable future. As of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, we had an accumulated 

deficit of $193.6 million and $132.2 million, respectively. Based on our recurring losses and expectations to incur significant 

expenses and negative cash flow for the foreseeable future, our independent registered public accounting firm has included an 

explanatory paragraph in its report on our financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022 expressing 

substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern, and we have concluded that there is substantial doubt about our 

ability to continue as a going concern for a period of one year from the date that the condensed consolidated financial statements for 

September 30, 2023 are issued.

We expect that our future financial results will depend primarily on our success in launching, selling and supporting the Allurion 

Balloon and other products that are part of our weight loss platform. This will require us to be successful in a range of activities, 

including manufacturing, marketing, and selling the Allurion Balloon. We may not succeed in these activities and may never generate 

revenue that is sufficient to be profitable in the future. Even if we are profitable, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability 

on a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to achieve sustained profitability would depress the value of Allurion and could impair our 

ability to raise capital, expand our business, diversify our planned products, market our current and future products, or continue our 

operations.
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We have a significant amount of debt, which may affect our ability to operate our business and secure additional financing 

in the future.

As of September 30, 2023, we had $100 million in debt and $79.9 million in cash and cash equivalents. As of September 30, 

2023, our existing, committed credit facility with Fortress was fully drawn. Upon consummation of the Business Combination, we 

received an investment of $40 million from RTW in exchange for future revenue interest payments pursuant to the Revenue Interest 

Financing. Upon consummation of the Business Combination, we also obtained the Fortress Term Loan to refinance the 2021 Term 

Loan. Our ability to make scheduled payments of debt principal and interest on our existing or future indebtedness, or to refinance 

our indebtedness, and to pay our royalty obligations, depends on our future performance, which is subject to economic, financial, 

competitive, and other factors beyond our control. Our debt, including the Fortress Term Loan, contains certain financial covenants 

relating to minimum liquidity and minimum revenue requirements. On July 5, 2023, we received from Fortress a waiver in respect of 

the minimum revenue requirement to funding set forth in the Fortress Bridging Agreement because we believed that we would not 

have satisfied such condition upon closing of the Business Combination. However, to the extent that we are unable to continue to 

comply with such ongoing minimum liquidity and revenue requirements, including as a result of any weakness in our business into 

the second half of 2023, and are unable to procure additional waivers from Fortress or other lenders in the future, such lenders may 

pursue a number of actions, including declaring us in breach of our covenants, requiring conditions to cure such breaches and/or 

exercising foreclosure remedies. Any or all of these actions may materially impact our working capital, and our business may not 

continue to generate sufficient cash flows from operations to fund operations, service our debt, and satisfy our revenue interest 

payment obligations. If we are unable to generate such cash flows, we may be required to adopt one or more alternatives, such as 

raising additional capital on terms that may be unfavorable or selling assets or portions of our business. Our ability to refinance our 

existing or any future indebtedness will depend on the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. We may not be able 

to engage in any of these activities or engage in these activities on desirable terms, which could result in a default on our debt 

obligations.

In addition, our investment from RTW and debt with Fortress are collateralized by substantially all of our assets and subject to 

customary financial and operating covenants limiting our ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, change the 

name, location, office or executive management of our business, change our business, merge with or acquire other entities, pay 

dividends or make other distributions to holders of our capital stock, make certain investments, engage in transactions with our 

affiliates, create liens, sell assets, pay any subordinated debt and store certain inventory and equipment with third parties. These 

covenants may make it difficult to operate our business. As of the date of issuance of our December 31, 2021, December 31, 2022, 

and September 30, 2023 financial statements, we concluded that there was substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going 

concern. Given the substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern, there is a risk that we may not meet our 

covenants in the future. Due to the risk of not achieving our covenants, the amounts due under our credit facilities as of December 

31, 2022 and September 30, 2023 have been classified as a current liability in the consolidated financial statements. We are also 

subject to standard event of default provisions under the Revenue Interest Financing Agreement with RTW and the Credit 

Agreement with Fortress, that, if triggered, would allow the debt to be accelerated, which could significantly deplete our cash 

resources, cause us to raise additional capital at unfavorable terms, require us to sell portions of our business or result in us 

becoming insolvent. The existing collateral pledged to RTW and Fortress, and the covenants to which we are bound, may prevent us 

from being able to secure additional debt or equity financing on favorable terms, or at all, or to pursue business opportunities, 

including potential acquisitions, heighten our vulnerability to downturns in our business or our industry or the general economy, limit 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

146/168

our ability to adjust to changing market conditions and place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors who 

have greater capital resources.

We may need additional funds to support our operations, and such funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms, 

or at all, which would force us to delay, reduce or suspend our planned development and commercialization efforts. 

Raising additional capital may subject us to unfavorable terms, cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our 

operations, or require us to relinquish rights to our products and technologies.

Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since our inception, and we expect to incur significant expenses in 

connection with our planned clinical research, development and product commercialization efforts. If our available cash resources 

and anticipated cash flow from operations are insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements, we may seek to sell equity or 

convertible debt securities, to obtain another form of third-party funding, or to enter into other debt financing. Any failure to raise the 

funds necessary to support our operations may force us to delay, reduce or suspend our planned clinical trials, research and 

development programs, or other commercialization efforts.

To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership may be 

diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a 

stockholder. Debt financing, if available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take 

certain actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends.

If we raise additional funds through strategic collaborations or partnerships, or marketing, distribution or licensing 

arrangements with third parties, we may be required to do so at an earlier stage than would otherwise be ideal and/or may have to 

limit valuable rights to our intellectual property, technologies, products, or future revenue streams, or grant licenses or other rights on 

terms that are
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not favorable to us. Furthermore, any additional fundraising efforts may divert our management from their day-to-day activities, which 

may adversely affect our ability to develop and commercialize our products.

We receive the majority of our revenue from sales to health care providers and other third-party distributors, and the failure 

to collect receivables from them could adversely affect our financial position and results of operations.

We receive the majority of our revenue from sales to health care providers and other third-party distributors. We extend credit 

to our customers for a significant portion of our sales and receivables from our customers are not secured by any type of collateral. 

We are therefore subject to the risk that our customers may not pay for the products they have purchased, pay at a slower rate than 

we have historically experienced, or may seek extended payment terms, which may, in turn, result in delays in our cash collection 

and increases in our accounts receivable. Our customers may encounter cash flow or operating difficulties, which may reduce their 

demand for our products or delay their payments to us, thereby increasing our accounts receivable turnover days, or increasing the 

risk that they may default on their payment obligations. These risks are heightened during periods of global or industry specific 

economic downturn or uncertainty and during periods of rising interest rates. Our liquidity and cash flows from operations may be 

adversely affected if we are unable to settle our accounts receivable on a timely basis, if our accounts receivable cycles or collection 

periods lengthen or if we encounter a material increase in defaults of payment of our accounts receivable or repayments of amounts 

we have extended to our customers on credit.
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If our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies prove to be incorrect, our results of operations 

could be adversely affected.

The preparation of our financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions affecting the reported amounts of 

our assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and earnings. If these estimates or assumptions are incorrect, it could have a material 

adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition. We have identified several accounting policies as being critical to 

the fair presentation of our financial condition and results of operations because they involve major aspects of our business and 

require us to make judgments about matters that are inherently uncertain. These policies are described under the section entitled 

“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of Allurion” and should be considered in 

conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on 

Form 10-Q. The implementation of new accounting requirements or other changes to GAAP, could have a material adverse effect on 

our reported results of operations and financial condition. Our results of operations may be adversely affected if our assumptions 

change or if actual circumstances differ from those in our assumptions, which could cause our results of operations to fall below our 

expectations and the expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in the trading price of our common 

stock.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities

Our share price may be volatile, and purchasers of our securities could incur substantial losses.

Our share price is likely to be volatile. The securities markets in general, and the market for biotechnology and medical device 

companies in particular, have experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular 

companies. You may not be able to resell your shares at an attractive price due to a number of factors, including the following:

• our ability to successfully commercialize, and realize revenues from sales of, the Allurion Balloon;

• the success of competitive products or technologies;

• results of clinical studies of the Allurion Balloon or other current or future products or those of our competitors;

• regulatory or legal developments in the U.S. and other countries, especially changes in laws or regulations applicable to ou
products;

• introductions and announcements of new products by us, our commercialization partners, or our competitors, and the timin
these introductions or announcements;

• actions taken by regulatory agencies with respect to our products, clinical studies, manufacturing processes or sales and 
marketing terms;

• variations in our financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to us;

• the success of our efforts to acquire or in-license additional products or planned products;

• developments concerning our collaborations, including but not limited to those with our sources of manufacturing supply an
our commercialization partners;

• developments concerning our ability to bring our manufacturing processes to scale in a cost-effective manner;
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• announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital 
commitments;

• developments or disputes concerning patents or other proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters and our ability 
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obtain patent protection for our products;

• our ability or inability to raise additional capital and the terms on which we raise it;

• the recruitment or departure of key personnel;

• changes in the structure of health care payment systems;

• market conditions in the medical device, pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors;

• actual or anticipated changes in earnings estimates or changes in securities analyst recommendations regarding our comm
stock, other comparable companies or our industry generally;

• trading volume of our common stock;

• guidance or projections, if any, that we provide to the public, any changes in this guidance or projections or our failure to m
this guidance or projections;

• sales of our common stock by us or our stockholders;

• general economic and political conditions such as recessions, interest rates, fuel prices, trade wars, pandemics (such as 
COVID-19), currency fluctuations and acts of war or terrorism;

• the effects of natural disasters, terrorist attacks and the spread and/or abatement of infectious diseases, such as COVID-19
including with respect to potential operational disruptions, labor disruptions, increased costs, and impacts to demand relate
thereto; and

• the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section.

These broad market and industry factors may harm the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating 

performance. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market, securities class-action litigation has often been instituted against 

companies. Such litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and diversion of management’s attention and 

resources, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

We do not intend to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future.

We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to finance the further development and expansion of our business and 

do not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of 

our Board and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, restrictions contained in our current 

or future credit agreements and financing instruments, business prospects and such other factors as our Board deems relevant.

Future sales of our common stock, or the perception that future sales may occur, may cause the market price of our 

common stock to decline, regardless of our operating performance.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time (after the expiration 

of any applicable lock-up period). These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares of our 

common stock intend to sell shares, could increase the volatility of the market price of our common stock or result in a significant 

decline in the public trading price of our common stock.

The resale, or expected or potential resale, of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could 

adversely affect the market price for our common stock and make it more difficult for you to sell your holdings at times and prices that 

you determine are appropriate.

Future sales and issuances of our common stock could result in additional dilution of the percentage ownership of our 

stockholders and could cause our share price to fall.
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Significant additional capital will be needed in the future to continue our planned operations. To raise capital, we may sell 

Common Stock, convertible securities or other equity securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner as determined 

from time to time. If we sell Common Stock, convertible securities or other equity securities, investors may be materially diluted by 

subsequent sales. Such sales may also result in material dilution to existing stockholders, and new investors could gain rights, 

preferences and privileges senior to the holders of our common stock.
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We will incur increased costs and demands upon management as a result of complying with the laws and regulations 

affecting public companies, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the listing standards of the NYSE, and 

other applicable securities rules and regulations. We expect that the requirements of these rules and regulations will continue to 

increase our legal, accounting and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming and costly, and 

place significant strain on our personnel, systems and resources. For example, the Exchange Act requires, among other things, that 

we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and results of operations. As a result of the complexity 

involved in complying with the rules and regulations applicable to public companies, our management’s attention may be diverted 

from other business concerns, which could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. Although we have 

already hired additional employees to assist us in complying with these requirements, we may need to hire more employees in the 

future or engage outside consultants, which will increase our operating expenses.

In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure are creating 

uncertainty for public companies, increasing legal and financial compliance costs, and making some activities more time-consuming. 

These laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as a 

result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could 

result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and 

governance practices. We intend to invest substantial resources to comply with evolving laws, regulations and standards, and this 

investment may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management’s time and attention from 

business operations to compliance activities. If our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations and standards differ from the 

activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to their application and practice, regulatory authorities 

may initiate legal proceedings against us and our business may be harmed.

We also expect that being a public company and these new rules and regulations will make it more expensive for us to obtain 

director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to 

obtain coverage. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified members of our board of 

directors, particularly to serve on our audit committee and compensation committee, and qualified executive officers.

As a result of disclosure of information in the filings required of a public company, our business and financial condition will 

become more visible, which may result in an increased risk of threatened or actual litigation, including by competitors and other third 

parties. If such claims are successful, our business and results of operations could be harmed, and even if the claims do not result in 

litigation or are resolved in our favor, these claims, and the time and resources necessary to resolve them, could divert the resources 

of our management and harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition.
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Certain parties to our Investor Rights Agreement have the right to nominate directors to our Board, and their interests may 

conflict with ours or yours in the future.

Pursuant to the Investor Rights and Lock-up Agreement, dated August 1, 2023, by and among Allurion, the Sponsor, certain 

Legacy Allurion stockholders and certain other parties (the "Investor Rights Agreement"), our Board consists of seven directors, a 

majority of which are required to be “independent” directors for purposes of NYSE rules, and the following persons have the following 

nomination rights with respect to our Board: (i) one director and one independent director was required to nominated by Shantanu 

Gaur; (ii) one director and one independent director was required to be nominated by Remus Capital; (iii) one director was required 

to be nominated by the Sponsor; and (iv) two independent directors are required be nominated by Allurion (one of which shall be 

designated by RTW until such time as all obligations under the Revenue Interest Financing Agreement or any additional revenue 

interest financing agreement have been paid by Allurion).

As a result of the foregoing, Shantanu Gaur, Remus Capital, the Sponsor and RTW or their respective nominees to our Board 

have the ability to control the appointment of our management, the entering into of mergers, sales of substantially all or all of our 

assets and other extraordinary transactions and influence amendments to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and 

bylaws. In any of these matters, the interests of the parties to the Investor Rights Agreement with the right to nominate directors may 

differ from or conflict with your interests. Moreover, this control over the nomination of directors to our Board may also adversely 

affect the trading price for our common stock to the extent investors perceive disadvantages in owning stock of a company with these 

corporate governance provisions.

We are an “emerging growth company” and a “smaller reporting company” within the meaning of the Securities Act, and 

we intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from disclosure requirements available to emerging growth companies 

and/or smaller reporting companies, which could make our securities less attractive to investors and may make it more 

difficult to compare our performance with that of other public companies.

We are “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS Act, and we may 

take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not
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emerging growth companies, including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of 

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in their periodic reports 

and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a non-binding advisory vote on executive compensation and 

stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.

Further, Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or 

revised financial accounting standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a registration statement under the 

Securities Act declared effective or do not have a class of securities registered under the Exchange Act) are required to comply with 

the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended 

transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any such election to opt out is 

irrevocable. We have elected not to opt out of such extended transition period, which means that when a standard is issued or 

revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, we, as an emerging growth company, can adopt the 

new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparability of our 

financial statements with another public company which is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company 
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which has opted out of using the extended transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting 

standards used.

Additionally, we will be a “smaller reporting company” as defined in Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K, which would allow us to 

take advantage of certain exemptions from disclosure requirements including exemption from compliance with the auditor attestation 

requirements of Section 404 and reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy 

statements. We will remain a smaller reporting company until the last day of the fiscal year in which (i) the market value of the shares 

of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $250 million as of the prior September 30, and (ii) our annual revenue exceeded 

$100 million during such completed fiscal year or the market value of the shares of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeds 

$700 million as of the prior September 30. To the extent we take advantage of such reduced disclosure obligations, it may also make 

comparison of our financial statements with other public companies difficult or impossible.

We could be subject to securities class action litigation.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies whose securities have experienced 

periods of volatility in market price. Securities litigation brought against us following volatility in the price of our common stock, 

regardless of the merit or ultimate results of such litigation, could result in substantial costs, which would hurt our financial condition 

and results of operations and divert management’s attention and resources from our business.

We have previously identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and may identify 

additional material weaknesses in the future. If we fail to remediate a material weakness or if we otherwise fail to establish 

and maintain effective control over financial reporting, it may adversely affect our ability to accurately and timely report our 

financial results, and may adversely affect investor confidence and business operations.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there 

is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected 

on a timely basis.

In connection with the audit of our consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 

2021, we identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting that we are currently working to remediate, 

which relate to: (a) insufficient segregation of duties in the financial statement close process; (b) a lack of sufficient levels of staff with 

public company and technical accounting experience to maintain proper control activities and perform risk assessment and 

monitoring activities; and (c) insufficient information systems controls, including access and change management controls. We have 

concluded that these material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting occurred because we do not have the 

necessary business processes, personnel and related internal controls to operate in a manner to satisfy the accounting and financial 

reporting timeline requirements of a public company.

We are focused on designing and implementing effective internal controls measures to improve our evaluation of disclosure 

controls and procedures, including internal control over financial reporting, and remediating the material weaknesses. We have taken 

steps to remediate including consulting with experts on technical accounting matters and in the preparation of our financial 

statements. We have also hired additional senior level experienced staff with public company experience and upgraded our 

enterprise resource planning system to SAP in August of 2022.

However, we cannot assure you that the measures we are taking to remediate the material weaknesses will prevent or avoid 

potential future material weaknesses. Further, additional weaknesses in our disclosure controls and internal controls over financial 

reporting may be discovered in the future. Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls or any difficulties encountered in their 
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implementation or improvement could limit our ability to prevent or detect a misstatement of our accounts or disclosures that could 

result in a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements. In such a case, we may be unable to maintain
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compliance with securities law requirements regarding timely filing of periodic reports in addition to the listing requirements of the 

NYSE, investors may lose confidence in our financial reporting and our stock price may decline as a result.

If we are unable to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, investors may 

lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our common stock may 

decrease.

We are in the process of designing and implementing our internal controls over financial reporting, which will be time-

consuming, costly and complicated. We have identified gaps in our internal control environment in the past and cannot provide 

assurances that there will not be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting in the 

future. If we identify additional material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, if we are unable to comply with the 

requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner, if we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective 

or, once required, if our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to attest that our internal control over financial 

reporting is effective, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price 

of our common stock could decrease. We could also become subject to stockholder or other third-party litigation as well as 

investigations by the NYSE, the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management 

resources and could result in fines, trading suspensions or other remedies.

As a public reporting company, we are subject to filing deadlines for reports that we file pursuant to the Exchange Act, and 

our failure to timely file such reports may have material adverse consequences on our business.

We did not file our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2023 (the “Second Quarter 2023 10-Q”) 

within the timeframe required by the SEC; thus, we have not remained current in our reporting requirements with the SEC since we 

became an SEC reporting company on August 1, 2023. Although we have since regained status as a current filer given that the 

Second Quarter 2023 10-Q was filed on October 20, 2023, we will not be eligible to use a registration statement on Form S-3 that 

would allow us to continuously incorporate by reference our SEC reports into the registration statement, or to use “shelf” registration 

statements to conduct offerings, until approximately one year from the date we regained (and maintain) status as a current filer. Until 

such time, if we determine to pursue an offering, we would be required to conduct the offering on an exempt basis, such as in 

accordance with Rule 144A, or file a registration statement on Form S-1. Using a Form S-1 registration statement for a public offering 

would likely take significantly longer than using a registration statement on Form S-3 and increase our transaction costs, and could, 

to the extent we are not able to conduct offerings using alternative methods, adversely impact our liquidity, ability to raise capital or 

complete acquisitions in a timely manner.

We cannot guarantee that in the future our reporting will always be timely. If we are unable to satisfy SEC filing deadlines or 

otherwise provide disclosures of material information on a timely basis, stockholders and potential investors in our common stock 

may have incomplete information about our business and results of operations, which may impact their ability to make an informed 

investment decision, result in a reduction in the trading price, trading volume or analyst coverage of our common stock or expose us 

to potential liability.

An active trading market may not develop or be sustained.
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The market for our securities may be highly volatile or may decline regardless of our operating performance. An active public 

market for our securities may not develop or be sustained. We cannot predict the extent to which investor interest in Allurion will lead 

to the development of an active trading market in our common stock or how liquid that market might become. If an active market 

does not develop or is not sustained, or if we fail to satisfy the continued listing standards of the NYSE for any reason and our 

securities are delisted, it may be difficult for you to sell your securities at the time you wish to sell them, at a price that is attractive to 

you, or at all. An inactive trading market may also impair our ability to both raise capital by selling shares of capital stock, attract and 

motivate employees through equity incentive awards and acquire other companies, products or technologies by using shares of 

capital stock as consideration.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, about our 

business, our common stock share price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will depend, in part, on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts 

publish about us or our business. Securities and industry analysts do not currently, and may never, publish research on Allurion. If no 

securities or industry analysts commence coverage of Allurion, the trading price for our common stock would likely be negatively 

impacted. In the event securities or industry analysts initiate coverage, if one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our 

common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our share price would likely decline. In addition, if 

our operating results fail to meet the forecast of analysts, our share price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease 

coverage of Allurion or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our common stock could decrease, which might cause our 

share price and trading volume to decline.
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Provisions in our Charter and Bylaws could make an acquisition of us more difficult and may prevent attempts by our 

stockholders to replace or remove our current management.

Provisions in our Charter and Bylaws may discourage, delay, or prevent a merger, acquisition, or other change in control of us 

that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their 

shares. These provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for our common stock, thereby 

depressing the market price of our common stock. In addition, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our 

stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our 

Board. Because our Board is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these provisions could in turn affect 

any attempt by our stockholders to replace current members of our management team. Among others, these provisions include the 

following:

• our Board is divided into three classes with staggered three-year terms which may delay or prevent a change of our 
management or a change in control;

• our Board has the right to elect directors to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our Board or the resignation, death, o
removal of a director, which will prevent stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our Board;

• our stockholders are not able to act by written consent, and as a result, a holder, or holders, controlling a majority of our sh
are not be able to take certain actions other than at annual stockholders’ meetings or special stockholders’ meetings;

• our Charter does not allow cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to e
director candidates;

• amendments of our Charter and Bylaws require the approval of stockholders holding 66 2/3% of our outstanding voting sha
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(unless amended by our Board);

• our stockholders are required to provide advance notice and additional disclosures in order to nominate individuals for elec
to our Board or to propose matters that can be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a 
potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempt
to obtain control of Allurion; and

• our Board is able to issue, without stockholder approval, preferred shares with voting or other rights or preferences that cou
impede the success of any attempt to acquire us.

Sales of shares of our common stock may cause the market price of our common stock to fall.

While the Sponsor and certain Legacy Allurion stockholders have signed the Investor Rights Agreement which contains lock-

up restrictions for a period of either 18 months or 12 months following the consummation of the Business Combination, as applicable, 

and certain other Legacy Allurion stockholders are subject to similar lock-up restrictions pursuant to our Bylaws, the lock-up 

restrictions shall not apply to: (a) any shares of our common stock purchased pursuant to the PIPE Subscription Agreements, (b) 100 

shares of our common stock held by each Investor (as defined by the Investor Rights Agreement), (c) shares issued to the Sponsor 

in the Sponsor Loan Equity Issuance (as defined in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus), (d) certain incremental shares of PIPE 

Investors who are Legacy Allurion stockholders or holders of Legacy Allurion Convertible Notes or shares issued upon conversion of 

the 2023 Convertible Notes, (e) the Backstop Shares or the shares of our common stock issued to each of HVL, RTW, and Fortress, 

and such shares of our common stock will be freely tradeable subject to federal securities laws and other applicable rules and 

regulations.

Immediately following the closing of the Business Combination, 5,505,657 shares of our common stock, representing 

approximately 11.86% of the outstanding shares of our common stock at such time, became freely transferable.

In addition, the effective prices at which, certain independent directors of Compute Health, certain Legacy Allurion 

stockholders, the PIPE Investors, RTW, a Fortress affiliate and HVL acquired their shares of our common stock are generally 

substantially less than the Compute Health IPO price of $7.04 per share, after giving effect to the CPUH Exchange Ratio. 

Consequently, as seen in the table below, such stockholders may realize a positive rate of return on the sale of their shares of 

common stock even if the market price per share of our Common Stock is below $7.04 per share. While some of the below holders 

may experience a positive rate of return based on the current trading price, public security holders may not experience a similar rate 

of return on the securities they purchased due to differences in the purchase prices they paid and the trading price at the time of sale 

and may instead experience a negative rate of return on their investment. On November 13, 2023, the last quoted sale price for our 

Common Stock as reported on the NYSE was $4.23 per share.
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Securityholder  

Number of


Shares    

Effective


Purchase Price


Per Share    

Potential Profit 

per Shares(1)    

Merger Consideration Shares for Legacy Allurion stockholders                    

At the lowest price paid by certain holders     26,363,272       —     $ 111,516,641    

At the highest price paid by certain holders     26,363,272     $ 17.79     *    

Merger Consideration Shares for Sponsor     2,737,143     $ 7.04     *    

Backstop Purchasers     1,400,000       —       5,922,000    
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HVL Additional Shares     387,696     $ 5.00     *    

Additional RTW Shares     250,000       —     $ 1,057,500    

Additional Fortress Shares     250,000       —     $ 1,057,500    

Sponsor Loan Equity Issuance     525,568     $ 7.04     *    

PIPE Shares     5,386,695     $ 7.04     *    

Rollover Warrants     427,664     $ 5.15   (2) *    

Public Warrants     18,759,838     $ 8.10     *    

                     

*Represents no potential profit per share or a potential loss per share 

based on illustrative market price.                    

(1) Based on the closing price of our Common Stock on the NYSE on 

November 13, 2023 of $4.23                    

(2) Represents the weighted average exercise price.                    

Consequently, these security holders may have an incentive to sell their shares of our common stock even if the trading price 

is below the price paid by investors in the Compute Health IPO, which could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

Moreover, any sales of such shares of our common stock, or market perception of such sales, could result in higher than 

average trading volume and may also cause the market price for our common stock to decline. Other than as described above, there 

is no lock-up restriction that would prevent the foregoing stockholders from selling some or all of their common stock subject to 

compliance with applicable rules and regulations.

Our Warrants are exercisable for Common Stock, the exercise of which would increase the number of shares eligible for 

future resale in the public market and result in dilution to our shareholders.

There are 13,206,922 Public Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 18,759,838 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price 

of $8.10 per share outstanding and 404,988 Rollover Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 404,988 shares of common stock at 

exercise prices ranging from $0.02 per share to $12.14 per share outstanding. To the extent such warrants are exercised, additional 

shares of our Common Stock will be issued, which will result in dilution to the holders of our common stock and increase the number 

of shares eligible for resale in the public market. Sales of substantial numbers of such shares in the public market could adversely 

affect the market price of our Common Stock, the impact of which increases as the value of our stock price increases.

Our Warrants may not be exercised at all and we may not receive any cash proceeds from the exercise of the warrants.

Due to the significant number of redemptions of Compute Health Class A Common Stock in connection with the Business 

Combination, there was a significantly lower number of shares of Compute Health Class A Common Stock that converted into shares 

of our common stock in connection with the Business Combination. A significant portion of the shares of our common stock were 

purchased by Legacy Allurion stockholders pursuant to investments in Legacy Allurion that date from 2013 onward at prices 

considerably below the current market price of our common stock. This discrepancy in purchase prices may have an impact on the 

market perception of our common stock’s value and could increase the volatility of the market price of our Common Stock or result in 

a significant decline in the public trading price of our common stock. The resale of these shares creates the possibility of a significant 

increase in the supply of our common stock in the market. The increased supply, coupled with the potential disparity in purchase 

prices, may lead to heightened selling pressure, which could negatively affect the public trading price of our common stock.
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The exercise prices of the Warrants, in certain circumstances, may be higher than the prevailing market price of our underlying 

common stock and the cash proceeds to us associated with the exercise of Warrants are contingent upon our stock price. The value 

of our common stock may fluctuate and may not exceed the exercise price of the Warrants at any given time. As of the date of this 

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, all of our Public Warrants, each of which has an exercise price of $8.10 per share, are “out of the 

money,” meaning the exercise price is higher than the market price of our common stock. Of the 404,988 currently outstanding 

Rollover Warrants, 220,529 of such warrants (130,053 of which have an exercise price of $6.73 and 90,476 of which have an 

exercise price of $12.14) are “out of the money”. As a result, we may not receive any proceeds from the exercise of such warrants. 

There can be no assurance that such warrants will be in the money prior to their respective expiration dates, and therefore, we may 

not receive any cash proceeds from the exercise of such warrants to fund our operations.
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Certain of our warrants are accounted for as liabilities and the changes in value of such warrants could have a material 

effect on, or cause volatility in, our financial results.

In connection with the Business Combination, we assumed our Public Warrants to purchase up to 18,759,838 shares of our 

Common Stock (which were originally issued as warrants to purchase shares of Compute Health Class A common stock in 

connection with Compute Health's initial public offering) and Rollover Warrants to purchase up to 404,988 shares of our Common 

Stock (which were originally issued as warrants to purchase shares of Legacy Allurion common stock and Legacy Allurion preferred 

stock). We evaluated the accounting treatment of such warrants and determined to classify certain of such warrants as liabilities 

measured at fair value. The fair value of such warrants is remeasured on a quarterly basis with changes in the estimated fair value 

recorded in Other (expense) income on the condensed consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. Due to the 

recurring fair value measurement, we expect that we will recognize non-cash gains or losses on such warrants each reporting period 

and that the amount of such gains or losses could materially impact or cause volatility in our financial results. For example, upon 

consummation of the Business Combination, the total value of the liability associated with the Public Warrants was $13.8 million 

measured at fair value based on the public warrant quoted price. However, at September 30, 2023, the fair value of the liability 

associated with the Public Warrants was determined by the Company to be $12.0 million.

Our Earn-Out Shares are accounted for as liabilities and the changes in value of such shares could have a material effect 

on, or cause volatility in, our financial results.

We evaluated the accounting treatment of our Earn-Out Shares and determined to classify such shares as liabilities measured 

at fair value. The fair value of such shares is remeasured on a quarterly basis over the earn-out period with changes in the estimated 

fair value recorded in Other (expense) income on the condensed consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. Due 

to the recurring fair value measurement, we expect that we will recognize non-cash gains or losses on our Earn-Out Shares each 

reporting period and that the amount of such gains or losses could materially impact or cause volatility in our financial results. For 

example, upon consummation of the Business Combination, the fair value of the liability associated with the Earn-Out Shares was 

initially valued and recorded by the Company as $53.0 million. However, at September 30, 2023, the fair value of the liability 

associated with the Earn-Out Shares was determined by the Company to be $28.7 million.

The provisions of our Bylaws requiring exclusive forum in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the federal 

district courts of the United States for certain types of lawsuits may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against our 

directors and officers.
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Our Bylaws provide that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, and unless we consent in writing to the selection of an 

alternative forum, the Court of Chancery (the “Chancery Court”) of the State of Delaware (or, in the event that the Chancery Court 

does not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware or other state courts of the State of Delaware) and any 

appellate court thereof will be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any 

action asserting a claim of, or a claim based on, a breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our current or former directors, officers, 

or other employees or stockholders to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the 

DGCL, our Charter or our Bylaws (including the interpretation, validity or enforceability thereof) or as to which the DGCL confers 

jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or (iv) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs 

doctrine; provided, however, that the preceding clauses (i) through (iv) will not apply to any causes of action arising under the 

Securities Act or the Exchange Act, or to any claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. Any person or entity 

purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice of and to have 

consented to the provisions of our Bylaws as described above.

Additionally, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all suits brought to 

enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. Accordingly, both state and federal 

courts have jurisdiction to entertain such Securities Act claims. To prevent having to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and the 

threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by different courts, among other considerations, our Bylaws provide that, unless we consent 

in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the federal district courts of the United States 

of America shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities 

Act, the Exchange Act, or the respective rules and regulations promulgated thereunder; however, there is uncertainty as to whether a 

court would enforce such provision, and investors cannot waive compliance with federal securities laws and the rules and regulations 

thereunder.

These provisions may limit or increase the difficultly in a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds 

favorable for disputes with us or our directors and officers, or may increase the cost for such stockholder to bring a claim, both of 

which may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against our directors and officers. The enforceability of similar choice of forum 

provisions in other companies’ certificates of incorporation has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that, in 

connection with any applicable action brought against us, a court could find the choice of forum provisions contained in our Bylaws to
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be inapplicable or unenforceable in such action. If a court were to find the choice of forum provision inapplicable or unenforceable in 

an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm our business, 

results of operations, and financial condition.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities, Use of Proceeds, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
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In connection with the Business Combination, we were required to use reasonable best efforts to obtain gross cash proceeds up to 

$15.0 million Unregistered Sales of financing Equity Securities, Use of Proceeds

On April 16, 2024, pursuant to one or more private sales by the Amended Note Purchase Agreement, we issued and sold 

$48.0 million aggregate principal amount of our common stock or convertible senior secured notes to the Purchasers, which 

proceeds were used to repay all outstanding principal, accrued and unpaid interest and other equity interests which, in 

accordance obligations with their terms and without any action or consent of any holder thereof or any other person, will automatically 

convert respect to the Fortress Term Loan (as defined above). The Notes are convertible into shares of our common stock. From 

February 15, 2023 to August 1, 2023, we sold stock based on the higher of (x) an aggregate initial conversion rate of 307.0797 

shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of $28.7 million Notes (equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately 

$3.26 per share, which represents a 35% premium to the trailing 30 day VWAP of the Company's common stock on the NYSE as of 

the close of business on April 12, 2024) and (y) a 35% conversion premium to the lowest price per share in an equity financing for 

capital raising purposes ending on the date of the Next Equity Financing. The maturity date for the Notes will be April 16, 2031. The 

Notes are guaranteed by Allurion Opco and certain other current and future subsidiaries of the Company, and are secured by 

substantially all the assets of Allurion Convertible and the guarantors. We used the proceeds from the issuance of the Notes to 

various investors pursuant to a convertible note purchase agreement, dated as of February 15, 2023 and June 14, 2023, for 

aggregate consideration of $28.7 million.

Pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, immediately prior to the Intermediate Merger Effective Time, refinance its 

outstanding Allurion Convertible Notes were converted into the applicable number of shares of Allurion Common Stock provided 

for obligations under the terms of such Allurion Convertible Notes, Fortress Credit Agreement in full and are no longer be outstanding. 

See Part I, Item 2. “Management’s Discussion to pay fees and Analysis of Financial Condition expenses in connection therewith and 

Results of Operations – Recent Developments – Business Combination Agreement.”

In in connection with the consummation transactions contemplated by the Amended Note Purchase Agreement.

None of the Business Combination, we entered into subscription agreements with Compute Health and the PIPE Investors, 

pursuant to which the PIPE Investors purchased, and we sold to the PIPE Investors, on August 1, 2023, an aggregate of 5,386,695 

shares of Common Stock, for a purchase price of $7.04 per share and an aggregate purchase price of $37.9 million, in the PIPE 

Investment. We gave certain registration rights to the PIPE Investors with respect to the PIPE Shares.

In connection with the consummation of the Business Combination, on August 1, 2023, we issued 700,000 shares of Common 

Stock to each of CFIP2 ALLE LLC, an affiliate of Fortress, and RTW, pursuant to the terms of the Backstop Agreement.

In connection with the consummation of the Business Combination, on August 1, 2023, we issued 250,000 shares of Common 

Stock to RTW, pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated RTW Side Letter. In connection with the Business Combination, 

we also issued 250,000 shares of Common Stock to CFIP2 ALLE LLC on August 1, 2023, pursuant to the terms of the Fortress 

Credit Agreement. We gave certain registration rights to each of RTW and Fortress with respect to such shares.

In connection with the consummation of the Business Combination, on August 1, 2023, pursuant to the HVL Termination 

Agreement, we issued HVL 387,696 shares of Common Stock.

In connection with the consummation of the Business Combination, on August 1, 2023, the Sponsor Loan Excess, the balance 

of which was $3.7 million at the time of the Mergers, was converted into 525,568 shares of our common stock that we issued to 

Compute Health Sponsor LLC.
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foregoing transactions involved any underwriters, underwriting discounts or commissions, or any public offering. The issuances 

of the Notes and shares described above were issued in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) of 

the Securities Act and/or Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act. The recipients of the securities in each of 

these transactions represented their intentions to acquire the securities for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in 

connection with any distribution thereof, and appropriate legends were placed on the share certificates issued in these transactions. 

All recipients had adequate access, through their relationships with us, to information about us. The sales of these securities were 

made without any general solicitation or advertising.

On August 1, 2023, we consummated the Business Combination. At the closing Issuer Purchases of the Business Combination, we 

received $98.8 million in net cash proceeds. We expect to use the net proceeds from the Business Combination, including the 

proceeds from the related transactions described above, to fund our working capital and for other general corporate purposes. Equity 

Securities

Not applicable.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

 

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

 

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.

None. None of our directors or “officers,” as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, adopted or 

terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading plan or arrangement or a non-Rule 10b5-1 trading plan or arrangement, as defined in Item 408(c) 

of Regulation S-K, during the fiscal quarter covered by this report.
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Item 6. Exhibits.

The following list of exhibits includes exhibits submitted with this Quarterly Report of Form 10-Q as filed with the SEC and 

those incorporated by reference to other filings.

 

Exhibit

Number Description

Incorporated by 

Reference herein from - 

Form or Schedule File Number Exhibit Filed Date
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3.1   Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of 

Allurion Technologies, Inc. (f/k/a Allurion Technologies 

Holdings, Inc.

8-K 001-41767 3.1 August 7, 2023

3.2   Bylaws of Allurion Technologies, Inc. (f/k/a Allurion 

Technologies Holdings, Inc.)

8-K 001-41767 3.2 August 7, 2023

4.1   Warrant Agreement, dated February 4, 2021, between 

Compute Health Acquisition Corp. and Continental 

Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent.

8-K 001-40001 4.1 February 9, 2021

4.2   Amendment to Warrant Agreement, dated August 1, 

2023, by and between Compute Health and 

Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

8-K 001-41767 4.2 August 7, 2023

4.3   Warrant Assignment, Assumption and Amendment 

Agreement, dated August 1, 2023, by and among 

Compute Health Acquisition Corp., New Allurion 

Holdings, Inc., and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust 

Company.

8-K 001-41767 4.3 August 7, 2023

10.1#+   Note Purchase Agreement dated as of April 14, 2024, 

by and among Allurion Technologies, Inc., RTW 

Investments, LP, as agent for the purchasers part 

thereto from time to time, and Acquiom Agency 

Services LLC, as collateral agent for the purchasers.

8-K 001-41767 10.1 April 17, 2024

10.2#   Omnibus Amendment, dated as of April 14, 2024, by 

and among Allurion Technologies, Inc., Allurion 

Technologies, LLC and certain entities that have 

engaged RTW Investments, LP as investment 

manager.

8-K 001-41767 10.2 April 17, 2024

10.3#   First Amendment to Amended and Restated Letter 

Agreement, dated as of April 14, 2024, by and among 

Allurion Technologies, Inc., Allurion Technologies, LLC, 

RTW Master Fund, Ltd., RTW Innovation Master Fund, 

Ltd. and RTW Biotech Opportunities Operating Ltd.

8-K 001-41767 10.3 April 17, 2024

10.4#   First Amendment to Note Purchase Agreement, dated 

as of April 16, 2024, by and among Allurion 

Technologies, Inc., RTW Investments, LP, as agent for 

the purchasers party thereto from time to time, and 

Acquiom Agency Services LLC, as collateral agent for 

the purchasers.

8-K 001-41767 10.4 April 17, 2024

31.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 

Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 

302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

       

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1964979/000119312523205104/d732912dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1964979/000119312523205104/d732912dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1828608/000121390021007774/ea134809ex4-1_compute.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1964979/000119312523205104/d732912dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1964979/000119312523205104/d732912dex43.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1964979/000095017024045168/alur-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1964979/000095017024045168/alur-ex10_2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1964979/000095017024045168/alur-ex10_3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1964979/000095017024045168/alur-ex10_4.htm


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

162/168

31.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 

Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 

302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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Exhibit

Number
Description

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation 

of Allurion Technologies, Inc. (f/k/a Allurion 

Technologies Holdings, Inc.) (incorporated by 

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current 

Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 7, 

2023).

3.2 Bylaws of Allurion Technologies, Inc. (f/k/a Allurion 

Technologies Holdings, Inc.) (incorporated by 

reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Current 

Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 7, 

2023).

31.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant 

to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted 

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 

of 2002.

31.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant 

to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted 

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 

of 2002.

32.1** Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant 

to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to 

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2** Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant 

to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to 

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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101.IN

S

Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance 

document does not appear in the Interactive Data 

File because XBRL tags are embedded within the 

Inline XBRL document.

101.S

CH

  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema 

Document

101.C

AL

  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation 

Linkbase Document

101.D

EF

  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition 

Linkbase Document

101.LA

B

  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase 

Document

101.P

RE

  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation 

Linkbase Document

104   Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within 

the Inline XBRL document)

 

* Filed herewith.

** Furnished herewith

91 # Certain of the exhibits and schedules to this exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(a)(5). The 

Registrant agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of all omitted exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon its request.

+ Certain provisions or terms of this exhibit (including any exhibits or schedules thereto) have been omitted in accordance with 

Regulation S-K Item 601(b)(2). The Registrant agrees to furnish supplementally an unredacted copy of any such exhibit or schedule 

to the SEC upon its request.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 

its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

 
Allurion Technologies, Inc.

Date: November 14, 2023 May 14, 2024 By: /s/ Shantanu Gaur

  Shantanu Gaur

Chief Executive Officer and President
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Date: November 14, 2023 May 14, 2024 By: /s/ Chris Geberth

      Chris Geberth

      Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Shantanu Gaur, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Allurion Technologies, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading w
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all mate
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedure
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed und
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238/34-47986 and 33-8392/24-49313);

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based 
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financ
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reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting wh
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial informatio
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registra
internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: November 14, 2023 May 14, 2024 By: /s/ Shantanu Gaur

Shantanu Gaur

Chief Executive Officer and President

 

 

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Christopher Geberth, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Allurion Technologies, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading w
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all mate
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed und
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238/34-47986 and 33-8392/24-49313);
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(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based 
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financ
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting wh
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial informatio
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registra
internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: November 14, 2023 May 14, 2024 By: /s/ Chris Geberth

Chris Geberth

Chief Financial Officer

 

 

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Allurion Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended 

September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I 

certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operatio
of the Company.

 
Date: November 14, 2023 May 14, 2024 By: /s/ Shantanu Gaur

Shantanu Gaur
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Chief Executive Officer and President

 

 

 

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Allurion Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended 

September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I 

certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operatio
of the Company.

 
Date: November 14, 2023 May 14, 2024 By: /s/ Chris Geberth

Chris Geberth

Chief Financial Officer
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV
CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA
REPORT™ IS A COMPARISON OF TWO FINANCIALS PERIODIC REPORTS. THERE MAY BE
MATERIAL ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR
INACCURACIES IN THE REPORT INCLUDING THE TEXT
AND THE COMPARISON DATA AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE APPLICABLE
COMPANY ASSUME
ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS
MADE BASED UPON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS REPORT. USERS ARE ADVISED TO
REVIEW THE APPLICABLE COMPANY’S ACTUAL SEC FILINGS BEFORE MAKING ANY
INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS.
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